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TO

THOMAS ASTLE, ESQ.F. R. S. AND F. S. A.

ONE OF THE

TRUSTEES OF THE BRITISH MUSEUM, KEEPER OF THE
RECORDS IN THE TOWER, &c. &c.

SIR,

THOUGH it is certainly a presumption in me to



offer this Volume to your notice, yet the many years
| have been in the habit of friendship with you, as=
sures me, that you will receive it, not for the worth
of it, but as a mark of my grateful respect and esteem,
and the more so | hope, as to you | am indebted for
my first rudiments of antiquarian learning. You, Sir,
first taught me those rudiments, and to your kind
auspices since, | owe all | have attained to in them;
for your eminence in the republic of letters, so long
iv
established by your justly esteemed and learned pub=
lications, is such, as few have equalled, and none have
surpassed; your distinguished knowledge in the va=
rious records of the History of this County, as well
as of the diplomatique papers of the State, has justly
entitled you, through his Majesty’s judicious choice,
in preference to all others, to preside over the reposi=
tories, where those archives are kept, which during
the time you have been entrusted with them, you
have filled to the universal benefit and satisfaction of
every one.

Permit me, Sir, to join in this universal opinion,
and just tribute to your merit, to acknowledge my
sentiments of it thus publicly, and at the same time,
to express my obligations to you, for the many marks
of permanent friendship, which you have continually
favored me with, who am, with the greatest truth
and respect,

SIR,

Your most obliged
and faithful servant,

EDWARD HASTED.

LONDON,
SEPT. 1, 1798.

<v>
INDEX.

The letter A refers to the Appendix of additions and corrections to the fifth
and sixth volumes, added at the end of this volume.

A

ABBATS-COURT FARM, in
Harty, 280, 281.

ABBOTS, summoned to parliament,
327.

Abbesses held in great esteem
formerly, 124.

Abelyn’s, 107, 148.

Abergavenny, Elizabeth, lady.
310.

Adye’s, of Doddington, 289,
307, account of, 312, 314,
417, 418, 420, 432, 433.

Aiscough, John, 305.

Aldersey’s, of Bredgar, 30, 51,
account of, 101, 104, 105.

Alefe, Thomas, 184.

Alien priories, account of, 456.

Allard’s, of Rochester, 253.



Allen’s, of Rainham, 12; of
Rochester, 74, A. 572; of
Stockbury, 51, 140; of Bor=
den, account of, 74, 75, 77, A.
572; of St. Dunstan’s, 515.

Allen, Mrs. devisees of, possesses
Homestall, in Newnham, 418.

Allsworth’s, of Kingsdown, 113.

Alston, Mr. 58; Alston’s, of
Bedfordshire, barts. 19.

Andrews, Miles, and others, oc=
cupy Ore powder mills, 372.

Ant hills, large ones, in Shepey,
246.

Antient demesne, 324.

ANTIQUITIES, 16; Roman, 43,
69, 76.

Apple orchard of Kent, 291.

Apples planted at Tenham, ib.

Appleford’s, 334.

Appulderfield’s, 140, 148, 287,
296, 298, 305, 398, 408, 540.

Archipresbiteri, 527.

Ardern, Thomas, of Faversham,
account of, 333, 358.

Arnold’s, 58.

ARNOLD’S MANOR, in Easling,
434.

Arsic’s, 83, 270.

Arundel, Sir Thomas, 473.

Ash, Paul Joseph, possesses Bur=
gess MANOR, in Leeds, 569,

Ashbye, Mr. possesses Homestall,
in Newnham, A. 578.

Ashurst, parish of, A. 561.

Ashton’s, 336.

Astley’s, of Norfolk, account of,
92.

Athol, Strabolgies, earls of, 377.

Atte-Lese. See Lese.

Atte-Wood. See Wood.

Attrum, alias Otterham Key, in
Upchurch, 26; creek, ibid.

Atwater, Robert, 405.

Atwoods, manor of. See Wood’s
court, 478.

Auburie, Walter, 8.

Averie’s, 434.

Aucher’s, of Bishopsborne, 439;
of Newenden, 146, 221, 273,
441; of Otterden, 139, 147,
464, 476.

Austen, Edward, possesses Cran=
brook MANOR, in Newing=
ton, 62, A. 570; Francis
Motley, A. 556.

Austen’s, of Bexley, A. 558.

Austen, John, of St. Martin’s-
hill, 148.

Aylesford, Heneage, earl of,
possesses Mere-court, in Rain=
ham, 8; Woodlands, near
Newington, 43, 61.



Aylesford, Finch’s, earls of, 223.
AYINGTON MANOR, in New=
ington, 61.

Vi
B.

BADLESMERE, parish of, 467,
A. 579; lees, 462.

Badlesmere, family of, 136, 453,
462, 463, account of, 470, 480;
barony of, 469.

BADMANGORE MANOR, in
Linsted, 298.

Baieux, Odo, bishop of, 82, 135,
145, 382, 387, 395, 397, 402,
408, 423, 427, 432, 434, 438,
448, 470, 504, 537, 539, A.
568.

Baker’s, of Borden, 73.

Baldock’s, of Aylesford, 454.

Baldwin, William, patron of
Tong vicarage, 142; A. 565,
566.

Banks’s, of Maidstone, 8, 61,
223.

Banks, Sir Joseph, bart. and
others, possess an estate in Lin=
sted, 303; Provenders SEAT,
in Norton, 406; Putwood
MANOR, in Ospringe, 519;
account of him, 406.

Bannister, Mrs. possesses a house
in Sittingborne, 151; Tho=
mas, 160.

BAPCHILD, parish of, 122.

Barden, Little, tithery of, in
Tunbridge, A. 560.

Bargander, frequently in She=
pey, 214.

Barley, John, 179, 493.

Barling, John; the heirs of
—- possess Nowdes SEAT,
297; Seward’s MANOR, in
Linsted, 304; John occupies
Nowdes, A. 576.

Barnard, Christopher-Vane, lord
446, 494.

Barnard’s, 108.

Barnham, Sir Martin, A. 563,
566; Sir Francis, 567, 568.

Barrell, Francis, A. 568.

Barrett, Valentine, 483, 546;
John de, 540; dame Sarah,
440.

Barrett, Lennard, lord Dacre,
541.

Barrett’s, of Perry-court, ac=
count of, 541.

Barrow’s, of Borden, 19, 23,

58, 77, 200.

Barrow, Mr. his extensive

charity, 76; Francis possesses



Grayney MANOR, in Hart=
lip, 19, A. 571.

Barrows, or tumuli, 215.
Bartholomew, Leonard, possesses
Moore-street FARM, in Rain=

ham, A. 571.

Bartholomew’s, of Oxenhoath,
114, 200, 267.

BARTHOLOMEW FARM, in
Leysdown, 267, 268.

Barton, Mr. patron of the vi=
carage of Eastchurch, 257.

Barton, William, possesses Peck=
ham’s MANOR, in Hadlow,
A. 558.

Barry’s, 186.

Basmere parish. See Badlesmere.

BASSER manor, in Halstow, 36.

Bateman’s, 129.

Bates, John, 454.

Battle, trial by, account of, 279.

BAVELL FARM, in Ospringe,
512, A. 580.

Bayefield farm, in Ospringe, 511.

BAYFORD CASTLE, in Sitting=
borne, 156

Bax, John, lessee of Faversham
parsonage, 370, possesses Brog=
dale, in Ospringe, 513; Pres=
ton-house SEAT, 545.

Baxton. See Bexon.

Beacon farm, in Ospringe, 499.

Beacons erected in Kent, 212.

Beake, Elizabeth, 517.

Beale’s, of Bredgar, 99, 105.

Beaufitz, family of, 6, 58.

Beaumont, Henry, lord, 507.

Beccanceld. See Bapchild.

Beckenham, 123.

Beckingham, Stephen, possesses
an estate in Preston, 545.

vii

Beckwith, Leonard, 55.

Bedmanton, borough of, 51.

Beech tree, the indigenous growth
of Britain, 447.

Belcher, William, possesses a seat
on Knowle hill, in Ulcombe,
A. 564.

Belcher’s, of Ulcombe, 21, A. 564.

Belhouse, John de, 541.

Belk’s, of Sheldwich, account of,
491, 496.

BELMONT SEAT, in Throwley,
447.

Bentham, Brian, trustees of, possess
Down-court, Doddington, 314.

Bentham’s, of Sheerness and
Chatham, account of, 313, 495.

Bennet’s, of Kew, 543.

Bennett, Tho. possesses Daving=
ton manor and priory, 376,



and advowson of church, A.
577; advowson of Warden,
575; John possesses Norton
manor and court, 405.

Bennett, Mrs. possesses Rushitt,
in Norton, A. 578.

BERENGRAVE FARM, in Rain=
ham, 5, 10.

Beresford, Robert, 41; Wil=
liam, 70.

Berkeley, Mrs. widow of the
bishop of Cloyne, A. 563.

Berkeley, Dr. prebendary of
Canterbury, ibid.

Bersted, parish of, A. 569.

Berkesore MANOR, in Halstow.
See Basser.

Best, George, possesses Otterham
MANOR, 29; Bexon, in Bred=
gar, 100.

Best’s, of Chilson, 205.

Bex, alias Bexle-court, in Tong,
138.

BEXON MANOR, in Bredgar,
99, A. 573.

Bicknor, parish of, A. 570.

Bing, Henry, A. 570.

Bidborough, parish of, A. 561.

Bircholt barony, 2.

Bishopsbush, in Luddenham, 388.

Bix’s, of Bapchild, 125, 129.

Bizing wood, 372.

Bland, William, possesses an estate
in Hartlip, 21; Mrs. possesses
Tunstall house, 96, A. 572.

Bland’s, account of, 21.

Blaxland, Edw. possesses a moiety
of Scuddington, in Tong, A.
574.

Blaxland’s, of Graveney-court,
272, 389.

Blaxland’s, of Graveney-court,
possess two-thirds of the ad=
vowson of Goodneston rec=
tory, 554.

BLOOR’S-PLACE SEAT, in
Rainham, 5, 9.

Bloor’s, of Rainham, 9, 12.
BOBBING, parish of, 192, 575;
Place SEAT, 199; tenths in,

187.

Bode, John, 224; Bode’s, of
Davington, account of, 376.
Bologne, Eustace, earl of, 325.
Booth, Sir Charles, his charities,

A. 561, 566.

Boothby, Sir William, 62.

BORDEN, parish of, 68, A. 571;
Hall SEAT, 75, 78, A. 572.

Borden poor, trustees of, pos=
sess Nether Toes MANOR, in

Bobbing, 200.

Borough, Silvester, 547.



Borstall, in Minster. See New=
hall.

BOTANY, 99, 154, 170, 171,
214, 320, 373, 382, 387, 402,
414, 448, 482, 504, 532.

Boteler, Sir Philip, bart. 206,
421.

Boteler’s, of Graveney, 186,
337, 403.

Boughton Blean, parish of, 516.

Boughton Malherb, parish of,

A. 564; Monchensea, 563.

Bourne, John de, 450.

Bourne Mill, tithery of, in Tun=
bridge, A. 560.

Bourne’s, of Bishopsborne, 311;
of Sharsted, account of, 309,
314, 416, 419.

viii

Bouverie, Mrs. of Teston, A. 563.

Bowdler, Thomas, 268.

Boxley, abbot and convent, 30,
254.

Boykett, William, possesses a
house at Key street, 193.

Boyle, noble family of, 545, 547.

Boys, William, 101.

Brad street, in Hollingborne, A.
567.

Bradbourne, Thomas, 334
John, 375.

Bradgare, Robert, 102.

Bradgate. See Bredgar.

Brampton, John, alias Detling,
450.

Brandon, 268.

Breakwaters, old ships so called
at Sheerness, 233.

BREDGAR, parish of, 98, A.
572; COLLEGE, 102.

Brenchley, parish of, A. 561.

Brenchley, Edward, possesses part
of Yokes court, in Frinsted,

A. 570.

Brennet lands, so called in Ten=
ham, 291.

Breton, Whitfield, occupies a
house in Tunstall, A. 572.

Breton’s, of Kennington, 14.

Brewer’s, of West Farleigh, 73.

Brewster’s, 390, 516.

Briant, John, 389; Briant’s, A.
565.

Bridges, Sir Brook, bart. pos=
sesses an estate in Eastchurch,
253.

Brimstone, borough of, in Ospringe,
499.

Brinkhurst’s, 545.

Bristow, William, and others,
possess a mill in Ore, 372;

John, junior, A. 575.



Broadak Forstal hamlet, in Mil=
sted, 107.

Broadhurst, John, possesses
Southborough tithery, in Tun=
bridge, A. 560.

BROGDALE SEAT, in Ospringe,
512.

Brooke, William, of Hartlip,

16; Sir William, 62.

Brooke, alias Cobham, Mary, 65.

Brooke, Charles, and others,
possess A SEAT in Faversham,
319, Ore MANOR, 383.

Brooke’s, 114, 115.

Brooke, alias WESTBROOKE
FARM, in Ospringe, 513.

Broomdown, land, in Newing=
ton, 42.

Browne, Sir Edward, 3, 175;
John, 51; Sir Anthony, 237;
Robert, 333.

Browne’s, of Beechworth, 126,
138.

Brumstone’s, 538.

Bryanstone’s, ibid.

Buck, Thomas, possesses Hall
farm, with Pery marsh, in
Harty, 282; Buck’s, Tho=
mas, 514; Buck’s, 336.

Buckingham, Humphry-Staf=
ford, duke of, 237.

Buck, Thomas, A. 576.

Buck’s, A. 568.

BUCKLAND, parish of, 396, A.
578.

Buckland Little, farm, in Stone,
A. 578.

Bucknall, Thomas Skip, 30.

Buller, John, 516; Buller’s, of
Cornwall, 220, 221, 526.

BUMPIT SEAT, in Linsted, 297.

Bunce, Stephen, 459; Bunce’s,
of Kemsing, 289; Bunce’s,
432.

BURGESS MANOR, in Leeds, A.
569.

Burgo, John de, 173, 525.

Burgh de, family of, 83.

Burley’s, 428.

Burrish, Onslow, 545.

Busherb’s chantry, in Sitting=
borne church, 161.

Burwash, Joane, lady Mohun,
535.

Burwash’s, 64.

Bury, William, 225, 269.

[

Buss, James, possesses a part of
Mottenden, in Hedcorne, A.
562.

Butts, Thomas, 29.
BUTTERS MANOR, in Bredgar,



A. 573.
C.

Cable, Mr. A. 565.

CADES MANOR, in Ospringe,
516.

Ceesar’s, 224.

Caesar's Commentaries, misre=
presentation in, 447.

Cage, Edward, present rector of
Easling, 437.

Cage, Charles, clerk, A. 569.

CALEHILL MANOR, in Minster,
225.

CALICOE HOUSE, in Newnham,
413.

Caii stratum, 193.

Callant’s, A. 570.

Cambridge, St. John’s college,
in, possesses a gunpowder mill
in Ospringe, 501; Elvyland
MANOR, 515; the Maison
Dieu, 523, and the parsonage
and advowson of Ospringe,
526.

Campania de. See Champion’s.

Canterbury, archbishops of,
285, 384, 462, 548; Arun=
del, 160, 237; Athelard, 124,
284; Anselm, 36; Becket,

48; Boniface, 285; Brit=
wald, 123; Chichele, 28;
Corboil, 218; Juxon, 444;
Lanfranc, 443, 462, 466;
Langton, 205, 306, 395;
Parker, 103; Reynolds, 285,
374; Sancroft, 306, 315;
Secker, 160; Stratford, 285,
548; Wake, 124; Walter,
285, 288, 419; Warham, A.
561; Wifred, 532.

Canterbury, archbishop of, pos=
sesses the advowson of Rain=
ham vicarage, 13; of Tun=
stall rectory, 97; Bredgar
college, 103; Tong parson=
age, 142; the parsonage and
advowson of the vicarage of
Sittingborne, 162; Leysdown
parsonage and advowson of
the vicarage, 270; Ore par=
sonage and advowson of the
curacy, 385; Stalisfield par=
sonage and advowson of the
vicarage, 443, 444; a pen=
sion from Throwley parson=
age, 460; the advowson of
Preston vicarage, 549.

Canterbury, archdeacon of,

328, 365; possesses lwade par=
sonage and advowson of the
curacy, 205; parsonage and
advowson of Tenham vicar=



age, 294; Linsted parsonage
and advowson of the vicarage,
306; Doddington parsonage
and advowson of the vicarage,
315; the parsonage of Stone,
395.

Canterbury, dean and chapter
of, possess Basser MANOR, 37;
Halstow parsonage and ad=
vowson of the vicarge, 38;
Milton parsonage and advow=
son of the vicarge, 190;
Leysdown MANOR, 265; Fa=
versham parsonage and ad=
vowson of the vicarage, 370;
Eylwarton MANOR, 394; a
pension from Luddenham
church, 391; Woodlands, in
Throwley, 446; parsonage &
advowson of the vicarage of
Sheldwich, 497; Copton and
Hamme manors, 534, A. 577;
Selgrave MANOR, 535, and
Preston parsonage, 548; mis=
takes in their dotation charter,
396, 532.

Canterbury, Christ-church, pri=
ory in, 36, 38, 222, 264, 284,
394, 482, 533, 535, 548.

X

Canterbury, St. Augustine’s ab=
bey, in, 48, 49, 65, 79, 186,
187, 202, 229, 251, 325, 364.

Canterbury, St. Gregories pri=
ory, in, 384, 443, 466.

Canterbury, St. James’s hospi=
tal, in, 105.

Capel, lady Dorothy, 360; her
charity, 543; Henry, lord,
ibid.

Capel, lady Dorothy, trustees
of, possess Perry court, in
Preston, 544.

Capys, Robert, 139, 147, 273.

Casaubon, Meric, 45.

Caslock’s, alias Castelock’s, ac=
count of, 126.

Castle Rough, in Milton, 154,
165.

Castle, Charles, 455.

Castelock’s, of Faversham, 328,
359.

Caves, hollow ones, in different
places, 145.

Cenulph, king of Mercia, 284,
532.

Cely, John, 496.

Chalfhunt’s, A. 568.

CHALKWELL HAMLET, in
Milton, 164.

Chambers, Samuel, possesses
Sutton Barne MANOR, in



Borden, 71; Pistock MANOR
and SEAT, in Tunstall, 95.

Chambers’s, of Tunstall, 71;
account of, 95.

Chamberlain, William, possesses
Newburgh FARM, in Tong,
141; — William, 389;

Richard, 507.
Chambers’s, A. 570.
Champion’s, 277, 278, 403,

414, 416, 434.

CHAMPIONS COURT, in Newn=
ham, 414.

Champeneys, Richard, alias
Gloucester, king of arms,

429.

Champneys’s, 18.

Chapel house, in Ospringe, 500.

Chapman, James, the heirs of,
possess MANNS FARM in Bred=
gar, 102; parsonage farm,
in Eastchurch, 258.

Chapman, James, A. 570, 573,
575.

Chapman’s, 434, 446, 494.

Charlton, George, 180.

Charleton, church of, 472.

Chart, Great, chantry in the
church of, 518.

CHART SUTTON, parish of, A.
563.

Charter, the first among the
Saxons, 124.

Chauncy, Richard, 338.

Checheley-street. See Chesley-
street.

Cheke, Robert, D. D. 97.

CHEEKS-COURT, in Tong, 139.

Chegworth mill, in Ulcomb, A.
564.

Chenalopex, or Bargander, found
in Shepey, 214.

Cheney, William, 237; Fran=
cis, ibid. Thomas, of Wood=
ley, 249; Edward, 463;

John, 479.

Cheney'’s, of Shurland, 7, 9,

92, 95, 113, 127, 166, 219,
221, 223, 225, 227, 228, 237;
account of, 248, 252, 255,
262, 267, 269, 278, 280, 281,
283, 333, 372, 375, 380, 408,

411, 419, 426, 507, 509.

Cheney'’s, of Higham, in Mil=
sted, 92; account of, 110; of
Bayford, 156; of Patrix=
borne, account of, 298.

Cherry garden of Kent, Tenham
so called, 291.

Cherries planted at Tenham, ib.

Chesley-street, in Newington, 41.

Chest, governors of the, possess
Mackland, in Rainham, 5;



Scockles, in Minster, 226.
Chesterfield, Stanhope, earls of,
158, 443.

Xi

Chestnut woods, 43, 69, 170.

Chesnuts, the indigenious growth
of Britain, 170.

Chetham, borough of, in Ospringe,
499.

Chevin’s, 278, 416.

Chiche’s, of the Dungeon, 183,
550, 553.

Chichester, dean and chapter
of, possesses the parsonage and
advowson of Bapchild vi=
carage, 131.

Chichester, Richard, 332.

Chicks court. See Cheeks-
court.

Child, Robert, account of his
will, A. 565.

Childre, Arnold, 135.

Childrey, Joshua, D. D. account
of, 357.

Chilham, honor of, 424, 432,
427.

CHILTON MANOR, in Sitting=
borne, 158.

Chilwell, Jonathan, A. 558.

Cholmeley, Sir Roger, 55.

Christopher, Angelus, 69.

Christian, Richard, dean of Os=
pringe, 530.

Churchfield farm, in Leysdown,
268.

Chute’s, of Bethersden, 109.

CINQUE PORTS, antiquity of,
339.

Clarembald, abbot, of Faver=
sham, 328.

Clarence, George, duke of,
175, 237.

Clarke’s, of Bredgar, 102; —-
alias Woodchurch, ib. 104.
Clarke, Wilfrid, present rector of
Rodmersham, 121; Thomas,

282; Clarke’s, 394.

Claxfield farm, in Linsted, 297.

Clerk, Mr. Sergeant, 220;

Clerk’s, 512.

Clerke, Sir Rowland, 138;

Clerke’s, of Frognall, 288,

293.

Clerkenwell nunnery, 161.

Clifford, Lewis, 147; Clifford’s,
of Bobbing, 129, 148; ac=
count of. 195, 201, 205; of
Bobbing-place, account of,
199.

Clinton and Saye, Edward, lord,
383; Sir William de, 425.

Clive’s, of Copton, 493, 512,



534.

Clovill's, of Essex, 550.

Cobham, John, alias Brooke, 63.

Cobham’s, of Roundal, 84. 85;
Cobham’s, 273.

Cocks’s, of Rainham, 12; of
Worcestershire, account of, 51.

Coin, old, found at Tunstall, 82.

Cole, Robert, 281; John, war=
den of All Souls college, 337,
355.

Colebrooke’s, of Chilham-cas=
tle, 433.

Colegate’s, and others, possess a
mill in Ore, 372.

Colepeper, Sir Cheney, 29;
Thomas, 280; Thomas, of
Bedgebury, 539; Francis, A.
566.

Colepeper’s, A. 565, 566, 567.

Colepeper, Sir Richard, 11.

Coleyne, three kings of, 332.

Colley, Thomas, possesses Bob=
bing-place, 200.

COLSALL, alias CHICHES MA=
NOR, in Milton, 183.

Colson. See Colsall.

Colt’s, of Hertfordshire, 77.

Columbers, family of, 84.

Colyers farm, in Linsted, 301.

Colyns, Christopher, 237.

Constable, Sir Richard, 237.

CONSTABLES of Queenborough
castle, 236.

Conyers key, in Tenham, 290.

Cooper, Rev. Mr. A. 557.

Copperas works, in Shepey, 213,
238.

COPPESHAM SOLE, alias COP=
SHOLE FARM, in Sheldwich,
491.

Xii

Coppinger’s, 378, 390.

Copsole farm, in Sheldwich, A.
579.

COPTON MANOR, in Preston,
389, 393, 532.

Copton, A. 578.

Cooke, Major Thomas, 199.

COOKSDITCH SEAT, in Faver=
sham, 335.

Corbet, Robert, 277; Corbet’s,
of Salop, 54; account of, 415.

Corbett, yoke of, in Borden, 75.

Corbie’s, of Boughton Mal=
herb, 158.

Cork, Richard Boyle, earl of,
545; John, bishop of, 547.

Coronations, Kentish gentry
and their wives summoned to,
178.

Coterels, barrows, so called in



Shepey, 215.

Cosnan, John, 257.

Coting, William, 125.

Cotton, Sir John Hinde, 268.

Coty, John, 70.

Counus of Ptolemy, 207.

Courthope, George, A. 561.

Council at Becanceld, 123, 124.

Cowland’s, 312, 313.

Cox, Mathew, 338.

Craig, General Francis, gover=
nor of Sheerness, 231.

CRANBROOKE MANOR, in New=
ington, 62.

Crayford, Robert, 198.

Creed’s, of Charing, 313.

Creges Emeline, water of, 284,
285.

Crespigny, Claude, representa=
tions of, lessees of Dandele, in
Minster, A. 575.

Crevequer’s, 13, 397, 470, 540.

Crew’s, of Cheshire, 18.

CRIOLS MANOR, in Borden, 71,
A.572.

Criol, John de, 278; Criol’s,

71, 514.

Crispe’s, 388.

Cripps, Francis, 389.

CROFT, alias YAUGER MANOR,
in Hartlip, 18.

Croft’s, 148.

Crogs deep, water so called, 283.

Cromer, William, 70, 140;
Cromer’s, of Tunstall, 81;
account of, 86, 96, 146, 158,
161, 221, 273.

Cromer woods, in Tunstall, 80.
Cromp, Mrs. possesses Ashway
MANOR, in Lenham, A. 565;

Henrietta-Maria, 569.

CROMPS, alias BAXTON MA=
NOR, in Bredgar, A. 573.

Crover, Matthew, 181.

CROWN, the patron of Ludden=
ham rectory, 391.

Crown key, in Sittingborne, 151.

Crux’s, of Hartlip, 20.

Crux-hill, in Hartlip, ibid.

Cullum, Henry, sergeant at law,
433.

Curteis, Jeremiah, A. 562.

Customs, branch of, at Faver=
sham, 348.

Culpeper’s, A. 565.

D.

Dacre, Elizabeth, lady, 216,
370.

Dadmans seat, in Linsted, 296.

Dalton’s, 455.

Dance, George, the architect,
363.



Dandele farm, in Minster, 222,
223.

Dane, many lands so called, 16.

Dane, Richard, 483.

Dane house in Hartlip, 20.

DANES, transactions of, 154, 164,
214, 215, 218; antiquities,
524.

Darbie’s, account of, 441.

DARBIES-COURT MANOR, in
Stalisfield, 441.

Darcy, Sir Thomas, 281.

Darell, Henry, lessee of Basser
MANOR, 37; Darell’s, of
Calehill, ibid. 542.
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Darrel, Robert, master of the
Maison Dieu, in Ospringe,
522.

Dashwood, dame Elizabeth,
possesses fee-farm rents in Tun=
bridge, A. 559.

Dartford, priory of, 127.

Davenport, Richard, 181.

Davies, Joseph Rond, possesses
Helme’s MANOR, in Milton,
205.

DAVINGTON, parish of, 372,

A. 577; HALL, or COURT,
377; PRIORY OF, 280, 283,
372, A. 578; account of, 373,
380, 411, 414, 419.

Dawes’s, of Preston, 545.

Deanries, new ones, instituted,
188, 265, 368.

Dearson-street, in Tenham, A. 576.

Decoy for wild fowl, at Milton,
167.

Deincourt, Sir John, 266.

Delafaye, Rev. Theodore, 140.

Delaune’s, of Sharsted, 305;
account of, 309, 314, 416, 420.

Delves, George, 101.

Demesne, antient, 171.

Dene’s, of Throwley, 450.

Denham, Sir John, 62.

Denton, alias Plumford MANOR,
in Ospringe, 424.

Denton, Sir John, 525.

Dering, Sir Edward, bart. pos=
sesses Filcher's MANOR, and
the parsonage and advowson
of the vicarage of Bredgar,
105.

Dering’s, of Doddington, 417.

Devereux, Sir John, 507.

Dewy'’s, of Surry, 512.

Digby, Henry, lord, 127, 513.

Diggs, Thomas, 26; Col. Ed=
ward, 198; John, 334;

James, of Barham, 299; Sir
Dudley, 482.



Diggs’s, of Newington, 63, 64,
65; of Chilham, 26, 186,

433, 493.

Diggs marsh, in Upchurch, 26.

Dingley’s, alias Dyneley’s, ac===
count of, 541.

Dintry, John, 516.

Dive-court. See Diven MANOR.

Dive’s, of Easling, 432.

DIVEN MANOR, in Easling, 424,
431.

Dixwell, barts. 350, 399.

Dock Royal, at Sheerness, 232.

Dodeham. See Doddington.

DODDINGTON, parish of, 307,
A.577.

Dodmans, 28.

Dodmannys. See Dadmans.

Dodsworth, Rev. Francis, pos=
sesses Whiteman'’s, in Dod=
dington, 307; present vicar of
Doddington, 316.

Dodsworth, Francis and Frede=
rick, clerks, possess an estate
at Ringlestone, in Holling=
borne, A. 568, 569.

Dokket, Robert, 543.

Donet’s, of Rainham, 9, 12.

Dover castle, 470, 478, 540;
Maison Dieu, hospital in,

113, 261.

Dover, Royce de, 53; Fulbert
de, 387, 424, 427, 432, 434.

DOWNE-COURT MANOR, in
Doddington, 311.

Downes, James, clerk, present
vicar of Bredgar, A. 573.

Drake, William, heirs of, pos=
sess Goodneston and Bayford
MANORS, in Sittingborne,
157; Westwood MANOR, in
Preston, 537.

Drake’s, of Amersham, account
of, 157, 537, A. 574, 580.

Dray water, in Shepey, 272.

Drayton’s, of Ospringe, 501,
502; account of, 514, 523.

Drilands. See Drylands.

Drury’s, of Sewards, account of,
302, 305, 543.

Dryland’s, 70, 287, 334, 364,
378, 388, 405.

Xiv

Duke, Sir Edward, 197.

Duncombe, Anthony, lord Fa=
versham, 321.

Dunes, abbot and convent of,
254,

Dungate-green hamlet, in Kings=
down, 113.

Dungate’s, of Dungate-green,
312.



Dunstall. See Tunstall.

Duppa, Baldwin Duppa, A. 568.
resides at Downe-court, in
Doddington, A. 577.

Duras, Lewis, lord, account of,
485, 486.

Durfort, Lewis de, earl of Fa=
versham, 321.

DUROLEVUM, the Roman station,
44,124, 153, 502.

Dutch, their attempt on the
royal navy, 230.

Dyne, William, trustees of the
children of, possess Petts, in
Bredgar, A. 573; Little Shur=
land, alias Eastchurch par=
sonage, 575.

Dyneley’s, alias Dingley’s, ac=
count of, 541.

Dyot, Thomas, possesses Ham,
alias West-court MANOR, in
Upchurch, 30.

E.

EASTCHURCH, parish of, 245,
A. 575.

EAST-HALL, in Murston, . . .
146.

EASLING, parish of, 422, A. 579.

Edwards, in Linsted, . . . 304.

Edwards, Adam, 223; John,

376; Oliver, 433.

Edwin, Mrs. possesses Neats-
court, in Minster, 225.

Effingham, Howards, lords and
earls of, 433.

Elephant, remains of, found,

264.

Elset, Mr. 31.

Elliot's farm, in Harty, 282.

Elmele, marsh of, 107.

Elmeley, Thomas, 534.

Elmsted’s, 18.

Elvy, Mrs. possesses part of Ar=
nolds MANOR, in Easling, 434.

ELVYLAND MANOR, in Os=
pringe, 514.

ELWERTON MANOR, in Stone,
393.

EMLEY ISLAND, and parish of,
272, A. 576.

Empson, Jeffry, 6.

Ernolton. See Elwarton.

Eschequer, Robert de, 435.

Esling’s, of Easling, 424, 435.

Essex, Thomas Cromwell, earl
of, 536.

Eton college possesses Newington
parsonage and advowson of
the vicarage, 66.

Evans, Mr. possesses an estate in
Kingsdown, 115; —- Samuel,
present vicar of Sittingborne,



163; —- admiral, A. 573.

Eve’s, of Linsted, 61, 304; of
Doddington, 307, 399, 400.

Eve, Charles, possesses a third
part of the advowson of Buck=
land, 400.

Eveas’s, 147, 332.

Evesham, John de, clerk, 9.

Evering’s, of Alkham, 451, 454.

Ewell, parish of, 537.

EWELL MANOR, in Faversham,
337.

Eyhorne-green and street, in Hol=
lingborne, A. 567.

F

Fafresfield. See Faversham.

Fagge’s, of Sussex, barts. 62;
of Faversham, 338, 364; ac=
count of, 551, 553.

Fagge, Thomas, and Mildred
his wife, possess Yokes, alias
Peter Dodswell’'s MANOR, in
Bredgar, A. 573.

Fairfax, lord, A. 567; Fairfax,
Dr. 569.

XV

Fairman, William, possesses Fro=
genhall, in Tenham, A. 576.

Fane, Sir Ralph, 138.

Fane’s, A. 558.

Fanhope, John Cornwall, baron
of, 236.

Farborne Little, MANOR, in Har=
rietsham, A. 565.

Farleigh, West, parish of, 51, A.
557, 560.

Farleigh, East, MANOR, A. 557.

Fathers, Nicholas, alias Brad=
burne, 334.

Favell, Christopher, 3, 175.

FAVERSHAM, hundred of, 317;
parish and town of, 318; ma=
nor of, 173, A. 577; abbot
and convent of, 168, 278,
280, 337, 355, 391, 419, 497,
499, 513, 548; church of,

497, 522.

Faversham, several of that sur=
name, 321.

Faversham, Sir George Sondes,
earl of, 452, 459, 464, 477,
account of, 484.

Faversham, Lewis, lord Duras,
earl of, 452, 465, 478; ac=
count of, 486.

Faversham, Anthony Duncombe
lord, 321.

Fearne’s, of Bredgar, 100, 104.

Fleet prison, custody of granted,
462, 463.

Flies, quantities of, 204.



Flints on barren lands, their
great use, 448.

Flint, Mrs. lessee of Judde house,
520.

Fludd mill key, in Milton, 165.

Fienes’s, 428.

FILCHER, alias FILTERS MA=
NOR, in Bredgar, 105.

Filmer, Sir Beversham, bart.
possesses an estate in Newing=
ton,41; Luddenham MANOR,
389; part of Mottenden
FARM, in Hedcorne, A. 562;
Filmer’s, of East Sutton, 265,
A. 561, 563.

Filmer, William, present vicar of
Borden, 80.

Filmer, lady, possesses Hodleigh
MANOR, in Lamberhurst, A.
561.

Finch, Saville, heirs of, lessees
of Rushindon MANOR, 223;
Wormdale MANOR, in New=
ington, 62, A. 571.

Finch’s, 268, 459; of Ayles=
ford, 8, 61, 223; of East=
well, 436; of Faversham,
account of, 334, 551; of
Grovehurst, account of, 181,
186; of Kingsdown, account
of, 113, 115, 157, A. 568;
of Linsted, 303, 543; of
Norton, account of, 403; of
Preston, account of, 544, 547;
of Sewards, account of, 302.

Finlay, Captain, occupies Nor=
ton court, A. 578.

Fineux, Sir John, 299, 408.

Firman, Mr. 105.

Fish, monstrous one driven on
shore, 217; remarkable one
caught at Faversham, 320.

Fishborne manor, 375, 378.

Fishery at Milton, account of, 168.

Fitzbernard’s, 136.

Fitzpain, Roger, 473.

Fitzwalter, Walter, lord, 146.

Foord, James, occupies a house
at Whitehill, in Ospringe,

502; lessee of Leysdown MA=
NOR, A. 576.

Foote, G. Talbot, Hatley, pos=
sesses Ham, in Preston, 390.

Foster, William, D. D. occupies
a house in Watringbury, A.
557; possesses Lodingford MA=
NOR, in Yalding, 558.

Forster’s, of Borden, account
of, 74.

Fossils, quantities of, in Shepey,
213; receipt for their preser=
vation, 264.
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Fowle, John, lessee of Beren=
grave MANOR, in Rainham, 11.

Fowle, Bartholomew, alias Lin=
sted, 297.

Fox, George, 210; John, 236.

Franklyn’s, of Badlesmere, ac=
count of, 479.

Freeman’s, 378.

Fremlyn, Gilbert, 18.

French, Thomas, 282.

Frid wood, in Borden, 70; in
Murston, 145.

FRINSTED, parish of, A. 569.
FROGENHALL, alias FROGNAL
MANOR, in Newington 57, in

Tenham, 286, A. 576.

Frogenhall’s, 57, 287, 293, 388,
398, 403.

Fuller, John, possesses Bapchild-
court MANOR, 125.

FULSTON FARM, in Sitting=
borne. 158.

Furnese’s, of Waldershare, 289,
294, 488, 509, 511.

G.

Gage, Sir John, 507.
Gambier, admiral, A. 557.
Gardyner, Thomas, 147.
Gare, de la, family of, 3.
Gare. See Gore MANOR.
Garford, Richard, 539.
Garrard’s, 63; Garrard’s, alias
Gerrard’s, of Bayford, ac=
count of, 157, 158, 537.

Garret’s, 224.

Gascoigne, Thomas, possesses
Morris-court, in Bapchild,
127.

Gates’s, 432, 434.

Gatton’s, of Throwley, 449,
459.

Gatton tower, in Dover castle,
449.

Gaunt, John of, 223.

Geary, Sir William, bart. pos=
sesses Upper Toes MANOR, in
Bobbing, 200.

Genery, William, 73, 447.

George, John, 3083.

Gering, Josias, 222.

Gerrard’s. See Garrard’s.

Gerund’s, 568.

Gibbon, Mary, 21, 200.

Gilbert, Sir Humphry, 227;
account of, 476.

Giles, Gabriel, 479; Giles’s,
375; of Sheldwich, account
of, 492; of Preston, 539;
Giles’s, A. 568.

Gillow, Mrs. possesses Cooks=



ditch, 336, A. 577; Ewell
MANOR, in Faversham, 338;
Ore mills, 372; Thomas
possesses Buckland MANOR,
399; White’'s MANOR, in
Lenham, A. 565; Tenham
parsonage, 576.

Gillow’s, of Cooksditch, ac=
count of, 336.

Gipps, George, possesses Emley
island and parish, 274, A.
576; lessee of Ore parsonage,
385; of Stalisfield parsonage,
443.

Giraud, Francis-Frederick, pre=
sent master of Faversham school,
357; present curate of Ore,
386; vicar of Preston, 549.

Girunde’s, 397, 515.

Gloucester, Humphry, duke of,
174; Richard, duke of, 475.

Glovers seat, in Sittingborne,
151.

Godding, Thomas, 398.

Godfrey, Thomas, of Lyd, 102;
Godfrey’s, of Norton, ac=
count of, 404, 409.

GODISLANDS, alias WOOD-
COURT, in Badlesmere, 478.

Godwin, earl of Kent, 215.

Golden wood, in Sittingborne,
151.

Goldsmith’s, 58.

Goldwell’s, 405, 517; chantry
in Great Chart, 518.

Goldwell MANOR, in Hadlow,
A. 558.
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GOODNESTON MANOR, in Sit=
tingborne, 155; parish of, 549.

Goodwin, earl of Kent, 155,
165.

Goodwin’s MANOR, in Hadlow,
A. 558.

GORE MANOR, in Upchurch,
27; in Tunstall, 93; Gore-
court, in Borden, A. 572.

Gore, Arthur, and Sir Booth,
bart. possess Gore-hill SEAT,
in Bobbing, 193, A. 575.

Gore, William, 228; Gore’s,
of Tunstall, 93.

Gorge, Nicholas, 197.

Gorham’s, 199.

Goore, Richard, 333.

Goring’s, of Sussex, barts. 62.

Gosselin, Capt. and C. Brook,
possess a house in Faversham,
319; Ore MANOR, 383.

Gower, Mary, lady dowager,
361.

Grangeman’s, 70.



Grandison, George Villiers,
viscount, 539.

Graveney’s, 19.

Grayling’s, A. 573.

GRAYNEY MANOR, in Hartlip,
19, A. 571.

Greaves, Robert, 108.

Gregories, in Easling, 422.

Green, Thomas, 129; John,

378; Green’s, alias Norton’s,
30, 70, 77, 202, 288.

GREENSTREET HAMLET, in
Tenham, 290.

Greenstreet’s, of Claxfield, 297;
of Norton, 454; of Ospringe,
511, 515, 516, 524; of Sel=
ling, 525; of Linsted, A. 577.

Greenway court, in Hollingborne,
A. 567.

Greet’s seat, in Doddington, 312.

Greet’s, of Doddington, 312.

Grenebergh, marsh, in Upchurch,
27.

Grey, Reginald, of Ruthin, 86,
273; Grey'’s, of Rotherfield,
266.

Groombridge, Richard, possesses
Ham, in Lenham, A. 565.

Grove-end, in Tunstall, 81, 87.

Grove’s, of Tunstall, 73; ac=
count of, 95, 97, 426, 429, 494,
A. 579.

GROVEHURST MANOR, in
Milton, 181.

Grove’s, 181.

Grovers. See Grovehurst.

Guildford, Sir John, 97, 429.

Guildford, earl of, 488, 549.

Guildford, George Augustus,
earl of, possesses Tenham out=
lands, alias New-gardens,
289; a house at Whitehill,
in Ospringe, 502; Ospringe
MANOR, and Queen-court,
510; Plumford FARM, and
Painters MANOR, in Ospringe
512.

Gunpowder, manufacture of,
at Faversham, 353; terrible
explosion from, ibid. mill at
Ospringe, 500.

Gurney, Sir Richard, account of,
197.

H.

Hadde’s, of Frinsted, A. 568.
HADLOW, parish of, A. 558.
Halden’s, 428.
Halkwell, in Tudeley, A. 560.
Hales, Sir Christopher, 7, 28,
147, 538; Thomas, 147; Sir
Edward, 349, 351, 493.
Hales, Sir Edward, bart. possesses



Tunstall MANOR, 91; Ful=
ston MANOR, in Sittingborne,
159.

Hales’s, of the Dungeon, 405;
of Nackington, 102; of Tun=
stall, 81; account of, 88, 96,
146, 149, 225, 274; Hales’s,
518.

Halke, Richard, present vicar of
Faversham, 371, and Selling,
A. 577.

Hall, George, D. D. archdeacon
of Canterbury, 206.

xviii

HALLS FARM, alias ABBATS-
COURT, in Harty, 281.

Halsham’s, of Sussex, 377.

HALSTOW, parish of, 34.

Halywell hamlet, in Upchurch,
26.

Ham hamlet, in Upchurch, 26.

HAM, alias WEST-COURT MA=
NOR, in Upchurch, 30.

HAM FARM, in Luddenham, 389.

HAM-MARSH MANOR, 389,
393, 532, A. 577; demesnes
of, ibid. FARM, in Lenham,

A. 565.

Hammond, William, 517.

Hamond key, in Milton, 166.

Hamwold, den of, in Wood=
nesborough, 510.

Handfield, Stephen, possesses a
house in Ulcomb, A. 564.

HANSLETTS FARM, 515; for=
stal in Ospringe, 502.

Harbroe, James, possesses Gold=
well MANOR, in Hadlow, A.
558, 561.

Harding’s, 29.

HARRIETSHAM, parish of, A.
565; —- Little, MANOR
of, ibid.

Harrington, Thomas, 534.

Harpur, Gabriel, possesses Gore-
court, in Tunstall, 94; Geo.
103.

Harold, king, 155.

Hart, Richard, 262, A. 575;
Thomas, 268.

Hart’s, patrons of Warden rec=
tory, 262.

Hart’s, 415, 459; Hart’s, of
Ospringe, 525; of Preston,
544,

HARTLIP, parish of, 15, A. 571;
place, 20.

HARTY, isle of, 276, A. 576.

Harvey’s, of Dane-court, 158,
161; of Tunbridge, account
of, A. 559.

Harfleet, alias Sharpness marsh,



in Upchurch, 31.

Hassell, William, clerk, A. 568.

Hasted’s, 29, 290, account of,
65, 430.

Hatherill, Joseph, present curate of
Queenborough, 245.

Hastings key, in Rainham, 5.

Hatch, Henry, of Faversham,
358, 362, 363.

Hatton, George Finch, possesses
the advowson of Easling rec=
tory, 436.

Haute, Francis, 101.

Hayns, Richard, fruiterer to
king Henry VIII. 291.

Haysden, tithery of, in Tunbridge,
A. 560.

Hayter’s, of Tunstall, 95.

Hayward, Sir John, trustees of,
possess Minster MANOR, in
Shepey, 220, 221.

Hayward, Anne, 121; Hay=
ward’s, 388.

Hazard’s, 139, 147.

Head’s, barts. 440, 512.

Heart’s Delight hamlet, in Bor=
den, 68, A. 571.

HEDCORNE, parish of, A. 562.

Hegdale pit, near Faversham,
319.

Helmes, alias Holmes MANOR,
in lwade, 204.

Hencliff, John, 293.

Hendress, Susannah, A. 572.

Henley, William, of Otham, A.
569.

Hengist, the Saxon chief, 132,
133.

Henman’s, of Lenham,

Herbert, Mrs. Anne, and others,
possess Milton hundred, 3, A.
571; fishery at Milton, 169;
Milton MANOR, 177; Cale=
hill MANOR, in Minster, 226;
Shurland MANOR and SEAT,
250; and Northwood MA=
NOR, in Eastchurch, 252.

Herbert’s, of Tythorpe, account
of, 176.

Herdson, Thomas, 465.

Xix

Herlackenden’s, of Tunstall, 93.

Heron, Thomas, of Chilham-
castle, 433.

Herst-hall, in Herst, 145.

Hert, Thomas le, of Faversham,
544.

Hervey, George, 55.

Heure, William de, 173.

Hey, Thomas, D. D. present vicar
of Eastchurch, 258.

HIGHAM alias GREAT HIGHAM



COURT MANOR, in Milsted,
110.

Hill-green house, in Stockbury,
A. 570.

Hills, William, possesses a moiety
of the parsonage and advow=
son of Newnham vicarage,
420.

Hilton, John, possesses GREAT,
alias SOUTH WILDERTON
MANOR, 455; Lord’s, SEAT,
in Sheldwich, 493; Lord’s,
of Sheldwich, account of, 492.

Hinde, John, possesses Owre
house, in Milton, 183; Rev.
Charles, ibid

Hinkley chancel, in Tenham
church, 293.

Hoade-street. See Wood-street,
74.

Hoby, Sir Edward, 237; —-
of Bisham, account of, 219,
250, 262.

Hockstet-green, in Throwley, 455.

HOGSHAWS SEAT, in Milsted,
108, A. 574.

Holbean. See Holborne.

Holborne farm, in Stalisfield, 438.

Holbrooke’s, of Newington, 41;
account of, 63, 65.

Hollaway, Richard, possesses
Nonsuch MANOR, in Tun=
bridge, A. 560.

HOLLINGBORNE, parish of, A.
566.

Holme mill, in Harrietsham, A.
565.

Holmes, Mr. his school at South=
borough, A. 559.

HOMESTALL FARM, in Newn=
ham, 418.

Honymarsh MANOR. See Ham=
me-marsh.

Honywood, Filmer, lessee of
Lodge, in Linsted. A. 576.

Hooker, Thomas, possesses gun=
powder mills in Tunbridge,

A. 559; Thomas, ibid. 560;
John possesses an estate in
Brenchley, A. 561.

Hooper’s, of Stockbury, 140.

Hope, John, lessee of Ore par=
sonage, 385; possesses Hans=
lets FARM, in Ospringe, 516.

Hopton, Thomas, 54.

Hopson, William, possesses Min=
ster parsonage, A. 575.

Hosier, vice-admiral Francis,
258; Hosier’s, 262, 459.

Hoskins’s, 422.

Horsa, the Saxon chief, 132.

Horden, William, 28.

Horn’s lodge. See Tilney’s lodge



HORSHAM MANOR, in Upchurch,
28, 42.

Horsemonden, Dr. Thomas,
459.

HORSEMUNDEN, parish of, A.
561.

Houghton, Thomas, 181.

Hous, Thomas, 30.

Housson, William, 130, 141,
149.

Howe, Thomas, possesses a house
in Kingsdown, 113.

Howfield MANOR, in Chart=
ham, 384, 443.

Hudson, John, possesses South=
dean MANOR, in Stockbury,
A. 570; Madams-court, in
Frinsted, ibid. Northwood,
in Bicknor, ibid.

Hugessen, William, of Stod=
marsh, possesses Cheeks-court,
in Tong, 140.

XX

Hugessen'’s, of Linsted, account
of, 303, 305; of Dover, 417,
518; of Provender, account of,
406, 519.

Huggins’s key, in Milton, 166.

Hulks’s, 148.

Hulse’s, alias Hulkes'’s, of
Newnham, 418, 419; account
of, 420; Hulse’s, of Chart=
ham, 547.

Hungate, William, 507.

Hunsdon, Careys, lords, 253.

Hunt, Samuel, 183.

HUNTON, parish of, A. 557.

Huntingdon, William Clinton,
earl of, 174, 425, 508.

HUNTINGFIELD MANOR, in
Easling, 424, 426; MANOR,
in Sheldwich, 494.

Huntingfield, family of, ac=
count of, 427, 434.

Hurlestone, Nicholas, 58.

Hyde, West, heirs of, possess
Ufton MANOR, 93, A. 572.

Hysted forstal, in Sittingborne,
151.

Jackson, Jeremiah, present vicar
of Ospringe, 531.

Jacob, Edward, F. S. A. his
treatise on the Shepey fossils,
213; his discoveries at Leys=
down, 264; account of him,
268, 357.

Jacob, Mrs. possesses Nutts, in
Leysdown, 268, A. 576;
Cades MANOR, in Ospringe,
517.



Jacson’s, 56.

James’s, of Easling, account of,
426, 429, 539.

Iden, Alexander, 87.

Jeffrey, Edward, 103.

Jeffrey’s, 534, A. 578.

Jeffreys’s, of Borden, A. 573.

IGHTHAM, parish of, A. 556.

Jell, James, and Thomas Ben=
nett possess the advowson of
Warden, A. 575.

Jemmett, William, and Wm.
Marshall possess Posiers MA=
NOR, in Borden, 74; North-
court, Denton, and Plumford
MANOR, 426; Scooks, alias
Scrooks MANOR, A. 580;
Huntingfield MANOR, in
Easling, 430, and in Sheld=
wich, 494.

Jenner, John, present rector of
Buckland, 401.

Jennins, Stephen, 543.

Isles’s, 139, 147, 361.

Ingham, John, 338.

Ingles, Anthony, 390.

Insula, Sir William de, 391.

Johnson, Randolph, 539.

Johnson, Sir Richard Vander
Bempde, bart. possesses the
North Fryth, in Tunbridge,

A. 559.

Jones, Arthur, 19; Dr. David,
390; Inigo, the architect, 484,
500.

Jordan, Thomas, clerk, 569.

Ipre, William de, 324, 455.

Isles, George, A. 573.

Isley’s, 101.

JUDDE HOUSE, in Ospringe, 500,
519; —- hill, 502.

Judde, Daniel, 520; Judde’s,
of Tunbridge, 550, 553.

Jumper, William, 140, A. 570.

Juniper tree, remarkable large
one, 107.

Ive, Sir Mark, 30, 202; Ive’s,
of Essex, 288.

IWADE, parish of, 203.

K.

Kade, Arnulf, 383, 439.

Karter’s hythe, in Upchurch, 26.

Kemp, Mr. lessee of Tenham
parsonage, 295; lessee of
Elvyland MANOR, in Os=
pringe, 515.

Kempe, Sir Thomas, 550, 553;
Kempe’s, 126.

XXi

Kemsley down, in Milton, 154,
165.



Keat, Sir Jonathan, bart. 182,
183.

Kendall, John, 130.

Kenn, Sir Christopher, 55, 56.

Kennet, John, 289.

Kent, Hubert de Burgh, earl of,
account of, 83, 113, 505;
William de Ipre, earl of, 324.

Kenulph, king of Mercia, 124.

Kentish cherries and pippins,
planted at Tenham, 291.

KEYCOLE FARM, 62; HILL,
in Newington, 43, 62.

Key-street, in Bobbing, 43, 193.

Killigrew’s, 312.

King Edward Ill. at Queenbo=
rough, 234; king George |.
and Il. at Sittingborne, 152;
king James Il. his treatment
at Faversham, 349; king
John at Ospringe, 505; king
Stephen’s castle, 503.

King, Thomas, 244.

KINGSBOROUGH MANOR, in
Eastchurch, 252; farm of, ibid.

KINGSDOWN, parish of, 112, A.
574.

KING’S FERRY, account of, 210,
252.

KINGSMILL MANOR, in Faver=
sham, 338.

Kirton’s, 389.

Knatchbull, Sir Edward, bart.
and others, possess an estate in
Linsted, 303; Provenders,
in Norton, 407; Putwood
MANOR, in Ospringe, 519.

Knight, Thomas, 58.

Knowle hill SEAT, in Ulcomb,

A. 564.

Knollys, Sir Robert, 273.

Knowler’s, of Faversham, 127,
360, 454, 512.

Knox, Vicesimus, clerk, A. 556.

Kyne, John, 279.

Kyriels MANOR. See Criols.

L.

Lacy, Butler, the daughters of,
75.

Lacy’s, A. 572.

Wrens FARM, in Borden, 75.

Ladding, Stream of, A. 558.

Lade, John, possesses Goodneston
MANOR, and part of the ad=
vowson of the rectory, 552,

554; Lade’s, of Boughton,
account of, 552.

Lamberhurst, parish of, A. 561.
Lamprey, Thomas, present vicar
of Halstow, 40; of Stalisfield,

445,
Lancaster, John of Gaunt, duke



of, 236.

Land, round tilt, 123.

Langdon, West, abbey of, 142.

LANGDON MANOR, in Faver=
sham, 336.

Langley, parish of, A. 563.

Langton, archbishop, 394.

Larkham, of Richmond, 125.

Laurence, Henry, 5.

Lawson, James, of Faversham,
362.

Laysdown, borough of, 51.

Leach, Sir Edward, 175.

Leathes, Mordaunt, present vicar
of Harty, 283.

Legrand, John, 181.

Lee, Emmola, 546.

Leeds, parish of, A. 569.

Leeds castle, 471, 472.

Leeds priory, 9, 13, 77, 79,
274, 384, 434.

LEES COURT, in Sheldwich,
483.

Leeze’s possess Diven MANOR,
in Easling, 433.

Leicester, Turville, earl of, 550.

Leigh, Egerton, heirs of, possess
the advowson of Murston
rectory, 149.

Lemmey, John, possesses Mere-
court, in Murston, 148.

Lemors, John, A. 570.

XXii

Len river, A. 564.

Lenham, parish of, A. 564.

Lennard, Richard, 541; Tho=
mas, lord Dacre, ibid.

Lepers, hospital for, 521.

Lese, atte, family of, 259, 483,
494, 496.

Lesnes, abbey of, 53, 65.

LEVELAND, parish of, 461; fa=
mily of, 462, 463, 466.

LEVENOKE MANOR, in New=
ington, 58.

Levesey’s, account of, 220, 224,
226, 228.

Levesey. See also Livesey.

Lewin, Sir Justinian, 184.

Lewknor’s, of Challock, 450,
451, 454.

Lewson-street hamlet, in Tenham,
289.

Leyborne’s, 6, 26, 27, 64, 100,
155, 425, 518.

LEYSDOWN, parish of, 263, A.
576.

Lillichurch, manor of, 324.

Limsey’s, 536.

Linche, physician to Henry VIII.
135.

LINSTED, parish of, 296, A. 576.



Lisle dieu, abbey of, 32, 33.

Lisle, Mr. 58.

LITTLES MANOR, in Sheldwich,
494.

Livesey, Edward, 491; Live=
sey’s, account of, 256.

Livesey. See also Levesey.

Lodingford manor, in Yalding,

A. 557.

Loftie, Robert, possesses Sholand
FARM, in Newnham, 418,
Loftie’s, of Canterbury, ac=
count of, 417.

LODGE MANOR, in Linsted, 298.

Longchamp, Osbert de, 462.

Long-house FARM, in Harty,
278.

London, John de, 38; Henry,
538.

London, St. Bartholomew’s
hospital in, possesses Holborn
FARM, in Stalisfield, 438.

London, St. Katherine’s hos=
pital in, 222, 224.

London, St. Laurence Poultney
college in, 436.

London, prebendary of Rugmer,
in St. Paul’s, in, 460.

LORDS MANOR, in Sheldwich,
492.

LORENDEN, alias Cades MA=
NOR, in Ospringe, 516.

Lorenden’s, of Challock, ibid.

Loudwell, Mr. possesses part of
Mottenden, in Hedcorne, A.
562.

Lovaine’s, 506.

Lovel, lords and viscounts, 266.

Lovel’s, 108.

Lovelace, William, 420; Love=
lace’s, of Bayford, account of,
156.

Lough, J. present curate of lwade,
206; his school at Milton, A.
574.

Lowe, Simon, 279.

Lucas, John, 71.

Luck, Richard, 222.

LUCIES MANOR, in Newing=
ton, 53.

Lucy, 64, 65; Lucy’s, account
of, 49, 53, 57.

LUDDENHAM, parish of, 386,
532, A. 577.

Lundenwic, 210.

Lukyn’s, of Faversham, 513.

Lushington, Rev. James-Ste=
phen, possesses Higham MA=
NOR, in Milsted, 111; Rod=
mersham MANOR, New=
house, and the advowson of
the rectory, 119, 121; Col=
sall MANOR, in Milton, 184.



Lushington’s, account of, 118,
160, 161, 184, 404, 417.

Lyddel, Robert, 526.

Lydles MANOR. See Littles.

Xxiii
Lynacre, Thomas, priest, ac=
count of, 57, 60.

Lynch’s, of Groves, 440.
Lypyeatt, Bonnick, 319, 383.

M.

Machchevet. See Macknar.

Mackenade. See Macknar.

Mackenade, William, 335.

Mackland FARM, in Rainham, 5.

Madder cultivated, 319, 500.

Macnamara, John, possesses
Croft, alias Yauger MANOR,
in Hartlip, 19.

MACKNAR MANOR, in Preston,
537.

Marlborough, Charles, duke of,
353.

Malcolm, Sir James, lieutenant-
governor of Sheerness, 231.

Malata, or Shepey, 208.

MAISON DIEU, in Ospringe,
366, 500.

Maney’s, of Biddenden, 19, 273.

MANNS FARM, in Bredgar, 101.

Manny, Sir Walter, account of,
85.

Mansfield, Charles Cavendish,
lord, 184.

Mantell, Thomas, 517.

March, Thomas, of Borden, 73;
Sarah, A. 572.

March, Thomas, executors of,
possess Criols-court, in Bor=
den, 73; A. 572.

March, Mortimers, earls of, 137.

Maresbarrow. See Maresbo=
rough.

Mareys, William, 293, 546.

Markham'’s, 526.

Marsh, John, occupies a house
in Rainham, A. 571.

Marsh, Rev. Mr. possesses a house
in Bredgar, 99; Sarah, A. 573.

Marsh, Terrey, Mrs. lessee of
Ospringe parsonage, 520, A. 580.

Marsh, Susan, 181; John, 361.

Marshall, William, and others,
possess North-court and Den=
ton, alias Plumford MANORS,
426; Huntingfield MANORS,
in Easling and Sheldwich,
430, 494, A. 572, 579; Wil=
liam possesses Huntingfield
MANOR, in Ulcomb, A. 564.

Marsham, Hon. and Rev. Dr.
lessee of Aldington, in Thurn=



ham, A. 569.

Martin, David, present vicar of
Leysdown, 271.

Martin, Benjamin, 253; Alice,
459.

Martyn’s, of Graveney, 186, 337,
4083, 550, 553.

Mason, Anthony, 101.

Master, Sir Edward, 334; Mas=
ter’s, of Faversham, 127; of
Langdon and Ospringe, ac=
count of, 526; Mrs. possesses
Yokes, in Mereworth, A. 556.

Matchin, Thomas, 125.

Matilda, queen, buried at Fa=
versham, 325.

Matson, Edward, occupies Wood-
street house, 122; Robert oc=
cupies Borden-hall, A. 572;
lessee of the chantry in Bred=
gar, A. 573.

May, Mr. possesses the old chapel
and lands in Bapchild, 130;
John, 152.

May’s, 122.

Maycott’s, 417.

Mendfield, Thomas, 357, 359,
363, 399.

Mellish’s, 509.

Menzies, William-Philip, present
curate of Minster, 229.

MERE-COURT, in Rainham, 6;
in Murston, 147.

MERESBOROUGH, in Rainham, 6

Meredale, Jeffry de, 6, 8.

Merethorne, in Rainham, 6.

Merrywether, Robert, 224.

Mereworth, parish of, A. 556.

XXiv

Mariams, alias Madams court, in
Frinsted, A. 570.

Methodists, school for, A. 559,
at Southborough.

Meynel, Godfrey, 262.

Michell, Thomas, 543.

Milburne’s, of Ospringe, ac=
count of, 520.

Milles’s, of Norton and Daving=
ton, account of, 378, 403, 404.

Mills, Henry, possesses Newing=
ton Lucies MANOR, 56; Rev.
Mr. 140.

MILSTED, parish of, 107, A. 573;
manor of, 272.

MILTON, hundred of, 2, A. 571;
parish of, 163, A. 574; town
burnt, 155.

Milton natives, the finest oysters,
so called, 169.

Milway, Rev. Mr. 20; Cle=
ment 29.

Minching woods, in Tunstall, 95,
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MINSTER, parish of, 217, A.
575; borough of, 51; nunnery,
74,94, 201, 218, 228.

Mitchell, Capt. Stephen, 180;
Robert possesses Minster par=
sonage and the patronage of
the curacy, 228.

Moated house, in lwade, 204.

Mocking’s, 108.

Mohun, Joane, lady, 535.

Moles, very few in Shepey, 214.

Monins’s, of Waldershare, 183,
184, 383.

Monson family, account of, 488,
489.

Monson, Hon. Lewis, afterwards
Watson, account of, 489.

Moore-street hamlet, in Rain=
ham, 4.

Moore, Sir George, 198, 201,
202.

Montague, John, present rector of
Emley, 276.

Montfort, Hugh de, 173.

Montgomery, Philip-Herbert,
earl of, 175, 226, 250.

Montresor, John, possesses Hun=
tingfield COURT, in Easling,
431; Belmont SEAT, in
Throwley, 447; North Wil=
derton MANOR, 454; a house
at Whitehill, 502; Syndal
FARM, 521; Bavell, alias Bay=
field FARM, in Ospringe, A.
580.

Montresor, John, 459.

Moore-street farm, in Rainham,
A.571.

Moorlands MANOR, in Yalding,
A. 558.

Morgan, George, possesses Mack=
nar MANOR, in Preston, 539.

Mores’s, of Tunstall, account of,
94, 97.

Moreton, Robert, present vicar of
Tong, 143.

MORRIS-COURT MANOR, in
Bapchild, 125.

Morrison, George, possesses Chil=
ton MANOR, in Sittingborne,
158.

Mortimer’s, 137, 473.

MOTE FARM, in Harty, 278,

281.

Moteneye marsh, in Rainham, 6.

Mottenden, in Hedcorn, A. 562.

Mount Richard, possesses Rushitt,
in Norborne, 402.

Moyle, Sir Thomas, 429, 436.

Moyle’s, of Buckwell, 14.

Munn, Humphry, 383.

MURSTON, parish of, 143, A.



574.
Murton, John, lessee of Langdon
MANOR, in Faversham, 337.
Musgrave, Joseph, possesses Bor=
den hall, with the parsonage
and advowson of Borden vi=
carage, 78.
Musgrave, Joseph, account of,
78.
Muston. See Murston.

XXV
N.

Nailbourne, in Ospringe, account
of, 501.

Nailor, George, present curate of
Davington, 381.

Napleton’s, of Borden, 75, 76,
77.

Napleton, Thomas, of Faver=
sham, 360.

Nash, Mrs. lessee of Berengrave
FARM, in Rainham, 5;
Gawin, Harris, 62.

Naylor, George, 455.

Neame, Mr. possesses Chapel-
house, in Ospringe, 500.

NEATS-COURT MANOR, in
Minster, 224.

Nepean, Evan, M. P. for
Queenborough, 243.

Nethersole, John, of Barham,
93; Nethersole’s, 516.

NETHER TOES MANOR, in
Bobbing, 200.

Neville, Sir Thomas, 109, 196.

Newbarrow FARM. See New=
burgh.

NEWBURGH FARM, in Tong,
140.

Newburgh, Edward Barret,
lord, 541.

NEW GARDENS, alias TEN=
HAM OUTLANDS, 289.

NEWHALL, alias BORSTALL
MANOR, in Minster, 221.

NEWINGTON, parish of, 40, A.
571; manor of, 217.

Newington, nunnery of, 48,
218.

New Marsh, in Upchurch, 31.

Newman, Daniel, occupies a
house in Hollingborne, A. 567.

NEWNHAM MANOR, in Linsted,
298.

NEWNHAM, parish of, 413, A.
578.

Newnham, family of, 373, 403,
409, 411, 414, 419.

Newton, Richard, 135, 222.

Nicholas SEAT, in Ospringe, 502.

Nicholson’s, of Homestall, 314;



of Doddington, 418.

Nonsuch MANOR, in Tunbridge,
A. 560.

Norden, John, 147; Norden’s,
6, 12, 139, 432.

Norreys, Thomas, 12.

Norfolk, Howards, dukes of,
475.

North, Oliver, clerk, A. 560.

NORTH-COURT, alias NORTH
EASLING MANOR, 424.

Northfield, church of, 472.

Northampton, William Bohun,
earl of, 137, 473.

Northumberland, Percys, earls
of, 278, 464.

Norwich, Goldwell, bishop of,
517.

NORTHWOOD CHASTENEY
MANOR, in Milton, 177, 186;
MANOR in Eastchurch, 251;
FARM in Bicknor, A. 570.

Northwood, John de, 3, 237;
entertains king Henry V.
at Sittingborne, 152; Simon
de, 450.

Northwood’s, of Dane-court,
180; of Northwood, 251,

257, 493; Northwood’s, 18,
64; account of, 178, 186, 388,
463, 525, 535.

Northwood, Edward, 398.

NORTON, parish of, 401, A.
578.

Norton, Sir John, 77; Norton’s
of Borden, 18; of North=
wood, 57; account of, 179,
186, 387, 539; of Lees-
court, account of, 259, 287,
336, 483; Norton’s, 64, 65,
70, 314, 389.

Norton, Thomas, alias Green,
179; Norton’s, 30.

Nottingham-court. See Higham.

Nottingham’s, of Higham and
Bayford, account of, 110, 156,
138.

NOWDES SEAT, in Linsted, 297.

XXVi

Nowell, Elizabeth, 514.
NUTTS MANOR, in Leysdown,
267; an estate in Minster, 269.

O.

Oade-street. See Wood-street.
Oak, singular species of, 69.
OAKS SEAT, in Ospringe, 502.
Offa, king of Mercia, 215, 284.
Oldwives lees, in Chilham, run=
ning match at, 482, 493.
Oldbury, John, 162.
Oliver, Nicholas, 495.



Oratory, or chapel, at Ospringe,
account of, 500.

Ordnance, board of, possess
Kingsmill MANOR, in Faver=
sham, 339; BRANCH OF, at
Faversham, 353.

ORE, parish of, 381; mills, 372;
manor of, 439; church of,

442,

Orreby’s, 84.

Osborne, Stephen, 253, 261;

Osborne’s, of Hartlip, account
of, 19, 56; —- of Nultts,

268.

OSPRINGE, parish of, 499, A.
579; place, 500; Maison Dieu,
in, 514; account of, 521, 525.

Otham, borough of, 51; parish
of, A. 569.

Otterden, parish of, A. 569.

OTTERHAM MANOR, in Up=
church, 29.

Otteridge, in Bersted, A. 569.

Ovinia, or Shepey, 208.

Outeridge, Thomas, A. 561.

Owen, Mr. present vicar of Ten=
ham, 296.

OWRE MANOR, in Milton, 182.

Owre, Robert, 521.

Oxenbridge’s, 551.

Oxford, Vere’s, earls of, 236,
434, 469, 473; account of, 474.

OXFORD, All Souls college in,
possesses Horsham MANOR, in
Upchurch, 28, 29; the par=
sonage and advowson of the
vicarage of Upchurch, 32;

mill and land in Halstow, 34,
35; lands in Newington, 42;
the advowson of Emley rec=
tory, 274; governors of Fa=
versham school, 356.

OXFORD, Corpus Christi coll.
in, possesses Shepherd’s For=
stall estate, in Sheldwich, 495.

OXFORD, Merton coll. in, pos=
sesses Lucies and Tracies MA=
NORS, in Newington, 58, 61.

Oxford, Cardinals college in, 66.

Oyster fishery, at Milton, account
of, 169.

Opysters, account of their origin
and growth, 352.

P

Packman, Mr. lessee of Upchurch
parsonage, 32.

Page, Henry, of Faversham,
account of, 322.

Page, Sir Thomas Hyde, 232.

Page’s key, in Milton, 166.

Pagitt’s, 56.

PAINTERS FARM, in Ospringe,



510; MANOR, A. 579.

Palmer’s, of Hartlip, account of,
18; of Wingham, 256.

Papillon, David, possesses an
estate in Throwley, 446; Lit=
tles MANOR, in Sheldwich,
495; John Rawstorne, clerk,
A. 560.

Paradise farm, in Hartlip, 16.

Paramour, Thomas, 278, 279,
280.

Parishes, parts of separated, 145,
386, 532.

Parke, Richard, 543.

Parker, Mathew, 161.

Parker, Dewy, heirs of, possess
Bavell FARM, in Ospringe,
512.

Parliament, held at Faversham,
323.

Parliament, abbots summoned to,
account of, 327.

XXVii

Parmeter, Mr. possesses Grego=
ries, in Easling, 422.

Parrot, Sir John, 135.

Parsons’s, 336.

Partrich, Sir Edward, 551.

Parry, Joseph, present vicar of
Bobbing, 203.

Pashley, Sir John, 6.

Patreches, in Newington, 42.

Pattison, Mr. possesses a house in
Bredgar, 99.

Paveley, Reginald de, 32.

Pawson, Daniel, 142.

Payne, Roger, 442.

Peachy’s, of Petworth, barts.
account of, 182, 183.

Pearl barley, manufacture of, 166.

Pearse, Thomas, 353.

Peche, John, 29.

Peirce’s, of Challock, 516.

Peckham, West, parish of, A.
556; East, a. 557.

Peckham, West, preceptory of,
120.

Pemberton’s, 56.

Pemble, Mildred, 479.

Pembroke, Hastings’s, earls of,
85, 273; Valence’s, earls of,
287.

Pembroke, Philip-Herbert, earl
of, 237, 250.

Penchester, Stephen de, 84.

Penenden heath, famous assembly
at, 50.

Penner, Richard, 516.
Pennington, Thomas, D. D. pre=
sent rector of Tunstall, 98, A.
574; possesses the advowson

of Kingsdown rectory, 115.



Pennington, Thomas, A. M. pre=
sent rector of Kingsdown, 116,
A. 574.

Pennington, John, 338; Pen=
nington’s, of Philadelphia,
552, 553, 554.

Penry, Edward, present vicar of
Bapchild, 132.

Penton, Henry, 127, 513.

Percy, Henry, lord, 464.

Percy, Allan, 543.

Perie. See Perry-court.

Perie’s, 540.

Perot, Sir Thomas, 249.

Perrin, William-Philip, a. 557.

PERRY-COURT MANOR, in

Preston, 539.

Perrywinkle mill, in Milton, 166.

Pery marsh, in Harty,280, 281.

Pery, William, 120.

Peseiga, or Shepey, 208.

Pettenden’s, 70.

PETTS COURT MANOR, in
Bapchild, 127.

Petts SEAT, in Bredgar, a. 573.

Peverel, Jeffry de, 449.

Peyforer, Fulk de, 463, 508;

Peyforer’s, 139, 221, 273, 397, 425.

Philippa, queen, 222.

Philpot, Stephen, 545,

Phineux, Sir John, 141.

Piggot, Baptiil, 404, 409; Mrs.

A. 558.

Piggot’s, of Cambridge, account
of, A. ibid.

Pigou, Frederic, and others,
occupy the Ore powder mills,
372.

Pine, de la, family of, 117, 146.

Pinke, Alured, possesses Shar=
sted, in Doddington, 311;
Sholland MANOR, 418, and
a moiety of the parsonage and
advowson of Newnham vi=
carage, 420, A. 578.

PISTOCK MANOR, in Tunstall,
94.

Pistor, Ralph, 518.

Pits, large ones in the fields near
Faversham, 319.

Platt, John, 516.

Plot’s, of Borden, account of,

70, 71.

PLUMFORD FARM, in Ospringe,
510; MANOR, 549, A. 579;
—- alias Denton MANOR A.
ibid.

Podach’s. See Pordage’s.

XXviii

Pokeshaulle hospital, near Sitting=
borne, 135.

Poley, John Weller, possesses the



Postern tithery in Tunbridge,
A. 560.

Polhill, in Harrietsham, A. 565.

Pontiniac, abbot of, 525.

Pope’s, of Hartlip, 17.

POPE’S HALL, in Hartlip, 17.
Pordage’s, of Rodmersham, ac=
count of, 117, 119, 121, 139,

147, 551, 553.

Porkelswode, John de, 517.

Port, Hugh de, 82, 136, 145,
172, 402, 403, 408, 414, 416,
Adam de, 382, 383, 438.

Portway, alias Selgrave-lane, in
Sheldwich, 494, 535.

POSIERS MANOR, in Borden,
73, A. 572.

Postern tithery, in Tunbridge, A.
560.

Potter, William, 142.

Potyn, Nicholas, 336, 508;

Potyn’s, 139, 221, 273.

Poultney, Sir William, 223;
Sir John, 436.

Powder, manufactory of, 372.

POYLES MANOR, in Borden,
71.

Poyning’s, 72, 278, 464, 536.

Prat, Henry, 290.

PRESTON, parish of, 531, A.
580; house, 544.

Preston, Alice de, 183.

Proude’s, of Canterbury, ac=
count of, 551.

PROVENDERS SEAT, in Norton,
405.

Puckleshall, hospital of, St.
James of, 135.

Pulteney’s, 506. See also Poul=
teney’s.

Purefoy, Martin, 265.

PUTWOOD FARM, in Ospringe,
517.

Pye, Thomas, possesses Butters
MANOR, in Bredgar, A. 573.

Q.

QUARANTINE, at Stangate
creek, account of, 35.

Quadring, Thomas, 287, 388;

Quadring’s, 405, 517.

Quarles, Dr. 421.

Queens of England, their dowers,
173.

Queen court, in Rainham. See
Berengrave.

QUEEN-COURT, in Ospringe,
506.

Queen down, in Hartlip, 15, 21.

QUEENBOROUGH, parish of,
233; castle, 174.

Quested’s, 515.

Quintin FARM, in Bobbing,
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Quintin, one formerly in Bob=
bing, 194.

R.

Radcliffe, Robert, 140.

RADFIELD HAMLET, in Bap=
child, 128.

RAINHAM, parish of, 4, A. 571.

Randall’'s, 222, 429.

Randolph, Sir Thomas, account
of, 468.

Rats, very few in Shepey, 214.

Rawleigh, Mr. 357.

Read, Richard, 399.

Reader’s, of Bredgar, 75, 101,
102, 104, 105.

Reculver, abbot and convent of,
482.

Redlingweld, church of, 472.

Reynham, Roger de, 9.

Reynolds key, in Milton, 165.

Rice, John, present rector of War=
den, 263.

Richards, James, present vicar of
Rainham, 15; Henry, 220;
George, clerk, A. 558.

Richmond, Charles-Stuart, duke
of, 184.

Rider, Ingram, account of, A.
563.
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Rigden, George, executors of,
lessees of Milton parsonage,
A. 574.

Right, writ of, famous one, ac=
count of, 279.

Ringlestone hamlet, in Holling=
borne, A. 568.

Roberts, Drayton, 514; John,
519.

Robesart, William, 94.

Roch, Margaret, 77.

Rochester bridge, wardens, &c.
of, possess a rent charge in
Leysdown, 269; Langdon
MANOR, in Faversham, 336.

Rochester, mayor and citizens
of, 221.

Rochester, St. Nicholas, parish
in, ibid.

Rochester castle, 402, 405.

Rochester, bishops of, Fisher,
515, 523, 525; Glanville,

410; Sandford, 519.

Rochester, BISHOP OF, possesses
the advowson of Norton rec=
tory, 411.

Rochester, priory of, 22, 384,
409, 414, 444, 519.

Rochester, DEAN AND CHAP=
TER OF, possess the parsonage,



and advowson of Hartlip vi=
carage, 23; a pension from
Norton church, 411; a pen=
sion from Easling church,
437; Judde house, in Os=
pringe, 520.

Rockingham, Watson'’s, earls
of, 335, 452, 465, 478, A.

579; account of, 487, 489, 490,
511.

Rockingham, Catherine, coun=
tess of, 289, 510, 511.

Rode, borough of, 370.

RODMERSHAM, parish of, 116.

Rogers, Richard, of Brianston,
184.

Rokele, Robert, 161.

Rokesle, Sir John de, 533, Ro=
kesle’s, 536.

ROMAN ANTIQUITIES, 193,
292, 373, 396, 503; burial
place, 43, 503; roads, 43;
stations, 44, 124, 153, 502.

Romney, lord, possesses Upleez
FARM, near Luddenham,

387.

Romney old, church of, 472.

Rongostone. See Ringlestone.

Rood’s, of Ospringe, 521.

Roope, Gilbert, 180.

Rooper’s, 465.

Roos, lords, of Hamlake, 453,
473.

Roper, Hon. Philip, occupies
Dadman’s HAMLET, in Lin=
sted, 297.

Roper’s, of Linsted, 141, 286,

A. 576; account of, 299, 408,
543.

Roscelin, Thomas, 277.

Roydon, Thomas, 93; Roy=
don’s, 312.

Round tilt, land so called, 290.

Rowena, Hengist’s daughter,
134.

Ruck’s, of Shepherd’s Forstal,
account of, 495; of Ospringe,
502, 514.

Rufin, Adam, 229.

Rugmer, prebendary of, in St.
Paul’'s church, possesses Throw=
ley parsonage and the advow=
son of the vicarage, 460.

Running match on Sheldwich and
Old Wives lees, account of,
482.

Running lands, in Sheldwich, 493.

RURAL DEANS, account of, 527.

Rushbrooke, Robert, possesses
Northwood MANOR, in Mil=
ton, 181.

RUSHINDON MANOR, in Min=
ster, 222.



RUSHITT SEAT, in Norton, 402,
A. 578.

Russell, John, possesses a house
in Rainham, 4; —- John,
13; —- John, possesses Ot=

XXX

teridge, in Bersted, A. 569;
Sir Thomas, 55.

Rutton, Mathias, present vicar of
Sheldwich, 498.

Rutton, Isaac, possesses Ospringe
place, 500.

Rycil, Margaret, 97.

S.

Sackville, lady, 11.

Saffron, formerly gathered at
Milton, 171.

Sahersted. See Sharsted.

Saker’s, of Faversham, 358, 399.

Salmon, Robert, A. 567.

Salter’s, 439.

Sampson, Christopher, 101;

Sampson’s, of Nuts, 267.

Sandford, Henry, 197, 201.

Sandown, in Tenham, 292.

Sandway, in Lenham, A. 564.

Sare, Thomas, 289; Sare’s, of
Provenders, account of, 405,
409, 417, 420, 518.

Savage’s, of Bobbing, account of,
60, 194, 108, 125, 148, 182,
186, 201, 204, 222, 236, 259.

Saunders, John, present vicar of
Newington, 67.

Sawbridge, Samuel-Elias, pos=
sesses Petts-court, 128, and
Radfield, in Bapchild, 129;
Swanley FARM, in Eastchurch,
253; Warden MANOR, 260;
Leysdown MANOR, 267;
Bartholomew’s FARM, in
Leysdown, 268; Harty MA=
NOR, advowson and other
estates in Harty, 282, 283;
Claxfield MANOR, in Linsted,
297; Champion court, in
Newnham, 416; Hall-place,
in Otterden, A. 569.

Sawbridge’s, possess Stalisfield
MANOR, 441; and lessees of
parsonage, 444.

Sawkins, Dansey, daughters of,
possess Kingsborough FARM,
in Eastchurch, 253.

Sawsamere’s, 428, 540.

Saxons, battle of, 132.

Say and Sele, Fienes, lords, 428.

SAYES-COURT, alias HARTY
MANOR, 277.

Sayer, Henry Jeremiah Lewson,
376.



Sayer’s, of Faversham, 479.

Sceapige, or Shepey, 208.

Schuylenberg, Erengard Melu=
sina de, created countess of
Faversham, 321.

Scooks, alias Scrooks MANOR, in
Ospringe, A. 579.

Scott, Thomas, clerk, A. 565.

SCRAY, LATH OF, 1.

Scribonius, Largus, 171.

Scroope, William le, 236.

Scuddington FARM, in Tong, A.
574.

Sead’s, 56.

Seagar’s, of Borden, 75, 77, 78.

Seager’s, of Tunstall, 93.

Searle, Rowland, 16.

Seath, Richard, possesses Tong
MANOR and CASTLE, 139;
Easthall, in Murston, 147.

See’s, alias At-See’s, 398.

SELGRAVE MANOR, in Sheld=
wich and Preston, 393, 493,
535.

Selsey, James Peachy, lord,
possesses Grovehurst MANOR,
182; Owre MANOR, in Mil=
ton, 183.

Sergeant, John, M. P. for
Queenborough, 343.

Seward’s, of Borden, 73.

SEWARDS MANOR, in Linsted,
301.

Sewers, commissions of, 212,
292.

Sexburga, queen, 218.

Seymour, Thomas, lord, 223.

Shard’s, 139, 147.

Sharp’s, of Great Chart, 432.

Sharpnash, alias Sharpness marsh,
in Upchurch, 30, 31.
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SHARSTED MANOR and SEAT,
in Doddington, 308.

Sharsted de, family of, 309,
314.

Sheep, never rot, in lwade, 204.

SHEERNESS, ville of, 217, 229.

SHELDWICH, parish of, 481, A.
579; chapel of, 364, 370.

Shelve, East, alias Cobham MA=
NOR, in Lenham, A. 565.

Shelving, John de, 450.

Shenche, John, 463.

SHEPEY, ISLAND OF, 207;
castle of, 233.

Shepey, nunnery of, Minster in,
48, 187, 202, 229. See also
Minster.

Shepey, Jordan de, 178, 251;

John de, LL. D. account of,

216.



SHEPHERDS FORSTAL, in
Sheldwich, 495.

Sherman, William, 103.

Sherwin’s, of Deptford, 376,
380.

SHIPBORNE, parish of, A. 556.

Shipway, court of, 339.

SHOLAND FARM, 416; MA=
NOR, in Newnham, 418.

Short’s, 383.

Shrimpton, John, 73.

Shuckforth, Benjamin, 455.

Shulland. See Sholand.

SHURLAND MANOR and SEAT,
in Eastchurch, 245, 246, 258;
LITTLE, alias the PARSON=
AGE FARM, A. 575.

Shurland, Sir Adam de, 220;

Sir Robert, his remarkable
tomb, story of, 247.

Shurland’s, 92, 240.

Shurland, Philip-Herbert, cre=
ated baron of, 175, 246.

Sidney, Robert, created baron
of Milton, 171.

Sidney, Henry, created viscount
Sidney, of Shepey, 216.

Sidney, Thomas, 197; Sidney’s,
394.

SILEHAM MANOR, in Rainham, 8.

Simmons, John, of Ospringe,
500; Mary, of Preston, 546.

Simpson, Baptist, heirs of, pos=
sess Edwards, in Linsted, 304;
Valentine, lessee of Sitting=
borne parsonage, A. 574;
possesses a portion of tithes in
Bobbing. A. 575.

Sion, monastery of, in Middle=
sex, 457, 460.

Sissill’'s, 516.

SITTINGBORNE, parish of, 150,
A. 574.

Skeere’s, of Doddington, 417,
419.

Skipp, Thomas, 30.

Slapp’s, 415.

Slayhills Marsh, in Upchurch, 26.

Smith, George, 297; John, of
Nowdes, ibid. John, of Stur=
ry, 357; Thomas, of Gil=
lingham, 454; Thomas, of
Westwood, 546.

Smith, John, occupies a house at
Whitehill, in Ospringe, 502;
John, clerk, A. 563

Smith, Mathew, possesses Til=
neys, alias Hornes-lodge, in
Tunbridge, A. 560.

Smith’s, of Dartford, 114; of
London, 394; of Preston,

545.
Smythes seat, in Ospringe, 501.



Snagsbrook, alias Murston MANOR,
in Hollingborne, A. 568.

Snails, the great white ash co=
loured, found at Throwley,
448.

Snode street, 479.

Snode’s of Sheldwich, account of,
479.

Soam’s MANOR, in lwade. See
Helmes.

Sole, George, 108; John Coc=
kin, 190, 404, A. 575.

Sole’s, of Bobbing, 115, 162;
account of, 199.

XXXii

Somers, John Somers, lord, ac=
count of, 51.

Somers, Charles-Cocks, lord,
account of, 52, possesses the fee
farm rents of Newington
MANOR, ibid.

Somerscales, Rev. Mr. 314.

Somptere, William, 120.

Sondes, Lewis-Thomas, lord,
account of, 490, A. 579; pos=
sesses Faversham MANOR and
abbey, 335; Darbies-court
MANOR, in Stalisfield, 442;
Throwley MANOR, and Town
place, 452; patron of Throw=
ley school, 458; lessee of
Throwley parsonage, 460;
possesses Leveland MANOR,
465, and advowson of the
rectory, 466; Wood's-court
MANOR, 479; Badlesmere
MANOR, and advowson of the
rectory, 478, 480; Sheldwich
MANOR, and Lees COURT,
490; Copshole FARM, and
Southouse lands, 492, 495,
496, and Selgrave MANOR,
in Sheldwich, 494; lessee of
Sheldwich parsonage, 497.

Sondes, Edward Watson, vis=
count, 488.

Sondes, Sir George, account of,
334, 484; created earl of Fa=
versham, 320.

Sondes, Sir Michael, 403; lady
Catherine, 458.

Sondes, George and Freeman,
their unhappy catastrophe, 486.

Sondes’s, of Throwley, 442;
account of, 450, 457, 459,
464, 466, 477; Sondes’s, of
Lees court, account of, 484,
493.

Southalbans MANOR, in Hed=
corne, A. 562.

Southborough tithery, in Tun=
bridge, A. 560.



Southdean MANOR, in Stock=
bury, A. 570.

Southouse, Thomas, of Faver=
versham, 363.

Southouse’s, 388; account of,
495, 496.

Southouse lands, in Sheldwich,
492, 495, 496, A. 579

Southwell, Sir Robert, 109, 464;
Edward, 488; Southwell’s,
account of, 476.

Spearman, Robert, possesses a
house in Newington, 42;
lessee of Frognall and Tracies
MANORS, 58, 61.

Spelman, Francis, 101.

Spencer, Wolley Leigh, present
vicar of Upchurch 34.

Spiller, Sir Henry, 416.

Spillet’s, 360.

Spilman, Thomas, 265.

Spigurnel, Sir Ralph, 535.

Spring, chalybeat, near Faver=
sham, 320.

Springate, Sir William, 551.

Squerie’s, 96.

Squillarium, Regis. meaning of,
60.

Squirrel hunting, custom of, 422.

St. Bertin’s abbey, at St. Omer’s,
455, 466.

St. Catherine’s hospital, near
the Tower, account of, 10, 32,
33; possesses Queen’s-court,
alias Berengrave, in Rain=
ham, 10; Queendown, in
Hartlip, 21; Dandele FARM,
in Minster, 224.

St. Clere’s, of Ightham, 507.

St. Eloy, Margaret, 394.

St. John of Jerusalem, knights
of, 120, 128, 383, 403, 408,
414, 416.

St. Leger, Anthony, 370, 439;
Nicholas, 436.

St. Leger’s, 26; of Ulcombe,

9, 197; of Otterden, 139,
146, 221, 273, 441.

St. Mary Graces abbey, 26, 27,
100.

St. Nicholas’s, 493.
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St. Radigund’s abbey, or priory
of, 270, 384, 414, 443.

St. Sexburgh abbey, in Shepey,
229.

St. Stephen’s college, or chapel,
in Westminster 7, 425, 434,
494, 508, 510.

St. Thomas, chapel dedicated
to, 525.

Stacey, Flint, possesses Yelsted



MANOR, and Hill green
house, in Stockbury, A. 570.

Standard hill, in Newington, 43.

Standen, John-Hargrave, present
rector of Murston, 150, A. 574.

Standgate creek, 35.

Stafford, Dorothy, 13.

STALISFIELD, parish of, 438.

Stanefelle. See Stalisfield.

STANGUARD, alias HARTY
PARSONAGE, 281.

Stanhope’s, of Boughton Mal=
herb, 158.

Stanley, Richard, 28; Sir Wil=
liam, 54; Charles, 94.

Staple of wool, at Queenbo=
rough, 234.

Starchfield, parish of. See Stalis=
field.

Starling, Samuel, alias Sterneil,
539

Stede’s, of Stede-hill, 88, 141,
142.

Steele, Sampson, present vicar of
Newnham, 422.

Stepedone. See Stuppington.

Stephen, king, buried at Faver=
sham, 325.

Sterneil, Samuel, alias Starling,
539.

Stevens, Sir Thomas, 260, 267,
268.

Stevens, Athelstan, present rector
of Goodneston, 555.

STOCKBURY, parish of, A. 570.

STONE, parish of, 393, A. 578;
chapel, 503; borough of, 534.

Stones, singular ones, in Borden,
69.

Stonehouse, Sir John, 509.

Streynsham, Thomas, of Fa=
versham, 358, 390; Robert,
of Ospringe, account of, 526.

Streynsham’s, 334.

Strong, William, present rector of
Norton, 413.

Stroud, charity schools in, 221.

Stunt, John, possesses a moiety
of Scuddington, in Tong, A.
574.

STUPPINGTON FARM, in Nor=
ton, 407.

Sturry, John, clerk, 548.

Sutherland’s, A. 572.

SUTTON BARNE MANOR, in
Borden, 69.

SUTTON, EAST, parish of, A.
563.

Swains Downe, in Iwade, 204.

Swale, water of, 209, 276.

Swaleman’s, 253, 314.

SWANLEY FARM, in Eastchurch,
253.



SWANTON, alias SWAN-COURT
MANOR, in Bredgar, 100.

Swift, John, possesses Newhall,
alias Borstall MANOR, 222;
lessee of Rushendon MANOR,
in Minster, A. 575.

Swingfield, preceptory of, 439.

Sykes'’s, of Preston, 546.

Symes, Richard, A. 558.

Symonds, Ralph, 378.

SYNDAL FARM, in Ospringe,
520; valley, ibid.

T.

Taddy’s, possess Buckland MA=
NOR, 400.

Talbot, Richard, 273.

Tanges, Adam de, 128.

Tapley, James, A. 565.
Tappenden, James, possesses
Nashes FARM, in Ludden=
ham, 390; Tappenden’s, 105.
Tassell, James, 390, 430.

Taverner, Edward, 175.
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Taylor, Lushington, occupies a
house in Kingsdown, 113.

Taylor, James, possesses Frog=
nall MANOR, 288.

Taylor, Mrs. Ursula, her cha=
rity, 206, 421.

Templer, Rev. John, A. 560.

TENHAM, hundred of, 284; pa=
rish of, ibid. A. 576.

Tenison’s, 394.

Tenterden, earl of, 91.

TENTHS, Faversham abbey ex=
empted from, 330.

Terry, William, 101, 105;

Terry’s, 434; of Ospringe,

526; of Throwley, 454.
TESTON, parish of, A. 557.
Tewsbury, Dorothy, baroness

dowager of, 360.

Teynham, Henry-Roper, lord,
possesses Tenham MANOR,
286; Badmangore, Lodge,
&c. MANORS, and other
estates in Linsted, 300; Loi=
terton and Stuppington, in
Norton, 408, A. 578.

Teynham, Sir John Roper,
created lord, 292.

Teynham, Ropers, lords, 141,
289, 294, 297; account of,
300, 305, 389, A. 576.

Thanet, Sackville-Tufton, earl
of, possesses Maresbarrow, 8,
and Sileham MANOR, in
Rainham, 9; Popes-hall MA=
NOR, in Hartlip, 18; Wood=
land, in Upchurch, 26; Gore



MANOR, 28; Moorlands, in
Yalding, A. 558.

Thanet’s, earls of, account of, 10,
12,17, 28.

Theobald, Lewis, the poet, born
at Sittingborne, 153.

Thomas, Richard, occupies a
house in Hollingborne, A.
567.

Thomasson, Edward, 362.

Thompson’s, 265.

Thomson, Henry, present rector of
Badlesmere, 481; Thomas,
109.

Thomson’s, of Royton, 205.

Thornbury, John, of Faver=
sham, account of, 322.

Thornhill’'s, 7, 9, 95, 128, 129,
281, 282, 283, 509.

Thornicroft’s, of Sharsted, ac=
count of, 310.

THROWLEY, parish of, 445;
alien priory in, 455.

THURNHAM, parish of, A. 569.

Thurston’s, 105; of Challock,
432.

Tibetot, Sir John, 473.

Tildesley, Fleetwood, 539.

Tilghman’s, 126.

Tilneys Lodge MANOR, in Tun=

bridge, A. 560.
Titchborne’s, of Hertfordshire,
78

Toad, live one, found in the
middle of a tree, 298

Todd, Henry John, present vicar
of Milton, 192.

Toke, John, possesses Swanton-
court, in Bredgar, 101.

Toke’s, of Goddington, 109.

Toker, John, possesses the Oaks
SEAT, 502; and Brooke
FARM, in Ospringe, 514, A.
580.

Toketon, Roger de, 415.

Toliapis, of Ptolemy, 207.

Tomlinson, Mathew, 62.

Tomlyn, Ambrose, 183; Tom=
lyn’s, of Sittingborne, 152.

TONG, parish of, 132, A. 574;
castle, 134.

Tong, alias Thong castle, story
of, ibid.

Tong, semanus at, 135; James,
289.

Tong’s, account of, 95, 99, 104.

Tooke’s, of Dartford, 260.

Toppenden, alias Tappenden,
denne of, in Smarden, 452.
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Torrington, George, viscount,
A. 556.



TORRY HILL SEAT, in Milsted,
107.

Towers, Rev. Johnson, possesses
Haysden and Little Boreden
titheries in Tunbridge, A.

560.

TOWN PLACE, in Throwley, 450.

Townsell, Hugh, 518.

TRACIES MANOR, in Newing=
ton, 59.

Tracy’s, of Newington, account
of, ibid.

Trafford, John, 58.

Tremseth bridge, in Shepey, 277.

Tresse’s, alias Tracy’s, account
of, 60.

Trevelai. See Throwley.

Troughton’s, 41.

Trowts, Mark, of Faversham,
360.

TUDELEY, parish of, A. 560.

Tucker, Rev. John, 39; Ste=
phen, present vicar of Linsted,
307; John, present rector of
Luddenham, 393.

Tufton, Sir Humphry, 534;
Tufton’s, of Hothfield, ac=
count of, 10, 17, 28; baro=
nets of Vinters, 180; baro=
nets, of the Mote, account of,
199, 201.

Tumuli, or barrows, 215, 292.

TUNBRIDGE, parish of, A. 559;
castle, governors of, 472.

TUNSTALL, parish of, 80, A.
572; house, 95, A. 572.

Tunstall, viscount, 91.

Turner, Thomas, 517.

Turris dei inimica, in Dover-
castle, 424.

Turville, Simon de, 550.

Twisden, lady Rebecca, pos=
sesses Murston MANOR, 146;
Davington-hall, 379.

Tylden, Richard, lessee of part
of Queendown, in Hartlip,

21; possesses Hogshaws, alias
Milsted MANOR, 110, and

the advowson of the rectory,
112; Osborne possesses Torry
hill SEAT, in Milsted, 107.

Tylden, Richard Cooke, present
rector of Milsted, 112; possesses
the advowson of the church,
A. 570.

Tylden’s, of Milsted, 20, 21;
account of, 109, 111.

Tyndale, William, possesses an
estate in Hartlip, 21; Ay=
ington MANOR, 61; Bobbing
MANOR, 198; parsonage and
advowson of the vicarage, 202.

Tyndale’s, of Gloucestershire,



account of, 198, 201.
V.

Valence, family of, 287.

Vane, William, viscount, 446,
494,

Vanner, Henry, 69.

Vaux’s, of Northamptonshire,
54, 55.

Vavasor, William, 55.

Vienna, or Vienne, family of,
405, 517.

VIGO, alias GORTS MANOR,
in Borden, 74, A. 572.

Villze Regiee, where placed, 171.

Vinson, John, possesses a farm
at Wood-street, in Borden, A.
572.

Viner, Sir Robert, 81.

ULCOMB, parish of, A. 564.

Umfreville, Gilbert de, 237.

Umfrey’s, of Dartford, 114, 115.

Underdown, Vincent, 303.

Underhill, John, clerk, 523.

Unkle’s, 479.

Unwin, John, possesses part of
the advowson of Buckland
rectory, 400.

Vortigern, king of Britain, 132,
133.

UPCHURCH, parish of, 24.

Upleez farm, near Luddenham,
387.
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UPPER TOES MANOR, in Bob=
bing, 200.

UPTON MANOR, in Tunstall, 92.

Upton’s, of Faversham, 451,
454; account of, 455, 520.

Vyse, John atte, 106.

W.

Wade, Mrs. possesses Rushford
in Hedcorne, A. 562,

Wake, Roger, 108.

Walker, T. G. W. present vicar
of Hartlip, 24.

Walker, Mr. possesses Lewson
FARM, in Tenham, 290.

Waller, John, lessee of Elwar=
ton MANOR, 395; of Cop=
ton, Selgrave, and Hamme
MANORS, 534, 535, A. 578;
of Perry-court, 544, and of
Preston parsonage, 548.

Walsingham'’s, of Scadbury,
378.

Walwin, Dr. Francis, 39.

Ward’s, 516.

Warde, parish of. See lwade.

Wardegar’s, 28.

WARDEN, parish of, 259, A.



575.

Wardune, Simon de, 261.

Warne, parish of. See Warden,
252.

Warren, at Queendown, in
Hartlip, 15.

Water, John, alias York He=
rald, 429.

Watership, John, 538.

Waterhouse, Rev. Mr. A. 563.

WATRINGBURY, parish of, A.
557.

Watson, Lewis-Monson, ac=
count of, 487, 490.

Watts’s, 573.

Walton, William, 450.

Walterton, Hugh de, 174;

William de, 236.

Webbe, Richard, 440; Mr.
possesses Little Farborne MA=
NOR, in Harrietsham, A. 566.

Wecherlin, Rodulph, 305; ac=
count of, 416

Well, famous one, at Sheerness,
232; at Queenborough, 239.

Wenman, Philip, viscount,
account of, 176; Wenman,
and others, possess Milton hun=
dred, 3, A. 571; the fishery
at Milton, 169; Milton MA=
NOR, 177; Calehill MANOR,
in Minster, 226; Shurland
MANOR and SEAT, 250;
Northwood MANOR, in East=
church, 252.

Wentworth, Thomas, 237;
Roger, 453.

Weregavel, rent of 266.

West, Mrs. possesses Paradise
FARM, in Hartlip, 16.

West, James, 28, 253; account
of, 260; Robert, 93.

Westbrooke, Mrs. possesses Key=
cole FARM, in Newington,

63, A. 571.

Westland, in Murston, 229.

Westley, Rev. John, A. 559.

Westminster, St. Stephen’s col=
lege in, 280.

Westmoreland, earl of, A. 567.

WESTWOOD MANOR, in Pres=
ton, 278, 536.

Whalley’s, 278.

Whatman, Arthur, 516, 524;

Whatman’s, 512.

Wheler, John, of Faversham,

333.

Whiston, Samuel, clerk, A.
562.

WHITE’S MANOR, in Lenham,
A. 565.

Whitaker, John, A. 560.
White, George, 455; Mary,



539; White’s, of Vinters,
553.

WHITEHILL HAMLET, in Os=
pringe, 501.

WHITEMAN'’S SEAT, in Dod+
dington, 307.

Whitfield’s, 101.
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Whitlock’s key, in Milton, 166.
Whitmore, Sir Thomas, 62.
Whitstaple church, 472.
Wiarton, borough of, 51.
Wickens, Rev. William, 432.
Wickham, William of, 233.
Wild’s, of St. Martin’s hill,
429, 432.

WILDERTON MANOR, in
Throwley, 453; —- NORTH
MANOR, 454; — GREAT,
alias SOUTH, MANOR, 455.

Wilgate green, in Throwley,
446.

Wilkins’s, of Tong, account of,
138, 142.

Wilkinson, John, 236.

Wilks, Edward, 447.

Williams, Thomas, lessee of
Horsham MANOR, in Up=
church, 29; possesses Kings=
down MANOR, 114.

Williams, Walter, present vicar of
Throwley, 461.

Williamson, James, clerk, A.
563.

Willis, Philerenis, 446.

Wilson, John, of Faversham,
account of, 323.

Winchelsea, Finch’s, earls of,
351, 436.

Wine, tenths of, at Tenham,
289.

Wingfield valley, in Stalisfield,
441,

Winterbottom, Thomas, clerk,
A. 561.

Wise, Henry, possesses Posiers
MANOR, and Vigo, alias
Gorts MANOR, in Borden, 74;
A. 572; William possesses
Wrens FARM, in Borden, A.
572; Cromps, alias Baxon
MANOR, in Bredgar, A. 573,
John occupies Wrens, in Bor=
den, A. 572.

Withred, king of Kent, 123.

Wivarlet, lath of. See Scray.

Wolgate’s, of Wolgate-green,
73, 126, 446.

Wollet, Robert, 73.

Wolsey, cardinal, 66.

Wood, Thomas, of Ospringe,
516; Wood'’s, 521; —- of



Tunstall, 93.

Wood, atte, family of, 478.

WOQOOD, alias HOAD-STREET
HAMLET, in Borden, 68, 74,
A.572.

Wood-street house, in Bapchild,
122.

WOODS-COURT MANOR, in
Badlesmere, 478.

Wood, Samuel, occupies a house
in Borden, A. 573.

Woodgate, William, possesses
a house for Tunbridge castle,
A. 560; the demesnes of So=
merhill, in Tunbridge, ibid.
Halkwell, in Tudeley, ibid.

Woodokes, 32.

Woodstock MANOR, in Tun=
stall. See Pistock.

Woodward’s, of Throwley, 447,
460.

Worcester, John Tiptoft, earl
of, 54.

Worley, John, of Skuddington,
305.

WORNEDALE, alias BORDEN
MANOR, in Newington, 61;

Wornedale’s, 61.

Wotton, John, clerk, 70;

Wotton’s, 443.

Wraytle’s, of Ospringe, 515.

Wreight's, of Whitehill, ac=
count of, 502.

WRENS, alias RAINS FARM,
in Borden, 68, 75, A. 572.

Writhe, Barbara, 480.

WROTHAM, parish of, A. 556.

Wulf, Radulph, clerk, 97.

Waulrington. See Wilderton.

Wurmedall, Roger de, 129.

Wyatt’s, 26, 72, 100, 287.

XXXViii
Wynne, John and Lydia, pos=

sess Arnolds MANOR, in Eas=
ling, 435.

Y.

YALDING, parish of, A. 557,
558.

Yelsted MANOR, in Stockbury,
A. 570.

YOKE, alias PETER DODS=
WELL, MANOR, in Bredgar,
A. 573.

Yokes seat, in Mereworth, A.
556.

Yokes court, in Frinsted, A.
570.

YOKES, subordinate manors so
called A. 570.

York, Richard, duke of, 137;
James, duke of, 256.



York Herald, John Water,
429.

Young, James, clerk, present cu=
rate of Leeds, A. 569.
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THE LATH OF SCRAY.

THIS lath is called SHERWINHOPE in antient re=
cords, and in the book of Domesday, the lath of Wi=
warlet. It lies the next adjoining eastward from that
of Aylesford last described, and contains within its
bounds, the following hundreds:

1. MILTON, alias MIDDLE=
TON.

. TENHAM.

. FAVERSHAM.

. BOUGHTON under Blean.
MARDEN.

. CRANBROOKE.

. BARKLEY.

. GREAT BARNFIELD

. ROLVENDEN.

10. SELBRITTENDEN.

11. TENTERDEN, and

12. BLACKBORNE.

©ONOOAWN

It has also within its bounds the township of Newenden, which is
not in any hundred.
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The hundreds of Felborough, Wye, Calehill, Chart,
and Longbridge, and the township of Ashford, were once
esteemed all within this lath, but they have been long



since separated from it, and are now accounted as part
of the lath of Shipway.

The hundred of Bircholt barony is in antient re=
cords stiled the neutral hundred of Bircholt barony, from
its being exempt from the jurisdiction of any lath
whatsoever; but as it lies surrounded by those pa=
rishes which are included in the lath of Shipway, an
account of it will be given when those adjoining to it
in that lath come to be described.

THE

HUNDRED

OF

MILTON, ALIAS MIDDLETON.

THE hundred of Milton, as it is usually called,
but more properly Middleton, lies the next hundred
northward from that of Eyhorne last described.

It is an appendage to the manor of Milton, and
was formerly stiled the court of antient demesne, held
for the hundred of Milton; the jurisdiction of which
includes the several parishes of the Isle of Shepey
within its bounds, excepting Harty, which is in Fa=
versham hundred.

It has the manor and hundred of Marden annexed
as an appendage to it, which has been so from time
immemorial.

In the pleas of the crown, taken before the justices
itinerant, anno 21 Edward |. it is noted, that the
hundred of Middleton was the king’s hundred, with
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that of Marden; and further, that John de Shorne

and Daniel de Burgham, whilst bailiffs of Middleton,
held pleas weekly for five days, wherever they thought
fit throughout that hundred; in which roll, mention

is likewise made of one Lucas de Gare, Camerarius de
Middleton.

In the 25th year of the above reign this hundred
had a distinct coroner of its own, and was then farmed
of the king by John de Northwood, and anno 7 Ed=
ward Ill. when queen Philippa had a grant of i, the
return of writs was granted to her within it.

In the tower records, among the clause-rolls of the
1st year of Richard Il. No. 33, the men of this hun=
dred were exempted from all watch and ward on the
sea-coasts, excepting in the island of Shepey.

Though the manor and hundred of Milton was
granted, for lives and for terms of years, at different
times, a more ample account of which, and of its se=
veral privileges, will be given in the description of the
manor itself hereafter, yet the fee of it remained un=
interrupted in the crown till king Charles I. in his 10th
year granted it in fee to Sir Edward Browne and Chris=
topher Favell, since which it has passed in like man=
ner as the manor of Milton, of which a more ample
account will be given hereafter, to the present owners
of it, the right hon. Sophia, countess dowager Wen=
man, and her sister Mrs. Anne Herbert, who are now
jointly possessed of this hundred and manor, with that
of Marden appendant to it.

THIS HUNDRED CONTAINS WITHIN ITS BOUNDS THE PA=



RISHES AND CHURCHES OF

. RAINHAM.

. HARTLIP.

. UPCHURCH.

. HALSTOW THE LOWER.

. NEWINGTON.

. BORDEN.

. TUNSTALL.

. BREDGAR.

. MILSTED.

10. KINGSDOWNE near Sit=
tingborne.

11. RODMERSHAM.

12. BAPCHILD.

13. TONG.

14. MURSTON.

15. SITTINGBORNE.

16. MILTON, alias MIDDLE=

TON.
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17. BOBBING, and
18. IWADE.

And in the Island of Shepey, which is usually stiled Shepey
Liberty, the parishes and churches of

. MINSTER.

. QUEENBOROUGH.
. EASTCHURCH.

. WARDEN.

. LEYSDOWN, and

. ELMLEY.

And likewise part of the parishes of BICKNOR and STOCK=
BURY, the churches of which are in another hundred.

O©oOoNOOORA~OWN =

OO WN =

This hundred is under the jurisdiction of three
constables, one of which is appointed for the liberty
of the Island of Shepey.

RAINHAM,

CALLED in antient deeds Renham, lies the next
parish northward from Bredhurst, and the next east=
ward from Gillingham.

The whole of this parish is in the division of East-
Kent, which begins here, the adjoining parish of Gil=
lingham westward, being wholly in that of West
Kent. lIts situation is for the most part low and un=
pleasant, and from its nearness and exposure to the
marshes very unhealthy, it contains upwards of 2,100
acres of land, beside woods, which are about five hun=
dred and forty acres. The high road from London
to Dover leads through it, on which, at a little more
than the thirty-fourth mile stone from London, is the
village called Rainham-street, having the church,
with the parsonage and vicarage in it; at the east
end of it there is a neat modern-built house, belong=
ing to John Russell, esqg. of Greenwich, and about a
quarter of a mile further eastward on the road, the
hamlet of Moore-street. From the high road the
ground rises southward to a dreary barren country
among the woods, which is exceeding hilly, the soil



at places chalky and much covered with flints, over
which it extends till it joins Bredhurst, its southern
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boundary. About the street, and northward of it,
where the country lies more flat and even, though
declining to that aspect, the soil too changes, and be=
comes a fertile and kindly land both for corn and

fruit, insomuch that this parish has been noted for
growing some of the best wheat that this kingdom has
produced; and it had till within memory many plan=
tations of cherries and apples, especially on the lands
adjoining the high road, and to the northward of it,

but the greatest part of them have been displanted
some years since. About a mile below the street
north-westward, situated on the road leading from
Chatham through Gillingham and this parish to King’s
Ferry and the Isle of Shepey, is the hamlet of West,

or Lower Rainham-street, on the south side of which
stood the old mansion of Bloor’s-place, mentioned
hereafter, great part of which was pulled down a few
years ago to adapt the size of it to that of a farm-
house, though what still remains of it, with the gar=
den walls, offices, &c. shew it to have been of large
size, well suited to the hospitality of those times, and
to the rank which the founder of it held among the
gentry of the county; about half a mile south-west=
ward from hence is Berengrave, and at a less distance
eastward the estate of Mackland, belonging to the
charity of the chest at Chatham, the present lessee of
which is Mrs. Nash. At a small distance below the
last-mentioned road are the fresh marshes, and beyond
the wall which incloses them a quantity of salts, the
northern boundary of which, and of this parish, is
Otterham creek, which joins the Medway at each end
of it. In the return of the survey made of the several
places in this county, where there were any shipping,
boats, &c. by order of queen Elizabeth, in her 8th
year, Rainham is said to contain houses inhabited
eight, and three keys, the common key, Blower’s

key, belonging to John Tufton the younger, and
Hastings key, belonging to Henry Laurence, and the
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heirs of Jeffry Empson; ships and boats thirteen,
from one up to thirty-five tons, and persons occupied
in carrying from port to port twelve.

In king Henry Vlth.’s reign Sir John Pashley re=
sided at Rainham, he married the widow of John
Beaufitz, of the adjoining parish of Gillingham. The
family of Norden resided in this parish for some ge=
nerations, one of whom John Norden, died in 1580,
and lies buried in the chancel of this church, their
arms were formerly painted in the windows, and now
remain at each corner of his grave-stone in brass.

In the 14th year of king Edward Il. there were
commissioners assigned to take a view of the banks
and ditches lying on the banks of the Medway, near
Rainham, which had received much decay from the
fresh waters, and again, anno 50 Edward Ill. others
were assigned for the view of those situated in Mo=
teneye marsh, at the manor called Quenes-court, and
to proceed according to the law and custom of the



realm./a

The paramount manor of Milton claims over this
parish, subordinate to which is the manor of

MERE, alias MERES COURT, which lies in the bo=
rough of Mere, in the southern part of this parish, ad=
joining to Bredhurst, and was in very early times part
of the possessions of a family who implanted their
name on it, as well as on another estate near it, for=
merly called Merethorne, but now usually Maresbar=
row, corruptly for Mere’s borough.

Peter de Mere, and Walter and Geoffry de Mere=
dale, were owners of these and other estates in this pa=
rish as early as the reign of king John. However, be=
fore the reign of Edward I. the manor of Mere, with
Merethorne alias Meresborough, was become the
property of Roger de Leyborne, whose son Sir Wil=
liam de Leyborne became possessed of it in the 2d

/a Dugdale’s History of Embanking, p. 42, 45.
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year of Edward |. on his mother’s death, and held it
in capite, together with the manor of Mere, by the
service of walking principal lardner at the king’s coro=
nation. His grand-daughter Juliana, called the In=
fanta of Kent, carried this manor and estate in mar=
riage to her several husbands successively, by neither of
whom she had any issue, and surviving them, died in
the 41st year of Edward Ill. when no one being found
who could make claim to any of her estates, as her
heir, they escheated to the crown, where this manor,
with Meresborough, seems to have remained till it
was purchased from thence, in the beginning of the
next reign of Richard Il. by the feoffees in trust, for
the performance of certain religious bequests in the
will of Edward Ill. and was in consequence of it set=
tled with Bredhurst manor and others, as already men=
tioned more amply before, on the dean and canons of
St. Stephen’s chapel, at Westminster, for the per=
formance of the religious purposes therein mentioned./b
In which situation this manor continued till the 1st
year of Edward VI.s reign, when this free chapel was,
among others, dissolved by the act of that year, and
the lands and possessions of it were surrendered up
into the king’s hands, who in his 3d year granted the
manor of Mere-court, with Meresborough, lately in
the tenure of Sir Christopher Hales, deceased, to Sir
Thomas Cheney, treasurer of his houshold, whose son
and heir Henry Cheney, esq. of Todington, in Bed=
fordshire, together with Jane his wife, alienated these
premises, held in capite, in the 12th year of that reign,
by the description of the manors of Merecourt, alias
Merescourt, Merethorne, and Bradhurst, with their
appurtenances, to Richard Thornhill, grocer, and ci=
tizen of London.

/b Rot. Esch. an. 12 Richard Il. N. 159. confirmed anno 21
ejus Regn. Pat. 1, m. 35, p. 3. See Dugd. Mon. vol. iii. pt. ii.
p. 64 et seq.
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After which, Sir Henry Cheney, then lord Cheney
of Todington, granted and made over to him all li=
berties, franchises, royalties, assize of bread, wine, and



ale, green-wax, and all other privileges within the
above manors, which he had ever possessed, or had in
any shape a right to; which liberties were claimed by
Richard Thornhill, esg. and judgment was given for
them in his behalf by the barons of the exchequer,

on a trial had in Michaelmas term in the 17th year of
that reign./c

From him they descended in like manner as Bred=
hurst down to Charles Thornhill, esg. who in the reign
of king Charles Il. alienated the manor of Merecourt,
with that of Bredhurst, for Meresborough appears to
have been sold elsewhere, to Sir John Banks, bart.
whose daughter and coheir Elizabeth, then married
to Heneage Finch, second son of Heneage, earl of
Nottingham, entitled her husband to them, in whose
descendants, earls of Aylesford, this estate has conti=
nued down to the right hon. Heneage, earl of Ayles=
ford, who is the present possessor of it.

BUT MERETHORNE, called also Mereborough, and
now usually Maresbarrow, was alienated by Charles
Thornhill, esq. in the reign of Charles Il. to John
Tufton, earl of Thanet, whose descendant, the right
hon. Sackville Tufton, earl of Thanet, is the present
owner of it.

SILHAM, or Sileham-court, as it is now usually
called, is a manor likewise, in the southern part of this
parish, of which Walter Auburie died possessed in the
1st year of Edward |. After which it came into the
possession of Peter de Meredale, in right of Agnes his
wife, by whom he had two sons, William and Roger,
who were possessed of it jointly, as heirs in gavelkind,
in the reign of Edward II. After which it became

/c Mich. in Scacc. ex parte Rememb. Thesaur. rot. 81.

Coke’s Entries, p. 104, &c.
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the property of Donet, which family increased its pos=
sessions in this parish by the purchase of the estate of
Roger de Reynham, in the beginning of the reign of
Edward Ill. At length it descended down to James
Donet, who died in 1409, holding this manor in ca=
pite. He lies buried in the high chancel of this church,
in one of the windows of which were formerly his arms,
Argent, three pair of barnacles, gules. On his death
without male issue, his sole daughter and heir Mar=
garet carried this manor in marriage to John St, Le=
ger, esq. of Ulcomb, sheriff anno 9 Henry VI. whose
descendant Sir Anthony St. Leger, lord deputy of
Ireland in king Henry the Vllith.'s reign alienated

that part of his estate here purchased of Reynham, and
other lands late belonging to the priory of Leeds,
(which had been given to it soon after its foundation,
by John de Evesham, clerk, and were possessed by it
at the surrendry of it) to Sir Thomas Cheney, trea=
surer of the king’s houshold, whose son Henry Che=
ney, esqg. of Todington, sold them again (together

with Merecourt and Meresbarrow, in manner as has
been mentioned before) to Richard Thornhill, esq.
whose descendant Charles Thornhill, in Charles Il’'s
reign, passed them away to John Sackville, earl of
Thanet, and his descendant the right hon. Sackville
Tufton, earl of Thanet, the present possessor of them.

See



But the manor of Silham, or Sileham-court, was sold
by Sir Anthony St. Leger to Christopher Bloor, esq.
who rebuilt his seat in this parish, called

BLOORS-PLACE, in which his ancestors had resided
for several generations. He procured his lands to be
disgavelled by the act of 2 and 3 Edward VI. and
died possessed of this manor and seat, having married
the daughter of John Colepepyr, esq. of Aylesford,
by whom he left no male issue; upon which Olym=
pia, one of his daughters and coheirs, entitled her hus=
band John Tufton, esq. of Hothfield, to the posses=
sion of them. He is said, by the pedigrees of this fa=
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mily to have been descended from ancestors, whose
original name was Toketon, and as appears by several
deeds inserted in them, were possessed so early as the
reign of king John, of lands lying near Meredale, and

in the reign of Edward I. and Il. of others near Sile=
ham and in the borough of Mere and elsewhere in

this parish, hence they removed to Northiam, in Sus=
sex, and thence again in king Edward the VIth.s

reign, to Hothfield, in this county, where they have
continued ever since./d

John Tufton above-mentioned, continued to re=
side at Hothfield, and was created a baronet in 1611.
His eldest son Sir Nicholas Tufton was first created
lord Tufton, and afterwards earl of Thanet, and in
his descendants, earls of Thanet, the manor of Sile=
ham-court, with Bloors-place, and other estates in
this parish, have continued down to the right hon.
Sackville Tufton, earl of Thanet, the present pos=
sessor of them. There is no court held for this
manor.

THE MANOR OF QUEENS-COURT, with the farm
called BERENGRAVE, in this parish, was part of the
possessions of the crown, and continued so till queen
Alianore, widow of Henry Ill. and mother to king
Edward I. anno 1273, gave them, together with a
mill in this parish, by the description of her lands and
tenements, with their rights, liberties, and free cus=
toms, in the parishes of Renham and Herclope, to
the master aad brethren of St. Katherine’s hospital,
near the Tower, to hold in pure and perpetual alms,
free from all secular service whatsoever, which was
confirmed by king Edward . in his 20th year. Queen
Philippa, wife of Edward llIl. greatly enlarged this
royal hospital, which had been founded by queen
Maud, wife of king Stephen, before the year 1148,
and was augmented afterwards by the several queens

/d See more of them hereafter under Hothfield.
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of England, so that there was sufficient to maintain a
master, three brethren chaplains, three sisters, ten
poor women, with six poor clerks. In which state it
continued in the reigns of king Henry VIIl. and Ed=
ward VI. when it escaped the general suppression of
such foundation; so that the fee of this manor of
Queens-court, with Berengrave, and other premises in
this parish, remain at this time part of the possessions
of it. Lady Sackville was lessee of it in 1653, and



afterwards Sir Richard Colepepyr.
Mr. John Fowle is the present lessee of this estate,
which is held by lease for three lives.

CHARITIES.

TWO ACRES and twenty-five perches of land, planted with
cherries, of the yearly rent of 2I. 10s. One acre, three roods,
and fifteen perches of land, planted with pears, of the yearly
rent of 3I. 10s One acre, three roods, and twenty-four perches
of land, planted with apples, of the yearly rent of 4. Also
one acre, or thereabouts, of wood-land in this parish, of the
yearly value of 5s. are the gifts of persons unknown, to the poor
of this parish.

AN ANNUITY of 4I. was given by John Colson, in 1593, by
deed, to the industrious poor of this parish, payable out of an
estate near Payton street, in Lower Halstow, vested in West
Hyde, esq.

AN ANNUITY of 4. payable yearly out of Mardale and
Chapel-fields, in this parish, purchased with the sum of 50I.
given by Frances, countess dowager of Thanet, and with the sum of
201. raised by the contribution of the parishioners in 1653,
vested in John Russell, esq.

TWO TENEMENTS in West Rainham were bought by the pa=
rishioners in 1677, now inhabited by the poor.

ONE POUND five shillings is payable out of the poors rates
yearly, for the interest of money, for which the poors estate in
Cliff was sold in the year 1700.

AN ANNUITY of 11. was devised to the poor of this parish
by the will of Mr. John Adams, in 1723, payable out of a
cherry-garden, containing five acres, in Hydore-lane, in this
parish, vested in John Russell, esq. All which gifts are disposed
of by the minister and parish officers to such industrious poor as
receive no alms, on Good Friday and St. Thomas’s day yearly.

The poor constantly relieved are about thirty-six; casually,
including vagrants and with passes about 200.
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RAINHAM is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JU=
RISDICTION of the diocese of Canterbury, and deanry
of Sittingborne.

The church, which is dedicated to St. Margaret,
is a handsome building, consisting of two very broad
isles, and two chancels, with a high beacon tower at
the west end of it, in which are six bells and a clock.
There was formerly some good painted glass in the
windows of this church, all which has been long since
destroyed. Among it were the following coats of
arms: Three lions passant, guardant, a label of three
points; Azure, two bars, or, between nine cross-croslets
of the second; Or, a saltier engrailed, sable; Or, a cross
pointed and voided, sable; Per pale, gules and azure, a
cross moline, argent; Three pair of barnacles extended,
for Donet; A chevron, between three attires of a stag,
fixed to the scalps, for Cocks, and, On a fess, between
three beavers, passant, as many cross croslets fitchee,
for Norden.

The high chancel belongs to the parsonage of
Rainham. In it lie buried several of the family of
Allen; John Norden, esq. as has been already men=
tioned; Thomas Norreys, esq. master of the Trinity-
house, and commissioner of the navy. There is a
small monument with the effigies of him and his wife
kneeling at a desk, arms, Argent, billettee, a cross pattee



flore, sable. On the north side of the altar is a hand=
some tomb of Bethersden marble, the brasses gone.
On the pavement a memorial in brass, for John Bloor,
obt. 1529; near it are several others robbed of their
brasses, some of which might probably belong to the
same family. The north chancel belongs to the earl
of Thanet. In it are two costly monuments, one of
them having the effigies of a man in military attire,
fitting on part of his armour, erected for George, sixth
son of John Tufton, earl of Thanet, by Margaret,
daughter and coheir of Richard, earl of Dorset, obt.
1670; the other having the figure of a person in his

13

parliamentary robes, erected for Nicholas, earl of
Thanet, obt. 1679. In the north west corner of the
north isle, is a vault for the family of John Russell,
esqg. of Greenwich. Underneath this chancel are two
large vaults, partly above ground, in which are depo=
sited the remains of the family of Tufton. These
vaults, and perhaps the chancel over them, were most
probably built by Christopher Bloor, esq. whose re=
mains are deposited in the easternmost of them. On
October 20, 1791, the steeple was greatly damaged
by a storm of thunder, the lightning of which spilit the
wall of it for several feet in length.

Robert de Crevequer, the founder of Leeds-abbey,
about the year 1137, gave to the canons there, in free
and perpetual alms, all the churches of his estates,
with the advowsons of them, and among them that
of Renham, with eighteen acres of land in that pa=
rish, which gift was made in the presence of William,
archbishop of Canterbury, and John, bishop of Ro=
chester./e

It was at the latter end of king Edward the Illd.’s
reign, appropriated to that priory, and the parsonage
of it was valued in 1384, anno 8 king Richard Il. at
26l. 15s. 4d. which, with the advowson, continued
part of the possessions of the priory till the dissolution
of it in the reign of Henry VIII. when it was, with
all its revenues, surrendered up into the king’s hands.

This church, with the advowson of the vicarage,
remained in the hands of the crown till the year 1558,
anno 6 queen Mary, when the queen granted the ad=
vowson among others, to the archbishop of Canter=
bury, with whom it has remained ever since, his grace
the archbishop of Canterbury being now patron of it.

But the parsonage of this church remained longer
in the hands of the crown. Queen Elizabeth granted
it, in her 10th year, to Dorothy Stafford, for the term

/e See the confirmations of it in Dugd. Mon. vol. ii. p. 110.
14

of thirty years, at the yearly rent of sixteen pounds.
After which the fee of it was granted to Moyle, and
captain Robert Moyle died possessed of it in 1659,
whose grandson, John Moyle, esq. of Buckwell, left

an only daughter and heir Mary, who carried it in
marriage to Robert Breton, esq. of the EImes, near
Dover, and he died possessed of it in 1708. His el=
dest son Moyle Breton, esq. of Kennington, succeeded
him in this estate, which he alienated to Sir Edward



Dering, bart. whose son Sir Edward Dering, bart. is
the present possessor of it.

The vicarage is valued in the king’s books at
14l. 4s. 7d. and the yearly tenths at 11. 8s. 5'2d.

In 1640 it was valued at seventy pounds. Com=
municants one hundred. It is now of the value of
about two hundred pounds per annum.

CHURCH OF RAINHAM.

PATRONS,
Or by whom presented. VICARS.

The Archbishop. Christopher Powell, S. T. B.
July 6, 1595, obt. Jan. 10,
1609./f
John Grime, A. M. Feb. 21,
1609
The King. The same, August 1, 1610.
The King, sede vac. Thomas Bladen, A. M. Nov. 9,
1646./g
Thomas Lambe, A. M. obt.
April 11, 1662./h
The Archbishop. John Campleshon, A. M. May 14,
1662.
William Walter, A. M. July 19,
1665, resigned 1676.
Thomas Cradock, A. B. Oct. 2,
1676, obt. Oct. 9, 1723./i

/f He lies buried in the high chancel.

/g This is the last induction in the
Register-office of Canterbury, till the
restoration in 1660, that office being
in the intermediate time suppressed.

/h He lies buried in the high chan=
cel; on his gravestone he is said to
have been six years vicar.

/i Likewise rector of Frinsted. He
lies buried in the south isle of this
church. His son Thomas Cradock was
M. D. and eminent in his practice at
Rochester, where he died in 1781, and
was buried here.
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PATRONS, &c. VICARS.

The Archbishop. Henry Shove, Oct. 19, 1723,
obt. Dec. 8, 1771./k

William Taswell, A. B. 1772,
resigned 1777./1

James Richards, Nov. 7, 1777,
the present vicar.

/k And vicar of Doddington.

/I Before vicar of Brookland. He
vacated this vicarage for that of Ayle=
sham, in Norfolk.

HARTLIP

IS the next parish south-eastward from Rainham.
It is not so unhealthy a situation as Rainham, lying
further from the marshes, the noxious vapours of



which are intercepted, in some measure, by the inter=
vening hills, it contains about one thousand and forty
acres of land, besides one hundred and sixteen acres of
wood. The London road runs along the northern

side of it, where the soil is very gravelly, whence the
ground rises up to the village, which is situated, as
well as the church, on the west side of it, on high
ground, surrounded by frequent orchards of apple and
cherry trees, which renders the view of it from the
London road very pleasing, though several of these
plantations being worn out and decayed, have been
grubbed up. Notwithstanding the gravelly soil still
continues, there is some fertile land, the hedge-rows
of which, and throughout this and the other parts

of the parish before-mentioned, being filled with rows
of tall spiring elms; above the village the soil becomes
chalky, extending over a poor and barren country,
very hilly and much covered with flints, having a

great quantity of coppice woods, interspersed over it.
In this part of the parish is a long tract of waste
ground, called Queen-down, which was for many years
a noted warren for rabbits, but it has been disused for
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some time past. In the north-east part of the parish,
about half a mile from the London road, there is a

good old mansion, situated in the midst of fruit grounds,
called Paradise, having a large farm belonging to it.

In queen Elizabeth’s time it was the property of Row=
land Searle, gent afterwards it came into the name of
Pitt; the widow of admiral Temple West was lately
possessed of it.

William Brooke, escheator of this county in the
reign of James |. resided at Hartlip. He was the eldest
son of Cranmer Brooke, esq. of Ashford, the grand=
son of Thomas, the second surviving son of John,
lord Cobham.

In and about this and the adjoining parishes, many
lands are called by the name of Dane, as Dane-field,
Dane-croft, Danoway, and the like, which shews that
nation to have formerly had much intercourse here=
about. In one of these, called Lower Dane-field, be=
longing to Maresbarrow-farm, at the south-west cor=
ner of it, and about a mile’s distance south-westward
from the church of Hartlip, there were discovered
about fifty years ago the ruins of a building, the top
of which reached but even with the surface of the
ground; a quantity of the earth within it was cleared
away, in hopes, as usual, of finding hidden treasure.
As it appears at present, the east end of it has been
cleared of the earth, which filled it, about three feet
deep, and thence gradually deeper, in length sixty feet,
to the west end of it, where it is about ten feet deep.

At each end of it, where the walls return as part of a
square, they are plaistered over; in the narrow part,
between these extremes, they are bare, and appear to
be composed of large flint stones, laid regularly in rows;
on the upper part, even with the surface of the ground,
there are two rows of large Roman tiles, laid close to=
gether. They are of a very large size, and some of
them are made with a rim at the end, to lap over the
others. Great quantities of these tiles are scattered
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round about the place, and many foundations of
buildings have been from time to time discovered in
different parts of the adjoining grounds.

Several bushels of wheat were found in the room at
the western part of this building, which seemed, some
of it, parched and scorched by the fire, and some of
it was turned entirely into black ashes; and there
were some tares likewise, but not so large a quantity.
Nothing else whatever was found among the earth
with which it was filled. Underneath is a sketch of
the ground plot of it.

The manor of Milton claims paramount over the
whole of this parish.

POPES-HALL is an estate situated in it, which had
formerly owners of the surname of Pope, who resided
at this seat till the latter end of king Henry VIl’s
reign, when Richard Pope alienated it to Christopher
Bloor, esq. of Rainham, whose daughter and heir
Olympia carried it in marriage to John Tufton, esq.
of Hothfield, and in his descendants, earls of Tha=
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net, this estate has continued down to the right hon.

Sackville, earl of Thanet, the present possessor of it./m
CROFT, alias YAUGER, is an antient mansion in

this parish, which was formerly, as appeared by several

old deeds without date, the patrimony of William de

Elmsted, in whose family it did not continue long, for

in the 13th year of Edward I. it was become the pro=

perty of Roger de Northwood, in whose descendants

it remained until the beginning of the reign of king

Henry VI. when it was conveyed by sale to Norton,

of Borden, from whom, in the 4th year of king Ed=

ward IV. one part of it was alienated to Champneys,

as was the remainder of it, in the 8th year of that

reign, from which name it was again reconveyed back

again to Norton, in two parts likewise, in the 24th

and 36th years of Henry VIII. in which name it re=

mained till John Norton, in the 4th and 5th year of

king Philip and queen Mary, conveyed his right in it

to Gilbert Fremlin, who in the 15th year of queen

Elizabeth sold it to John Palmer, who bore for his

arms, Sable, a fess between three lions rampant, or. He

was the eldest brother of William, of Snodland, and

resided at Hartlip. His son, Sir Anthony Palmer, was

knighted at the coronation of king James |. and left

by his second wife Margaret, daughter of Thomas

Diggs, of Chilham, three sons, of whom Dudley Pal=

mer, esq. the eldest son, possessed this estate, which in

the reign of king Charles I. he alienated to Sir Tho=

mas Crew, one of the king’s serjeants-at-law, descended

from the antient family of Crew, in the county pala=

tine of Chester, who bore for their arms, Azure, a lion

rampant, argent. His son John Crew, esq. of Stene,



in Northamptonshire, was anno 13 Charles Il. created
lord Crew, of Stene. His eldest son, Thomas, lord
Crew, left two daughters his coheirs, Anne, married
to Mr. Jolliffe, of London, merchant, and Tempe=

/m See more of the earls of Thanet under Hothfield.
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rance, to Rowland Alston, esg. son and heir of Sir
Rowland Alston, bart. of Woodhall, in Bedford=
shire, the latter of whom in his wife’s right became
possessed of this estate of Croft, alias Yauger, which
his son Sir Thomas Alston, bart. alienated in the pre=
sent reign to Arthur Jones, esq. whose only daughter
and heir carried it in marriage in 1780 to John Mac=
namara, esq. and he, in her right, is the present pos=
sessor of it.

GRAYNEY is a manor in this parish, corruptly so
called for Graveney, by which name it is mentioned
in old deeds, having been antiently the patrimony of
a family of that surname, of which one of them, Ste=
phen de Graveney, held it in the reign of king Ed=
ward |. and in his descendants the property of it con=
tinued till the reign of Henry VI. After which it
came into the possession of John Maney, esq. of Bid=
denden, whose descendant Sir John Mayney, of Lin=
ton, in this county, possessed it in the reign of king
Charles I. and was created a baronet in 1641.

How this estate passed after it was alienated from
this family, | have not found, but that it came at
length into the possession of Barrow, by virtue of a
mortgage made to him. He left three sons, who set=
tled at Borden, Newington, and Shorne, and his wi=
dow surviving, to whom he devised this estate by will.
She afterwards married Jordan, and then Wildash;
on her decease, this estate became divided into moie=
ties, one of which became the property of her only
surviving son by her first husband Barrow, and the
other moiety of her son by her second husband Mr.
Jordan. Mr. Barrow afterwards purchased the last-
mentioned moiety, and so became possessed of the
whole of this manor, which at his death he, by will,
devised to his widow Mrs. Barrow, and she is at pre=
sent entitled to it.

THE FAMILY of Osborne was seated in this parish
before the reign of Edward IV. their seat here being
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called Hartlip-place, situated at Cruxhill, in the wes=

tern part of this parish, so called from its having been
formerly the residence of the family of Crux, the de=
scendants of which afterwards removed to Sheldwich

and Milton. They bore for their arms, Argent, on a

pale, within a bordure, sable, an eagle displayed, between
two crosses, formee of the first./n Here the Osbornes re=
sided for several generations. The first of this family
whom | have met with is William Osborne, who was

of Hartlip, and died in 1464. He was succeeded by

John Osborne, his son, who was one of the auditors

of the queen’s exchequer, and died in 1577, both of
whom, as well as their several descendants, lie buried

in the north chancel of this church, usually called the
Osborne’s chancel. They bore for their arms, Quar=



terly, argent and azure; in the first and fourth quarter,
an ermine spot, over all, a cross, or, charged with five
annulets, sable. At length it descended to John Os=
borne, esq. of Hartlip-place, who built for his resi=
dence a large house, about half a mile south-west from
the church, in this parish, which he named Dane-
house. He afterwards removed to Maidstone, on ac=
count of a most daring robbery committed on him
whilst he resided at Dane-house, after which it stood
many years uninhabited, and was at last entirely
pulled down. He died in 1683, and was succeeded

by his son Thomas Osborne, esq. major of the mi=
litia, whose two sons, John and Thomas, successively
inherited his estates in this parish, and both dying s. p.
were buried with their ancestors in Hartlip church;

on which their two sisters became their coheirs, of
whom Elizabeth was married to Richard Tylden, esq.
of Milsted, and Mary to the Rev. Mr. Milway, of
Borden; the latter of whom sold her share of these
estates in which the scite of Dane-house was included,
to Tyndale, of Gloucestershire, and of Bobbing, in

/n See Guillim’s Heraldry, p. 211.
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this county, whose descendant William Tyndale, of
North Certon, in Gloucestershire, is the present pro=
prietor of them; but Hartlip-place, Queendown-war=
ren, and the residue of the Osborne estates in this pa=
rish, were allotted to Mr. Tylden, who had one son
the Rev. Richard Osborne Tilden, of Milsted, and
three daughters, of whom, Hannah was married to
Edward Belcher, esqg. of Ulcomb; Mary, to the Rev.
Thomas Bland, and the third, Philippa, died unmar=
ried. His widow survived him, and becoming pos=
sessed of this estate, levied a fine of it, and died in
1766, having by her will devised the whole of her in=
terest in it to her two daughters, Mary and Philippa.
Hartlip-place was included in that part devised to the
former, who died possessed of it in 1780; upon which,
by the limitation in the above will, it descended to
her two younger sons, Thomas and William Bland,
but the former having before sold his interest in the
reversion of it to his brother, Mr. William Bland, he
became possessed of it, and is the present owner of it.
The other part of the Osborne estate, devised to
Mrs. Philippa Tylden, which included the freehold
part of Queendown, has been since alienated; but the
remainder of Queendown, containing about seventy
acres, being held of the master and brethren of St.
Catherine’s hospital, near the Tower, by lease, was
renewed in the name of the Rev. Mr. Tylden, on
whose death in 1766, his interest in it descended to
his eldest son Richard Tylden, esq. of Milsted, who
is now entitled to it.

CHARITIES.

MRS. MARY GIBBON, by her will in 1678, gave a house
and six acres of land in Hartlip, of the value of about 12I. per
annum, for the purpose of putting to school poor children in=
habiting this parish, to be instructed in reading English; and,
in case the estate should be more than sufficient for that pur=
pose, then to put to school those inhabiting one of the adjoin=



ing parishes; and when such children should be able to read
English so well as to read any chapter in the bible, then for
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them to have a bible bought and given to such child who should
thereupon be taken from school. And she likewise charged it
with the payment of 20s. yearly to the vicar of Hartlip. The
land is now vested in Mr. William Danne, and the produce of

it in trust, to be applied by the minister and churchwardens for
the above purpose.

TWELVE BUSHELS of barley, one and a half of wheat, and
6s. 8d. in money, are yearly payable out of the parsonage of
Hartlip to the poor of this parish, given by a person unknown.

The sum of 20s. is yearly payable out of a farm in this pa=
rish belonging to Richard Tylden, of Milsted, given likewise
by a person unknown, and now vested in the churchwardens and
overseers.

The number of poor constantly relieved are about seventeen;
casually four.

HARTLIP is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JURIS=
DICTION of the diocese of Canterbury, and deanry of
Sittingborne.

The church is dedicated to St. Michael, and con=
sists of three isles and three chancels, with a square
tower at the west end of it, in which hang five bells.

King Henry Ill. in his 9th year, gave the church
of Hertlepe, with its appurtenances, to the prior of St.
Andrew’s, in Rochester.

Stephen, archbishop of Canterbury, in 1225, ad=
mitted the monks into the possession of this church,
to be possessed by them to their own proper uses for
ever: saving, nevertheles, a vicarage to be conferred
on a proper person at their presentation, who should
sustain the burthens of this church, reserving to him,
the archbishop, the taxation of the vicarage. Which
instrument was confirmed by John, prior, and the
convent of the church of Canterbury./o

The church of Hartlip, together with the advow=
son of the vicarage, remained part of the possessions of
the priory of Rochester till the dissolution of it in the
32d year of king Henry VIII. when it was, together

/o See the confirmation of the appropriation in Reg. Roff.
p. 185.
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with the rest of the possessions of it, surrendered up
into the king’s hands, who the next year settled it by

his dotation-charter on his new-erected dean and chap=
ter of Rochester, where the parsonage and advowson
of the vicarage remain at this time.

In the 8th year of Richard Il. the church of Hart=
lip was valued at 13I. 6s. 8d.

The vicarage is valued in the king’s books at
9l. 10s. 10d. and the yearly tenths at 19s. 1d. and is
of the yearly certified value of 62I. 18s. 8d.

In the survey of ecclesiastical benefices within the
diocese of Rochester, taken by order of the state in
1649, it was returned, that the parsonage of Hartlip,
late belonging to the late dean and chapter of Ro=
chester, consisted of a parsonage-house, barn, yard,
&c. and the tithe within the said parish, at the im=
proved rent of sixty-seven pounds per annum, and



sundry pieces of land, containing together twelve
acres and one rood, of the yearly value, with the above, of
69l. 19s. 7d. which premises were let by the late dean
and chapter, anno 15 Charles 1. to Henry Barrow, at
the yearly rent of nineteen pounds, and three couple
of good capons, so there remained the clear rent of
50l. 7s. 7d. per annum, out of which lease the vicarage
of Hartlip was excepted, worth forty-five pounds per
annum./p

The parsonage is now leased out by the dean and
chapter, but the advowson of the vicarage is reserved
in their own hands.

CHURCH OF HARTLIP.

PATRONS,
Or by whom presented. RECTORS.

Prior and convent of Rochester Thomas, the last rector, resigned
in 1225./q

/p Parl. Survey, Lambeth-library,
vol. xiv.
/q Reg. Roff. p. 412.
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PATRONS, &c. VICARS.

Thomas, the first vicar, in 1225.

Dean and chapter of Rochester George Boyce, A. B. July 18,
1595, obt. 1609.

Edmund Hayes, A. M. Jan. 12,
1609, resig. 1622.

Gabriel Salisbury, A. M. Jan.
16, 1622, and in 1638 ....

Edward Garland, obt. ....

John Lorkin, March 27, 1661.

Benjamin Crompe, obt. 1664.

John Edwards, A. M. Sept. 5,
1664, resigned 1676.

John Crew, A. M. Feb. 26,
1676, obt. 1704.

Robert Beresford, A. M. 1704,
resigned 1728./r

Walter Frank, A. B. Jan. 20,
1728, resigned 1747./s

Caesar Curtis, A. B. August 25,
1747, resigned 1750./t

Charles Soan, LL. B. inducted
Aug. 3, 1750, obt. Sept. 5,
1755.

Archbishop, hac vice. Pierce Dixon, A. B. March 13,
1756, resigned 1759

John Pratt, Nov. 3, 1759.

Richard Hodgson, obt. Feb.
1792./u

T. G. W. Walker, 1795, the
present vicar.

/r He resigned this vicarage for that
of Goudhurst.

/s Son of Dr. Frank, archdeacon of
Bedford, he was curate of Loose and
of Chatham.

/t See Stockbury before.

/u He was unfortunately trampled



to death under the horses of a coach
in seeing the king pass to the parlia=
ment house, on Jan. 31, 1792.

UPCHURCH

LIES the next parish northward from that of
Hartlip, and is so named from its high situation.

This parish lies in a most unhealthy situation, close
to the marshes, and a large extent of some hundreds
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of acres of salts beyond them, as far as Standgate
creek, the river Medway its northern boundary, the
noxious vapours arising from which, subject the inha=
bitants to continued intermittents, and shorten their
lives at a very early period; it contains about 1760
acres of land, near one hundred acres of wood, and
about 1200 acres of fresh and salt marsh; the face of
the country is rather hilly, the land in general is very
thin and poor, having much gravel mixed with it, the
other soils throughout it are in some parts black sand,
in others a stiff clay, of which latter there is but a
small portion; the poorness of the soil occasions the
growth of much broom and fern, or brakes in it, with
which there are many fields entirely covered. The
southern part of the parish has much woodland in=
terspersed throughout it, which is in general but of
ordinary value, being mostly oak coppice; the soil is
much however adapted to the growth of the elm,
with which the hedgerows abound, but these conti=
nued groves of tall spire trees stop the free circulation
of air, and render this place much more unwholesome
than it would otherwise be. The village of Up=
church, called the street, (through which the high
road leads from Chatham to Kingsferry and the Isle
of Shepey) stands on high ground, nearly in the
centre of the parish, with the church close to it, the
spire of which is accounted a sea mark.

It seems to have been of much more consequence
as well for its craft in shipping, as in the number of
its inhabitants, than it is at present, both of which are
much diminished from what they were formerly, and
the latter are in general now in a state of poverty. In
the return made of those places where there were any
shipping, boats, &c. anno 8 Elizabeth. Upchurch
is said to contain forty inhabited houses, three lack=
ing habitations, twelve ships and boats, from one ton
to fourteen; and fourteen persons occupied in carry=
ing from port to port, and fishing. At the western
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boundary of the parish there is a key called Attrum,
or Otterham key, with a wharf for the landing and
shipping of corn, and the produce of the neighbour=
ing woods. The creek, called by the same name,
flows up by it from the river Medway. In the 17th
year of the above reign there was a common arrivage
place at Upchurch, called Karter’s hythe, probably
the same as that before-mentioned. In the southern
part of the parish is a hamlet called Halywell, near
which there is much woodland, most of which be=



longs to the earl of Thanet; on the eastern side of it

is situated in the valley, close to the sheere way to New=
ington, the manor of Gore, now only a mean farm-
house. In the northern part of it the land, which is
very wet, stretches along a narrow space between the
marshes, at the end of which is another hamlet called
Ham. There is no commission of sewers for the re=
pair of the marshes in this or the adjoining parishes,
but the sewers, walls, &c. which defend them from
the tides, are kept in repair by the respective owners
of them, at no inconsiderable expence. At some dis=
tance from the uplands, across the marshes, lies one
of notoriety, called Slayhills, containing five hundred
acres, formerly belonging to the Leybornes, and given
with the manor of Gore as before-mentioned, to the
abbey of St. Mary Grace, Tower-hill./w After the
suppression of which, king Henry VIII. granted it to
Sir Thomas Wyatt, to hold in capite. Sir Warham

St. Leger afterwards possessed it, whose daughter
Anne carried it in marriage to Thomas Diggs, esq.
after which it acquired the name of Diggs marsh,
which it kept but a small time before it resumed its
former name; but this estate, from its exposed situa=
tion, and the force of the tides, which from the walls
of it being neglected, at length broke through them,
and overflowed it, and it is now gone to sea, and

/w See Augtn. off. bundle, London, 299, 316.
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nearly the whole of it is become a tract of salts, which
is covered by every spring tide. In the 49th year of
Edward lll. there was a commission issued for the
viewing of the banks in the king’s marshes of Slay=
hill, Greneberghe, &c. as far as the Isle of Shepey,
and to do what was requisite to them according to the
law and custom of the realm.

The paramount manor of Milton claims over this
whole parish, subordinate to which is

THE MANOR OF GORE, otherwise UPCHURHH,
formerly called De la Gare, which is held of the above
manor, by a yearly suit and service. ltis situated in
a vale in the south-eastern part of this parish, over
which, subordinate to that of Milton, it in great
measure claims.

It was in very early times in the possession of a fa=
mily, who took their name from it. Lucas de la
Gare was returned a knight of the shire for this county,
anno 25 Edward I. before which time however it was
become the property of the Leybornes. Roger de
Leyborne held it in the 51st year of Henry Ill. in
which year he obtained a grant to hold in fee all his
hereditaments and tenements in gavelkind, in Rain=
ham, Upchurch, and Hereclop, of the king, by
knight’s service./x

After which this manor descended down to Juliana
de Leyborne, usually stiled the Infanta of Kent, whose
husbands successively became entitled to it, each of
whom however she survived, and died in the 41st year
of Edward Ill. when no one being found who could
make claim to any of her estates, this manor and estate
in Upchurch escheated to the crown, where it re=
mained till the king, in his 50th year, granted it,



among other premises, to the abbey of St. Mary
Graces, on Tower-hill, then founded by him, which
was confirmed to the abbey in pure and perpetual

/x Pat. Rolls, No. 84. This grant was confirmed to Juliana
de Leyborne, anno 14 Edward II.
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alms for ever, by king Richard Il. in his 12th and
22d years.

It remained part of the possessions of the monastery
till the dissolution of it in the 30th year of king
Henry VIII. when it was surrendered up into the
king’s hands, who soon afterwards granted this manor
to Christopher Hales, esq. his attorney-general and
master of the rolls, who died in the 33d year of
that reign,/y leaving three daughters his coheirs, of
whom Margaret, the second daughter, married first
to West; secondly to Dodman, and thirdly to Wil=
liam Horden, gent. of the Weald of Kent, inherited
this manor, which she entitled her three husbands to
successively. At length it was alienated by William
Horden, in the 9th year of queen Elizabeth to Mr.
Richard Stanley, who, in the 22d year of that reign,
passed it away by sale to Thomas Wardegar, or War=
dacre, as he was commonly called, whose grandson
William, son of George Wardegar, sold it, in the 17th
of king James |, to Sir Nicholas Tufton, who was
created earl of Thanet, in whose descendants, earls of
Thanet, this manor has continued down to the right
hon. Sackville Tufton, earl of Thanet, the present
possessor of it.

A court baron is held for this manor.

HORSHAM is a reputed manor in this parish,
situated at a small distance westward from the church.
It seems formerly to have been possessed by a family
of its own name, one of them, Stephen de Horsham,
possessed it in king Edward the Illd.’s reign, how long
they continued here | have not found, but that it in
after times came into the possession of archbishop Chi=
chele, who in the 26th year of Henry VI. settled it
on the college of All Souls, in Oxford, then founded
by him, mostly out of the estates of the suppressed

/y Rot. Esch. ejus an. See more of the Hales’s under Ton=
stall hereafter.
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alien priories, of which probably this might have been a
part, since which it has continued among the posses=
sions of that college, being at this time the inheritance
of the warden and fellows of it. There is no court

held for this manor.

The lessee of this estate, in the reign of queen Eli=
zabeth, was Sir Cheney Colepeper, who alienated his
interest in it to Clement Milway, and he passed the
lease of it away to Mr. William Harding, whose de=
scendant Mr. John Harding, of London, in 1715, alie=
nated it to Joseph Hasted, gent. of Chatham, whose
grandson Edward Hasted, esq. of Canterbury, after=
wards became possessed of the lease of it, but Mr.
Thomas Williams, gent. of Dartford, is the present
lessee of it.

THE MANOR OF OTTERHAM, situated in the wes=



tern part of this parish, near the hamlet of Otterham,

or Ottram, as it is now called, had formerly possessors
of the same name, who, however, were extinct here
before king Richard the Ild.s reign, for John Peche,
citizen of London, in the 4th year of it, died possessed
of the manor of Otterham, in Upchurch, with its ap=
purtenances, in right of Mary his wife, during her life-
time, the reversion of it belonging to Thomas de Al=
burton, when it was held of the king, as of his manor

of Milton, by divers services, according to the custom
of gavelkind. How it passed afterwards | have not
found, but at the latter end of queen Elizabeth’s reign

it was in the possession of Thomas Butts, gent. In later
time it passed by sale into the possession of Mr. Tho=
mas Best, of Chatham, whose grandson Thomas Best,
esq. of Chilston, died possessed of it in 1793, s. p. and
gave it by will among his other estates to his nephew
George Best, esq. now of Chilston, the present owner
of it./z

/z See Boughton Malherb before, p. 410.
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HAM, alias WEST-COURT, is a manor in the nor=
thern part of this parish, situated in the hamlet of
Ham, which, with an estate called Sharpnash, alias
Sharpness, belonged to the abbey of Boxley, as early
as the reign of king John, and in the 33d year of king
Edward Ill. the abbot had a grant for free warren on
their manor and estate here, which continued part of
the possessions of that monastery till the dissolution of
it in the 29th year of Henry VIII. when it was, toge=
ther with all its revenues, surrendered up into the king’s
hands, who granted it in his 31st year, to Thomas
Greene, gent. to hold in capite by knight’s service.
He was the natural son of Sir John Norton, of North=
wood, in this county, for which reason he was fre=
quently stiled in deeds of that time Norton, alias Greene.
He died in the 6th year of Edward VI. being then
possessed of the manor of West-court, with its appur=
tenances, held of the king, as of the duchy of Buck=
ingham, by knight’s service; and the manors of Ham
and Sharpnash, and lands, pastures, fresh and salt
marshes, belonging to those manors in Upchurch and
Halstow, held in manner as before mentioned. He
left two sons, Norton and Robert, of whom Norton the
eldest, left an only daughter and heir Mary, wife of Sir
Mark Ives, of Essex, and Robert, the second son, was
of Bobbing. They bore for their arms, Gules, a cross
potent, ermine, within a bordure of the second./a Norton
Green, the eldest son of William as before mentioned,
inherited these manors, which he alienated to Thomas
Aldersey, gent. of Bredgar, in whose descendants the
manor of Ham continued till it was length alienated
to Thomas Hous, who passed it away to Thomas Skip,
after which it came at length to his grandson Thomas
Skip Bucknal, who in 1792, with the royal licence,
took the name of Dyot. He is now of Hampton-
court, in Middlesex, esq. and is the present possessor of

/a Pedigree of Norton, in Suffolk pedigrees, marked Clopton.
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the manor of Ham, alias West-court, and its appur=



tenances. What became of the part called Sharpness,
I know not, excepting it was the marsh called Har=
fleet, alias Sharpness, afterwards called New-marsh,
from one Mr. Elfet’s stopping up the breach, and new
making the walls of it; but it has long since been
swallowed up by the sea again. It lies between Bayford
and Burntwick marshes, and contains about five hun=
dred acres of land.

CHARITIES.

THERE is a yearly sum of 6s. 8d. paid on Michaelmas-day
from the parsonage to the poor of this parish.

TEN SHILLINGS is paid to the like purpose, from Highfield
in Mun-farm, vested in John Sharpe.

BENJAMIN TROWTES, gave by will in 1623, bread to the
value of 10s. payable out of Stains-farm, is yearly distributed
to the poor on Maundy Thursday, and the Saturday before
Michaelmas day, vested in Luke Miles.

TWO ACRES of wood in Herst-wood, belonging to Gore-
farm, situated on the south side of the sheere-way leading to
Newington, was given by a person unknown, to the use of the
poor, now of the annual produce of 40s.

The poor constantly relieved are about twelve; and casually
fifteen.

UPCHURCH is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JURIS=
DICTION of the diocese of Canterbury, and deanry of
Sittingborne.

The church, which is dedicated to St. Mary, is a
very large, handsome building, consisting of three
broad isles and two chancels; the pews for the present
decreased number of inhabitants taking up only a small
part of the middle isle. In the north chancel there are
several grave stones, all of which are robbed of their
brasses. In the north windows of this chancel there
are good remains of painted glass, for the most part
well preserved; underneath is a vault, which, by the
circular stair-case to descend into it, seems to have been
made use of only as a charnel-house, having many
bones laid up in it. The steeple at the west end of the
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church is very remarkable, being a tower on which is
placed a square part of a spire for about ten feet, and
on that an octagon for the remaining or upper part to
the point of the spire at top.

There is an old monument in the wall of the north
chancel, garnished about with acorns and oak leaves,
which Weever says, was, by report, set up over the
grave of one Woodokes, entombed there.

The church of Upchurch belonged antiently to the
Premonstratensian Abbey de Insula Dei, or Lisle Dieu,
in Normandy, founded by Reginald de Paveley, in
1187, who having lands in this county, might pro=
bably give this church for the better support of his
new foundation.

This church appears to have been appropriated to it
very early, for in 1369, anno 44 Edward Ill. a com=
mission was issued by archbishop Wittleseye for the
augmentation of the portion of the perpetual vicar of
Uppechirche to the above-mentioned abbey for some
time appropriated, to five marcs.

Upon the suppressing of these foreign houses, this



church was, in the 4th year of king Richard Il. given

to the hospital of St. Katherine, near the Tower, to=
wards the founding of a chantry for three chaplains in

it. But this seems to have been a grant only for a term
of years, for king Henry V1. in his 17th year, on the
foundation of All Souls college, in Oxford, granted

this church, together with the advowson of the vicarage,
to that college, part of the endowment of which it re=
mains at this time.

The parsonage is leased out by the college of All
Souls for a term of years, to Mr. Packman, of Up=
church; but the advowson of the vicarage the college
reserve in their own hands.

The parsonage consists of a house, &c. eighty-one
acres of arable, fresh, and salt marsh, being the glebe
land of it, and the tithes of about five hundred acres of
arable land in this parish, and is held at the yearly rent
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of 16l. 13s. 8d. in money, sixteen quarters of wheat,
and sixteen quarters of malt. The lessee repairs the
chancel of the parish church.

In the 8th year of king Richard Il. this church
was valued at 23I. 6s. 8d. then belonging to the ab=
bey of Lisle Dieu, by which it should seem, that it
was not divested of its property here then, though
the hospital of St. Katherine’s held the possession of
it. Itis valued in the king’s books at eleven pounds,
and the yearly tenths at 1. 2s. In the reign of queen
Elizabeth there were one hundred and thirty-nine
communicants. In 1640, it was valued at 60l. Com=
municants forty.

The vicar of Upchurch holds of Milton manor one
acre of land at Culvers valley, in Upchurch.

CHURCH OF UPCHURCH.

PATRONS, &c.
Or by whom presented. VICARS.

College of All Souls. Richard Jones, A. M. May 1,
1590, obt. 1609.

Thomas Long, resigned 1611.

William Bradenham, A. M. Aug.
3, 1611, obt. 1619.

Francis Webb, A. M. June 12,
1619, obt. 1630.

Christopher Collard, A. M. Nov.
20, 1630, resigned 1639.

Enoch Stephens, A. M. April 24,
1639, obt. 1640.

John Messenger, A. M. Feb. 6,
1640, obt. 1641.

Edward Vaughan, A. M. Nov.
30, 1641.

The Archbishop. John Campleshon, A. M. Oct.
14, 1664.

College of All Souls. Benjamin Phinnies, clerk, April
1, 1667.

Thomas Milway, July 2, 1685.

Henry Warren./b

/b See Reg. Roff. p. 770.
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PATRONS, &c. VICARS.

College of All Souls. John Saunders, A. M. Dec. 20,
1708, obt. 1719.
James Brent, A. M. July 17,
obt. 1727.
Baynton Parsons, A. M. April
10, 1727, obt. 1742.
Archbishop, by lapse. Henry Piers, A. M. August 11,
1742, resigned 1746./c
College of All Souls. Francis Baker, LL. D. inducted
November 11, 1746, obt.
1749./d
Richard Jacob, A. M. 1749, re=
signed 1757./e
Richard Brereton, A. M. Feb. 4,
1758, resigned 1766.
Wolley Leigh Spencer, A. B. Fe=
bruary 12, 1766, the present
vicar./f

/c Presented by the archbishop, by
lapse.

/d Also vicar of New Romney.

/e Before vicar of New Romney,
which he resigned as well as this, on
being presented to the vicarage of East
Malling.

/f Fellow of All Souls college.

HALSTOW

LIES the next parish eastward from Upchurch,

it is written in antient deeds Halegestow, and is usually
called Lower Halstow, from its low situation, and to
distinguish it from the parish of High Halstow, in the
hundred of Hoo.

It is a very obscure and unfrequented parish,
though the road from Chatham to the King’s Ferry
leads through the lower part of it, across a branch of
the creek, here called the Stray, which is at high water
hardly passable with safety. The little streamlet which
rises southward near Newington church, runs on hi=
ther to the corn mill, belonging to All Souls col=
lege, situated on another branch of this creek, up to
which the tide flows likewise, the mill being turned
by it; below these the two branches acquire the name
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of Halstow creek, and soon afterwards joining, about
three miles below, that of Standgate creek, a little
further from which it flows into the river Medway, at
some distance above Sheerness. At the lower end of
Standgate creek, all vessels arriving from foreign coun=
tries, where the plague, or any other infectious dis=
temper is known to rage, are obliged by order of the
privy council and the king’s proclamation to perform
quarantine for a limited time, and for the purpose of
airing the cargoes of them, there are two large hospital
ships, commonly called lazarettos, being the hulks of
forty-four gun ships stationed here constantly, on board
which the goods and merchandize are removed, for
the purpose of airing them, and a government cutter



attends to see this properly observed, and to prevent
the crews getting on shore before the time is expired,
Halstow creek above this becomes so shallow, as
to be used only by the small vessels belonging to the
dredger men, who live here, and make up the prin=
cipal part of the inhabitants of this parish, it is navi=
gable in both branches as high up as the stray on the
one, and the bridge built over the other, just above
the church, where there is a wharf belonging to All
Souls college, which, if in a proper condition, might
be made of great use to the neighbouring country,
which, as appears by the survey made in the 8th year
of queen Elizabeth, by her order, was then called
Halstow key, and that there were then in this parish
houses inhabited twenty-four, ships and boats four=
teen, from one ton to seven; and persons occupied in
carrying from port to port and fishing fourteen.
There are two small hamlets in the lower part of it,
near the creek, the one built round a green, and called
from thence Halstow-green, and the other at a small
distance from it called Lower street. This part of the
parish lies on a level, and open to the adjoining
marshes, which render it most unpleasant, and at the
same time unhealthy to an extreme, the look of which
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the inhabitants carry in their countenances; indeed,

it seems so enveloped among creeks, marshes and salts,
the look over which extends as far as the eye can see,
that it seems a boundary, beyond which the traveller
dreads to hazard his future safety.

The whole of this parish, excepting towards the
marshes, has a woody appearance, the shaves and
hedge-rows being very broad round the fields, it con=
tains about twelve hundred acres of land, the soil of
it is in general a very stiff and wet clay, a heavy til=
lage land, some few parts of it are gravel, and others,
a black unfertile sand, with much broom and brakes,
or fern on it. The clayey lands have of late years
been much improved, by spreading them over with
lime, brought at a heavy expence from the upper
part of Hartlip, a distance of between three and four
miles, by which means they produce a good crop of
wheat. Near the stray there are some fertile mea=
dows and orchards, the lands in general let at a high
rent of fifteen and twenty shillings an acre, much of
it throughout the parish belongs to All Souls college,
as part of their manor farm of Horsham, in Up=
church. Towards the eastern part of the parish the
hills rise pretty high, over much of which the adjoin=
ing manor of Norwood in Milton claims. In the
north-east part is Basser farm, almost the whole of
which is pasture, and some of it so fertile as to be good
fatting land for beasts.

The paramount manor of Milton claims over this pa=
rish, subordinate to which is

THE MANOR OF BERKESORE, commonly called
BASSER, which is situated in the north-east part of
this parish. It was given to the monks of the priory
of Christ-church, in Canterbury, to the finding of a
light before the shrine of St. Anselm there, which
gift was confirmed by Henry Il. who added to it
fifteen pounds of rent in this place likewise, as did
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Reginald de Clere, certain land bounding to that of
Roger de Wardun and William de Northwode.

King Edward Il. in his 10th year, granted and
confirmed to the prior and convent of Christ-church,
free-warren in all their demesne land in Berkesore,
held in the time of his grandfather king Henry lIl.

In which state this manor continued till the disso=
lution of the above-mentioned priory, in the 31st
year of Henry VIII. when it was, with all the lands
and possessions belonging to it, surrendered up into
the king’s hands, who settled this manor, by his do=
tation-charter, in his 33d year, on his new-erected
dean and chapter of Canterbury, part of whose pos=
sessions it now remains.

The family of Darell, of Calehill, have for many
generations been lessees of this manor under the dean
and chapter. Sir Robert Darell held it as such in the
17th year of king James I. and in his descendants it
has continued down to Henry Darell, esq. of Cale=
hill, the present lessee of it. A court baron is regularly
held for it.

CHARITIES.

A HOUSE, with a garden, and two acres of land, in this pa=
rish, occupied in 1775 by William Judson, at the yearly rent
of 5. were given by a person unknown, to the poor of this parish.

ONE ACRE of land in Southfield, in Halstow, belonging to
West Hide, esq. in 1775 occupied by Samuel Buckland, at 10s.
per annum, was given by a like person to the same purpose.

WILLIAM ROBINSON, of this parish, by will in 1632, gave
20s. in money, and two bushels of wheat, out of land now used
with the Stray farm in this parish, to be distributed yearly on
St. Thomas’s Day for ever.

CATH. WOOTTON, of this parish, gave by will in 1678, a field
called Budington, in Newington, of the annual produce of
20s. to be distributed yearly on Easter Monday to the poor of
this parish for ever.

A PERSON UNKNOWN gave a cottage and two tenements,
with a garden, in the lower street, worth 4l. per annum, to the
poor of it; all which gifts are vested in the minister and
churchwardens.

The poor constantly relieved here are about eighteen; ca=
sually sixteen.
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HALSTOW is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JURIS=
DICTION of the diocese of Canterbury, and deanry of
Sittingborne.

The church, which stands close to the creek, is de=
dicated to St. Margaret; it consists of three small
isles and one chancel, with a low pointed steeple, in
which hang five bells, and has nothing remarkable in
it. The church of Halstow was part of the antient
possessions of the priory of Christ-church in Canter=
bury, as appears by the instrument of archbishop Bald=
win, who came to the see of Canterbury in 1184,
who, at the presentation of the prior and convent,
granted to his beloved son John de London, nephew
of the then blessed martyr Thomas, the church of St.
Margaret of Halegestowa, in perpetual alms; saving
the pension of one marc, which the said John should



be bound to pay to the monks above-mentioned,
twice in each year./g

King Henry Ill. in his 19th year, granted to the
prior and convent of Christ-church, the privilege of a
fair at the church of Halowesto.

In which situation this church continued till the
dissolution of the priory in the 31st year of king
Henry VIII. when it was, with all the lands and pos=
sessions of it, surrendered up into the king’s hands.

The church of Halstow, with the vicarage of it,
did not remain long in the hands of the crown, for
the king settled it by his dotation-charter, in his 33d
year, on his new-erected dean and chapter of Canter=
bury, part of whose possessions it now remains, the
parsonage being leased out by them for twenty-one
years, but the advowson of the vicarage they retain in
their own hands.

The yearly rent to the dean and chapter is 3I. 6s. 8d.
who pay yearly to the archdeacon five shillings for
procurations for it.

/g See the confirmations of this church in Reg. Christ church,
Cant. cart. 91, 100, 151, 157.
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The vicarage is a discharged living in the king’s
books of the yearly certified value of forty pounds,
the yearly tenths being 16s. 2':d. In 1642 it was va=
lued at sixty pounds per annum, first receipt. Com=
municants eighty-two.

Dr. Francis Walwin, prebendary of Canterbury,
in 1770, but a short time before his death, paid into
the hands of the Rev. John Tucker, of Canterbury,
and rector of Ringwold, since deceased, ten pounds
to be laid out for the benefit of this vicarage.

John White, vicar of this parish in 1696, presented
a petition to archbishop Tenison, setting forth, that
he had two vicarage-houses, one an old uninhabited
house adjoining to the sea side, which every spring
tide overflowed with salt water, and which the sea=
men and others had in a manner demolished; that
the other is a house given by two maids, who died
there, and bequeathed it to the vicar for ever; that it
had been recovered by his predecessor by course of
law, and that he himself had inhabited it for twenty
years. He therefore prayed the archbishop to grant
him licence to demolish the former, in regard that the
vicarage was small, not being worth thirty pounds
per annum. To which the archbishop assented, and
granted his licence for that purpose in 1696.

The scite of the old house and garden was after=
wards taken possession of by a dredgerman; a house
has been since rebuilt on it, by a person who now
claims it as his freehold, and the vicar has not as yet
made any attempt to disposses him of it.

CHURCH OF HALSTOW.

PATRONS,
Or by whom presented. VICARS.

Dean and chapter of Canterbury. George Atton, A. B. Feb. 13,
1595, obt. 1609.

John Warde, Jan. 30, 1609,
obt. 1617.
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PATRONS, &c. VICARS.

Dean and chapter of Canterbury. William Tonstall, A. M. Nov.
27,1617, resig. 1619.

Thomas Parker, A. M. Nov.
1619, obt. 1632.

Henry Dering, A. M. July 13,
1632, obt. 1666./h

John White, A. B. Nov. 1,
1666, obt. 1706./i

Ralph Milway, March 11, 1707,
obt. 1759.

Thomas Lamprey, jun. Jan. 1,
1760, the present vicar.

/h Also vicar of Newington. He
was sequestered, and afterwards re=
stored. See Walker’s Sufferings of
the Clergy, pt. ii. p. 231.

/i See Ducarel’s Repertory, p. 15.

NEWINGTON.

THE next parish southward from Halstow is New=
ington, written in Domesday, Newetone, which cer=
tainly took its name from its having been raised on the
scite of some more antient town, perhaps built in the
time of the Romans, of whom there are many vestigia
in and about this place. It has the addition of next
Sittingborne, to distinguish it from a parish of the same
name next Hyth.

THE PARISH of Newington lies for the most part
on a flat plain, extending from east to west near two
miles, at the edges of which, excepting towards the
north, it is surrounded by a range of high hills, most of
which are covered with woods, which reach as far
eastward within the boundaries of it as the high road
leading from Key-street to Detling. The parish is far
from being unpleasant, but the unhealthiness of it, oc=
casioned by its being exposed to the noxious vapours
arising from the large tract of marshes covered of it,
as far as Standgate creek and the Medway, which are
blown hither uninterrupted, through the vale, and
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the unwholesomeness of the water drawn from the
wells for culinary uses, throughout it, make it a far
from eligible situation to dwell in, and keep it thin of
inhabitants, especially of the better sort; in the centre
of the above plain, though on a small rise is the vil=
lage, called Newington-street, containing about fifty
houses, most of them antient and ill built, it is encircled
by orchards of apples and cherries. In the street almost
opposite to the lane leading southward to Stockbury is
the old manor house of Lucies, now inhabited by a
shopkeeper, and in another part of it is another old-
timbered building, much of it now in a decayed state,
belonging to the estate here of Sir Beversham Filmer,
bart. formerly of the Troughton’s, and before that the
residence of the Holbrook’s.

Here was, as appears by a presentment made of the
customs, &c. of the queen’s manor and hundred of



Milton, in 1575, a market, held weekly on a Tues=

day, but the disuse of it has been beyond memory.

At a small distance northward is the vicarage, and a
quarter of a mile further on the parsonage and church,
and close to the church-yard the manor-house of Tra=
cies. At no great distance north-west from hence there
is a spring, which produces a fresh stream, and runs
from thence northward, having a small breadth of
swampy poor meadow or marshes on each side, till it
empties itself into the creek at Halstow, as has already
been mentioned in the description of that parish.

The high road from London to Canterbury and
Dover, runs across this parish, and through Newing=
ton-street, at a small distance southward from which,
in the road to Stockbury, is the manor house of Cran=
brooke, and about half a mile further, the ground still
rising to it, the hamlet of Chesley-street, corruptly so
for Checheley-street, as appears by the will of Robert
Bereforth, anno 13 Edward IV. who lies buried in this
church, and stiles himself of Checheley-street, devising
by it his principal tenement called Frognal, and his
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other called Patreches, in this parish, to his three
daughters and coheirs. On a green close to this ham=
let there is a handsome sashed house, built not many
years ago by Robert Spearman, esq. lessee of the pos=
sessions of Merton college, in this parish, in which he
resides.

The parish contains about thirteen hundred acres of
land, exclusive of about two hundred acres of wood,
great part of it, especially in the environs of the street,
was formerly planted with orchards of apples, cherries,
and other kind of fruit, but these falling to decay, and
the high price of hops yielding a more advantageous
return, many of them were displanted, and hops raised
in their stead, the scite of an old orchard, being particu=
larly adapted for the purpose, which, with the kindli=
ness of the soil for that plant, produced large crops of
it, insomuch that there has been one particular instance
here of an acre having grown after the rate of thirty-
four hundred weight of hops on it, but these grounds
wearing out, and hops not bearing so good a price, to=
ther with other disadvantages to the growers of them,
orchards are again beginning to be replanted in New=
ington, to which these grounds afford a good nursery,
till the trees by their increased size are less liable to
hurt, though the hop grounds in it are still very con=
siderable.

The soil of this parish on the plain, and towards
Chesley, is very rich and fertile, consisting in general of
a kindly loam, near and on the hills it is mostly a stiff
clay, and to the northward of the street it becomes a
sand, where on the hills it becomes poor land, and
much covered with broom and furze. This tract of
land called from thence Broomdown, belong most of it,
as does much other land in this parish, to All Souls
college, as part of their manor of Horsham, in Up=
church; in the parts near Chesley-street, at some
depth, they come to the chalk, which by means of
draw wells is obtained for the manure of their lands.
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On the continued chain of hills, from the north-east to
the south-east boundaries of this parish, there are large
tracts of woodland, in which are great plenty of ches=
nut stubs, no doubt the indigenous growth of them,
these join to others of the like sort, reaching for several
miles southward, those in this parish and its neighbour=
hood, being from the great plenty of the above wood

in them, commonly known by the name of Chesnut
woods, a large tract of them, within the bounds of this
and the adjoining parishes, reaching as far as the turn=
pike road leading from Key-street to Detling, belong

to the earl of Aylesford. The rents in general are

high, great part of the lands being let from fifteen to
twenty shillings per acre and upwards.

THE ROMAN ROAD, having crossed the river Med=
way at Chatham, is still visible on the top of Chatham-
hill, the hedge on the north side of the great road from
thence to Rainham standing on it, from which place
hither it seems to run on the southern side of the road,
till within a very small distance of Newington-street,
where it falls in with the great road, and does not ap=
pear again till it has passed Key-street, a mile and a
half beyond it.

The name of Newington, as has already been men=
tioned, implies its having been built on, or in the lieu
of, some more antient town or village; the names of
places in and about it, plainly of Roman original, shew
that nation to have had frequent dealings hereabouts.
Keycol-hill at the 38th mile stone seems to be the same
as Caii Collis, or Caius, Julius Caesar’s hill; Key-
street beyond it, Caii Stratum, or Caius’s street; and
Standard-hill, about half a mile southward of Newing=
ton-street, seems to have taken its name from some
military standard having been placed on it in those
times.

On Keycol-hill above-mentioned, at a small distance
northward from the great road, is a field, in which
quantities of Roman urns and vessels have continually
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been turned up by the plough, and otherwise, and the
whole of it scattered over with the broken remains of
them, from whence it has acquired the name of
Crockfield. The soil of it is mostly sandy, excepting
towards the north-west part of it, where it consists of a
wet and stiff clay.

The situation of this field is on an eminence, higher
than the surrounding grounds, commanding a most ex=
tensive view on every side of it; a little to the south-
west of it, in the adjoining field, there is a large mount
of earth thrown up, having a very broad and deep foss
on the south and west sides of it, from whence there
seems to be a breast-work of earth thrown up, which
extends in a line westward about forty rods, and thence
in like manner again northward, making the south and
western boundaries of the two fields next below Crock=
field, above-mentioned.

The greatest part of the northern sides of these
fields, and the eastern side of Crockfield, are adjoining
to the woods, in which there are many remains of
trenches and breast-works thrown up; but the coppice
is so very thick, that there is no possibility of tracing
their extent or form, so as to give any description of



them. These vessels have been found lying in all man=
ner of positions, as well sideways as inverted, and fre=
quently without any ashes or bones in them, quite
empty; and this has induced many to think this place

to have been only a Roman pottery, and not a burying-
place, especially as some of them lay in that part which
is a stiff, wet soil, and others in the dry and sandy

part of it.

Notwithstanding which, several of our learned anti=
quarians, among which are Somner, Burton, archbi=
shop Stillingfleet, Battely, and Dr. Thorpe, are in=
clined to fix the Roman station, called in the second
iter of Antonine, Durolevum, at or near this place. In=
deed most of the copies of Antonine make the dis=
tance from the last station Durobrovis, Rochester, to
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Durolevum xiii or xvi miles, which would place it
nearer to Greenstreet, or Judde-hill, a little on the
western side of Ospringe; but the Peutingerian tables
make it only vii, in which Mr. Somner seems to ac=
quiesce, and it answers tolerably well to this place. If
this distance of miles is correct, no doubt but New=
ington has every circumstance in its favor, to fix this
station here, if the number of xvi should be preferred,
full as much may be said in favor of Judde-hill, or
thereabouts; every other place has but mere conjec=
ture, unsupported either by a knowledge of the country,
or by any remains of Roman antiquity ever discovered
in or near it.

The urns and vessels found here were first taken no=
tice of in print by the learned Meric Casaubon, preben=
dary of Canterbury, whom Burton stiles incomparable
for his virtues and learning, who, in his notes on his
translation of the emperor Marcus Antoninus’s Medi=
tations, gives an account of the remains found in New=
ington, which contains many curious particulars relat=
ing to the custom of burial, though of too copious a
nature to be wholly inserted in this work.

Among other observations he says, that not only the
great numbers of these urns, for he does not remember
an instance of so many having been found, in so small a
compass of ground, was remarkable, but the manner
of their lying in the ground; for those who had been
present at the digging of them up observed, that where
one great urn had been found, several lesser vessels had
been likewise, some of them within the great one, and
others round about it, each covered either with a pro=
per cover of the like earth as the pots themselves were,
or else more coarsely, but very closely, stopped up with
other earth. Hence he infers that the custom seems
to have been, to appoint one great urn to contain the
bones and ashes of all one houshold or kindred, as often
therefore as any of them died, so often they had re=
course to the common urn, which was as often unco=
vered for the purpose.
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Besides the great and common urn, it is likely that
every particular person that died, had some lesser one
particularly dedicated to his own memory, and it is
not improbable, that there might be still another use of
them, and that not an unnecessary one, which was, that



by them the common greater urns might be the better
known and distinguished one from another, being so
much alike in shape and size, in so small a compass of
ground, and so near each other; and it seems more
likely, as of the many hundreds of the lesser sort which
have been taken up, scarce any have been found of one
and the same making. What this place has been many
would certainly be glad to know; thus much may at

least be concluded, that from the multitude of urns, it
was once a common burial-place for the Romans, and
that from the situation of it, which is upon an ascent,
and for some space beyond it hilly, not far from the sea,
and near the highway, it may be affirmed with great
probability, that this place was once the seat of a Roman
station./k Thus far Mr. Casaubon.

The great numbers of urns, and the fragments of
them, found at this place from time to time, have been
dispersed among the curious throughout the county,
many of whom have, through curiosity and a fondness
for antiquarian knowledge, dug here for that purpose.
The last earl of Winchelsea searched here several times
for them with success, and had a numerous collection of
them; among others, one of the larger ones, which
was dug up here, and held twenty-four pints, came
into the hand of Dr. Battely, who says, it was dug up
among many urns here, being a vessel not to hold the
bones, but to be filled with wine, being pitched on the
inside, which was usually done for that purpose. It
had four handles, by which it might be plunged into
the earth, and raised up again whenever there was oc=

/k See Casaubon’s Notes on Antonine’s Meditations, p. 32.
Burton on Antonine’s ltinerary, p. 179.
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casion, which was of no use to a sepulchral urn, which
there was a religious dread of removing; it being their
custom to extinguish the funeral pile with wine, to

wash the bones, to sprinkle the sepulchres in their fu=
nereal sacrifices, and to pour it out as an offering to the
funereal gods.

Another of these urns, which held near a bushel,
came into the possession of John Godfry, esq. of Nor=
ton-court, and another into the hands of Mr. Filmer
Southouse; the figures of each of which may be seen
in an engraved plate in the folio edition of this his=
tory, vol. ii. p. 562.

THE PARAMOUNT MANOR of Milton claims over
great part of this parish.

IN THE TIME of Edw. the Confessor this place was
held of queen Editha, wife of that prince, by one Sid=
gar, with whom most probably it continued till after
the death of king Harold, in 1060, when William,
duke of Normandy, afterwards surnamed the Conque=
ror, having obtained the crown of England, seized on
this estate, and then bestowed it on Albert, his chap=
lain, in whose possession it remained at the time of the
taking of the general survey of Domesday, in 1080,
in which it is thus entered, under the title Terra Alberti
Capellani.

In the half lest of Mildetone, in Mildetone hundred,
Albert, the (king’s) chaplain, holds of the king Newe=
tone. Sidgar held it of queen Eddid, and then, and now,



it was and is taxed at seven sulings and an half. The
arable land is . . . . The arable land, which was in de=
mesne, is let to ferme for sixty shillings. In the manor
itself ten villeins, with forty-eight borderers, have five
carucates. There are twelve acres of meadow, and four
denns of wood, sufficient for the pannage of thirty hogs.
There is one fishery belonging to the Halimote, and two
servants. A small coppice for the supporting of the fences.

To this manor there belong in Canterbury four houses,
and two in Rochester, which yield twenty-four pence.
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And there is a custom of the manor of Mildentone paid
in Neuuetone, that is, twenty eight weight of cheese; and
of twenty-eight sulings belonging to Mildentone in Neuue=
tone, ten pounds and ten shillings; and of another part
of nine sulings belonging to Middeltone in Neuutone,
twenty-eight weight of cheese and an half, and fifty-eight
shillings of rent from these nine sulings; and of these nine
sulings Sigar paid average at Mildetone.

Of this manor there are in the foreign three dennes,
which were so in the time of king Edward the Confessor,
as the hundred witnesses.

The whole manor, in the time of king Edward the
Confessor, was worth forty pounds, and afterwards thirty-
six pounds, now thirty-four pounds. The archbishop has
from thence six pounds, and the bishop of Baieux has three
dennes worth forty shillings.

Of the land of this manor Goisfrid de Ros holds one
yoke, and it is worth ten shillings.

Adam, son of Hubert, holds as much wood as produces
forty pence per annum.

Some time after the taking of this survey, THE MA=
NOR OF NEWINGTON became part of the possessions
of a priory founded here, the nuns of which held it of
the king, of his manor of Middleton; but the prioress
having been strangled in her bed, the king seized on
this manor, and kept it in his own hands, and removed
the remaining nuns to the Isle of Shepey. After which
king Henry 1l. by the persuasions of archbishop Tho=
mas Becket, placed in their room here seven priests as
secular canons, and gave them the whole of the manor;
and as a further increase of their maintenance, twenty-
eight weight of cheese from his manor of Middleton.

After which, one of these canons having been mur=
dered, four of his brethren were found guilty of the
crime, and the two others acquitted. These last, with
the king’s licence, gave their portions or shares of the
manor of Newington to the abbot of St. Augustine’s,
near Canterbury, who seems to have had possessions
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here long before, as will be further mentioned here=
after, and the other five parts of it, being seized into

the king’s hands, remained there till he granted them

to Richard de Lucy, his chief justice, by which means
this manor became divided; two parts of it remaining
with the abbot of St. Augustine, as one manor; and

the other five parts with the family of Lucy, as another
separate manor, which from their continuing in the
possession of it, acquired afterwards the name of New=
ington Lucies, as will be further mentioned hereafter.



After which, several disputes arising between the ab=
bot and Almerie de Lucy, concerning their respective
possessions here; they were afterwards settled, by the
award of Sir Stephen de Penchester, who decreed, that
the latter should give in exchange to the abbot and
convent, among other annual profits, the several rents,
reliefs, suits, services, and all other customs of the te=
nements, and holdings within the hundreds of Middle=
ton, Marden, and Eihorne, to hold in free, pure, and
perpetual alms. In consideration of which he decreed,
that the abbot and convent should release, in exchange,
the two parts of rents and cheese belonging to this ma=
nor, (which had been formerly given to them in alms
by the king, who had divided them into seven parts)
to Almerie de Lucy and his heirs for ever./|

In the iter of H. de Stanton, and his sociates, jus=
tices itinerant, anno 7 king Edward Il. the abbot of
St. Augustine’s was summoned by quo warranto to shew
why he claimed sundry liberties, therein mentioned, in
the manor of Newyngton, among others; and like=
wise view of frank-pledge, and all belonging to it in
this manor, and assize of bread and ale. And the ab=
bot pleaded, that the liberties therein mentioned in this
manor, among others, had been granted by king John
and the succeeding kings to him and his convent in
pure and perpetual alms; by the tenor of which he

/I Dec. Script. col. 1927. Regist. Sci Aug. cart. 136.
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claimed all of them; and further, that they had all
been allowed in the last iter of John de Berewick, and
likewise in the 7th year of king Edward Il. before
Henry de Stanton, and his sociates, justices itinerant,
as before-mentioned.

King Edward Ill. by his charter of inspeximus, in
his 36th year, confirmed to the monastery all the ma=
nors and possessions given to it by former kings. In
this charter there is recited, one granted to the abbot
and convent by the Conqueror, of eight prebends in
Nyewynton, and the lands belonging to them, wit=
nessed before archbishop Lanfranc, and others, in as
ample a manner as their ancestors ever held them.
What possessions these were is not now known. Thorn
mentions them, and says, king Henry |. confirmed the
gift of his father, of the eight prebends of Newenton.

By the Conqueror’s charter, these prebends appear to
have belonged before his time to the monastery, and
to have been wrested from it, and again restored at the
famous assembly held at Pinenden-heath. What be=
came of them afterwards does not appear, but most
probably they were blended with the manor of New=
ington, after the abbot and convent became possessed
of it, especially as by an antient dateless custumal of
the manor or church of Newington, as it is there called,
transcribed among Dr. Plot’s manuscript papers, it
appears formerly to have been of a very considerable
account, and might well contain these prebends as par=
cel of it.

The manor of Newington remained part of the
possessions of the monastery of St. Augustine, till its
final dissolution, in the 30th year of king Henry VIII.
when this great abbey, with all its revenues, was sur=



rendered up into the king’s hands. After which this
manor remained part of the royal revenue till the death
of king Charles |. in 1648, when the powers then in
being, passed an ordinance, to vest them in trustees, in
order to their being immediately sold to supply the ne=
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cessities of the state. Soon after which a survey was
taken of this manor, by which it appears, that there
were quit-rents due to the lords of it from the free=
holders within the town or borough of Newington,

within the borough of Otham, within the parish of
Clapham; within the borough of Bedmanton, in
Wormshill; within the borough of Wyarton, in

Boughton Monchelsea; within the parish of West Far=
leigh; within the borough of Minster and Laysdown,

in the Isle of Shepey, all severally holding in free socage
tenure, and from Mr. Aldersey, of the parish of Bred=
gate, and Mr. John Allen, of Stockbury, in the like
tenure; that there was a court baron and court leet,
fines and amerciaments of courts, &c. all which quit-
rents, together with the profits of the courts coibs annis,
worth in total 16l. 18s. 9'2d.

Soon after which this manor was sold by the state to
Mr. John Brown, with whom it remained till the res=
toration of king Charles Il. when it again became part
of the revenues of the crown, where it seems to have
remained till the 9th year of king William Ill. anno
1697, when the king having raised Sir John Somers,
keeper of the great seal, to the office of lord high
chancellor, and to the title of lord Somers, baron of
Evesham, in Worcestershire, made him a grant, for the
support of those honors and dignities, of the fee-farm
rents of this manor, among others. In the year 1700
he gave up the seals, but queen Anne, in her 8th year,
appointed him president of the council; two years
after which, growing infirm in his health, he gradually
decayed, till his death on April 26, 1716. Lord So=
mers bore for his arms, Vert, a fess dancette, ermine./m
He died unmarried, leaving the greatest part of his
estates by his will to his nephew, James Cocks, esq. of
Worcestershire, son and heir of Mary, his eldest sister,

/m See the life of lord Somers, Biog. Brit. vol. vi. p. 3744,
et seq.
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(the youngest sister married Sir Joseph Jekyll, master
of the rolls) by Charles Cocks, gent. of the city of
Worcester; one of whose daughters married Philip,
earl of Hardwick, afterwards lord chancellor.

James Cocks, esq. before-mentioned, becoming thus
possessed of these fee-farm rents, died in 1750, leaving
one son James Cocks, esg. who was slain in the unfor=
tunate expedition against St. Cas, in France, in 1759.
He died under age and unmarried, so that these rents,
among the rest of his estates, devolved on his father’s
younger brother, John Cocks, esqg. of Castleditch, in
Herefordshire, which estate he was possessed of, in right
of his wife Mary, only daughter and heir of the Rev.
Thomas Cocks, of that place, descended of the elder
branch of this family, as he was likewise of Dumbleton,
in Gloucestershire, on failure of the issue of Sir Robert



Cocks, bart. of Dumbleton, who was of the younger
branch of it. He died in 1771.

Charles Cocks, esq. his eldest son, succeeded him
both at Castleditch and Dumbleton, and in these fee-
farm rents of the manor of Newington; of which he is
the present possessor. He was created a baronet on
Sept. 19, 1772, and by letters patent on May 17, 1784,
lord Somers, baron of Evesham. He resides at Bruck=
mans, near Hatfield, in Hertfordshire, formerly the
seat of the lord chancellor Somers. He married first,
Elizabeth, third sister of Edward, lord Eliot, by whom
he has a son John Somers, who married Margaret,
only daughter of Dr. Treadway Nash, the Worcester=
shire historian, and two daughters; secondly, Anne,
sister of Reginald Pole Carew, esq. by whom he has
had three sons and one daughter. Lord Somers bears
for his arms, Sable, a chevron between three stags, at=
tires, fixed to the scalps, argent, quartered with those of
Somers as before-mentioned.

IT HAS BEEN ALREADY mentioned before, in the
account of the manor of Newington, that in the reign
of Henry Il. five parts out of seven of it had escheated
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to the crown, and were given by the king to Richard

de Lucy, his chief justice, and being afterwards ac=
counted a separate manor, acquired from him and his
descendants the name of NEWINGTON LUCIES, which
it retains at this time.

He was a man much in that prince’s esteem, as well
for his prudence and just distribution of the laws, as
for his piety, being not only chief justice, but the king’s
lieutenant of the realm during his absence, and consta=
ble of the tower of London and castle of Windsor.
Among other acts of piety, as they were then esteemed,
he founded and liberally endowed the abbey of Lesnes,
at Erith,/n and having taken upon himself the habit of
a religious there, he died in the 26th year of that
reign.

After which, according to the account given in the
register of St. Augustine’s monastery, the manor of
Lucies descended to Godfrey de Lucy, bishop of Win=
chester, and after his death in 1204, it descended in
equal moieties to Roesie, or Royce de Dover, and
Maud de Lucy, his sisters; the latter of whom gave
her part to her son, (by her second husband) Richard
de Ripariis, or Rivers, whose descendants afterwards
possessed it; and the former gave hers (which seems
to have comprehended the manor itself) to her kinsman
Geoffry de Lucy, each holding their respective parts of
the manor of Milton.

What kindred Geoffry de Lucy was of to Royce de
Dover, | cannot find, but it appears that he died pos=
sessed of this manor, and was succeeded by his son
Amery de Lucy, who was with king Richard I. at the
siege of Acon, in Palestine, and in memory of some
signal service performed in the holy war, added the
cross-croslets to his paternal coat, which before was only
three fishes, lucii, or pike-fish, in allusion to their name.

/n See vol. ii. of this history, p. 231, 249. Dugd. Baronetage,
vol. i. p. 563.
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These arms of the Lucys were formerly painted in the
windows of this church, Gules, semee of croslets, three
lucies hauriant, or; and again, Lucy, the same coat,
without the seme of cross-croslets, being their original
bearing. The former arms are likewise remaining on
the roof of the cloisters of Canterbury cathedral, as
they were formerly in the windows of Goodnestone
church, near Wingham.

Geoffry de Lucy had a grant of free-warren for his
lands in Newington, among others in different coun=
ties, in the 6th year of Edward Ill. in the 20th year of
which reign he died. Sir Walter de Lucy had a con=
firmation of that charter in the 27th year of king
Henry VL. in which year he died possessed of it, leav=
ing one son William, and two daughters, Alianore,
married to Thomas Hopton, and Maud, to Thomas
Vaux, esq. of Northamptonshire./o

Sir William Lucy, the son, possessed this manor on
his father’s death, and died s. p. upon which this ma=
nor became divided into moieties, one of which became
vested in Elizabeth, widow of Sir Robert Corbet, of
Shropshire, only daughter, and at length sole heir of
Alianore, wife of Thomas Hopton, esq. before-men=
tioned. The other moiety became vested in Sir William
Vaux, son and heir of Thomas Vaux, esqg. by Maud,
the other sister and coheir of Sir William Lucy above-
mentioned.

Lady Elizabeth Corbet, in the 8th year of king
Edward IV. married John Tiptoft, earl of Worcester,
who being a firm friend to the house of York, was, on
the restoration of king Henry VI. in the 31st year of
that reign, beheaded on Tower-hill. He left a son by
her, who was afterwards restored in blood by king Ed=
ward IV. but died s. p. anno 3 Richard lll. Eliza=
beth, his mother, widow of John, earl of Worcester,
after his death re-married with Sir William Stanley, of

/o Morant’s Essex, vol. i. p. 340. vol. ii. p. 109.
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Holt-castle, knight of the garter, second son of Tho=
mas, lord Stanley, who, though he was, as well as his
elder brother, instrumental in setting the crown on the
head of Henry VII. yet on pretence of his having en=
gaged in the conspiracy of Perkin Warbeck, he was be=
headed in the 10th year of that reign, leaving Eliza=
beth his widow surviving, by whom he had no issue.
She died in the 14th year of that reign, as appears by
the inquisition then taken, and possessed of a moiety of
the manor of Newington Lucies, held of the king by
knight’s service.

Upon her death without issue, her moiety of this ma=
nor came to Sir Nicholas Vaux, the grandson of Tho=
mas Vaux, by Maud, the other daughter and coheir of
Sir William Lucy, who being owner of the other moiety
before, became now as her heir and next of kin pos=
sessed of the entire manor of Newington Lucies. He
bore for his arms, Chequy, argent and gules, on a chevron,
azure, three roses, vert.

Having been a great assertor of the cause of the
house of Lancaster, he received many marks of favor
from Henry VII. and was by Henry VIII. in his 15th
year, created lord Vaux, baron of Harrowden, in Nor=



thamptonshire. His eldest son Thomas, lord Vaux,
about the 27th year of that reign, conveyed this manor
to trustees, who passed it away by sale to Sir Roger
Cholmeley, serjeant-at law, and recorder of London
afterwards, chief justice of the king’s bench,/p soon after
which he died, leaving two daughters his coheirs, Eli=
zabeth, first married to Leonard Beckwith, of Selby,

in Yorkshire, by whom she had a son Roger, and two
daughters, Elizabeth, married to William Vavasor,

and Frances, to George Hervey; secondly, to Sir
Christopher Kenn, of Somersetshire; the other daugh=
ter and coheir was married to Sir Thomas Russell, of
Worcestershire.

/p See vol. ii. of this history, p. 148.
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Sir Christopher Kenn became possessed of this ma=
nor in his wife’s right, and with her, in the 22d year
of queen Elizabeth, levied a fine of it; soon after
which, they passed it away to Sead, from which hame
it was sold, in the reign of king James I. to Osborne,
and thence again to James Pagitt, esq. of Northamp=
tonshire, whose grandson Justinian Pagitt, esq. of Grays-
Inn, married Catherine, one of the daughters of Dr.
Lewin, and sister of Sir Justinian Lewin, of Otterden,
and bore for his arms, Sable, a cross engrailed, argent, in
the dexter quarter, an escallop of the second; he together
with Thomas Bedford, gent, of Doctors Commons, in
the 32d year of king Charles II. anno 1680, alienated
it, by the name of the manor of Newington, alias New=
ington Lucies, with its rights and appurtenances in this
and other parishes, to Roger Jacson, of St. Martin’s-
in-the-Fields, gent. He died in 1691, and left it by
his will to his brother George Jacson, M. D. of Der=
by, who devised it in like manner to his son George
Jacson, of Saffron Walden, in Essex, and he alienated
it in 1712 to Mr. Edward Pemberton, of London,
whose two sons, Mr. John Pemberton, of London,
and Henry Pemberton, M. D. fellow of the Royal
Society, and professor of physic in Gresham college,
became successively entitled to it, but both dying un=
married, and the latter of them in 1791, he by will de=
vised it to Mr. Henry Mills, of Rotherhithe, who had
married his niece and heir at law, and he is now enti=
tled to this manor. He bears for his arms, Ermine, a
mill rind, sable, on a chief, azure, two marlions wings, or.

There has not been any court held for this manor
within memory. The manor-pound was remaining till
within these few years.

There is a borough in this parish, called the borough
of Lucies, extending over this manor, the borsholder of
which is annually chosen at the court of the paramount
manor of Milton.
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FROGNAL, or more properly Frogenhall, is an estate
in this parish, lying about a mile south-eastward from
the manor of Lucies last-described, of which it was
probably once accounted a part, and seems to have
been given by Richard de Lucy, the owner of that
manor, about the reign of king Henry ll. to Wil=
liam de Frogenhall, whose ancestors were seated at Fro=



genhall, in Tenham.

He fixed his name on it, and transmitted the posses=
sion of it to his descendants, one of whom Richard
Frogenhall, died possessed of this estate about the 34th
year of Edward Ill. from whom it descended down to
Thomas Frogenhall, who died in the reign of king Henry
IV. without male issue, from him it passed by
Elizabeth, one of his two daughters and coheirs, in
marriage to John Northwood, of Northwood, in this
county, which family ending in two daughters and co=
heirs, Joane, the youngest of them, carried this estate
in marriage to Sir John Norton, who about the begin=
ning of king Henry VlII.'s reign, conveyed it to Tho=
mas Lynacre, priest, and physician to that king, who
was one of the most learned of that profession in Eng=
land, or perhaps in Europe, and esteemed the most ac=
complished scholar of his age, especially for his know=
ledge of the two learned languages. He was born in
the city of Canterbury, in 1460, and descended from
the Lynacres, of Lynacre-hall, in Derbyshire. He died
possessed of it in 1524, and was buried in St. Paul’s
cathedral, before the rood of the north door, where a
monument was several years afterwards erected to his
memory by Dr. Caius. By his will he devised it, with
other estates, to the founding and endowing of three
physical lectures, to be called Lynacre’s lectures, two of
which were to be in the university of Oxford, and one
in that of Cambridge. Those in the former were, after
some years, limited to Merton college there, by the
survivor of his trustees, (Dr. Tunstall, the deprived
bishop of Durham) and Frognal, as well as Tracies,
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another estate in this parish, which will be mentioned
hereafter, were both settled in 1549 on that college,
for the support and maintenance of them; for the
performance of which trust, the warden and fellows of
it still continue to own the inheritance of these estates.

John Trafford, gent. was lessee of Frognals and
Tracies in 1649, and sold his interest in them to Ni=
cholas Hurlestone, gent. of Redriff, who died in 1665,
the rent to the college amounting coibs annis to about
twenty-eight pounds per annum.

Robert Spearman, esq. of this parish, is the present
lessee of these estates.

LEVENOKE was formerly accounted a manor, though
even the name of it has long since fallen into oblivion.
It was, however, certainly situated within the bounds
of this parish, and is mentioned as such in several an=
tient deeds.

This manor, as appeared by an old court-roll, in
the reigns of king Edward Ill. and Richard Il. was in
the possession of the family of Beaufitz, who were like=
wise possessed of estates in the neighbouring parish of
Gillingham, in which it continued down to John Beau=
fitz, who died in the 12th year of Henry VI. by one
of whose daughters and coheirs, Joane, it went in mar=
riage to Robert Arnold, of Sussex, whose descendant
William Arnold, of Rochester, in the reign of king
Henry VIII. seems to have passed it away by sale to
Thomas Knight, whose son of the same name was pro=
prietor of it at the latter end of the reign of queen
Elizabeth. His descendant alienated it in the reign of



king James |. to Goldsmith, as he did to Barrow,
whose descendant having mortgaged it to Mr. Alston,
of London, he, about the death of king Charles I.
anno 1648, conveyed his interest in it to Mr. Lisle, of
London. He afterwards gained possession of it under
that title, and his heirs, though interrupted by several
suits at law, still continued to enjoy the rents and pro=
fits of it; but the transfer of their interests in it has
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been, from time to time, so secretly managed, and the
very name of this estate is so carefully concealed from
every enquiry, that | have not, with the most indus=
trious endeavours, been able to find out either the
situation of this obsolete manor, or the owners of it,
since those mentioned before.

TRACIES is an estate in this parish, situated almost
adjoining to the south-west corner of the church-yard.
It was formerly accounted a manor, though it has had
for many years only the reputation left of having
been one.

It was in very early times in the possession of owners
of the name of Tracy, who settled their name on it;
but whether they were of any, or what kindred to the
family of Tracy, seated in Devonshire and Gloucester=
shire, | cannot find, though the coat of arms borne by
these of Newington had a near affinity to those borne by
the Tracys, of Gloucestershire. For Philipott says,
that the Tracys of Newington bore for their arms,
Argent, two bends, between nine escallops, gules, which
has certainly an allusion to those borne by the Tracys,
of Gloucestershire, viz. Or, two bars, gules, in the chief
point an escallop, sable; the difference of the colours
and the number of escallops being only a distinction,
for this perhaps younger branch of the family. The
above mentioned arms of Tracy were originally those
of the elder branch of it, barons of Sudeley, who bore,
Or, two bends, gules, to which William, the younger
brother of Ralph, lord Sudeley, surnamed Tracy, as
above-mentioned, added the escallop, as a distinction.

John de Tracy was possessed of Tracies, in New=
ington, in the reigns of king Henry Il and king
Edward I. and in the 26th year of the latter, Margery,
late wife of John de Tracy, recovered against Sir John
de Northwood, the elder, certain lands and rents in this
parish, among which these of Tracys were in all like=
lihood included, to which he had made claim.
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In the 28th year of Edward IIl. Thomas, son of

James Tracy, died possessed of this manor, with its
appurtenances, in Newington, by the service of finding
together with the manor of Lucy, one man and one
horse, with a sack and a pack, viz. each by the moiety
of the said service, for the carrying of the king’s kitchen
utensils, (squillariam regis; which | take to mean the
furniture of the king’s scullery,) as far as Wales, for his
war there, as often as it should happen. Soon after
which it seems this family became extinct here, though
it seems to have remained elsewhere in this county, for
the name of Tress, of Tresse, still remaining in it, is,
with great probability supposed to be a corruption by
length of time from that of Tracy. If so, it is not un=



likely but that the Tresses, settled for many years at
Town Malling and Ofham, might be a branch of the
Tracys, of Tracies, in Newington, before-mentioned;
and the same coat of arms having been confirmed by
Sir William Segar, garter, to Mr. Francis Tresse, gent.
of Town-Malling, seems in some measure a confirma=
tion of it.

This manor after this came into the possession of the
family of Savage, for it appears by the escheat-rolls,
that Sir Arnold Savage, of Bobbing, in this county,
died possessed of it in the 49th year of Edward lII.
holding it by the like service.

From this time it had the like owners as the manor
of Bobbing, till it came into the possession of Lewis
Clifford, esq. sheriff anno 13 Henry VIl/q. who passed
away this manor by sale, in the beginning of king
Henry VlII.s reign, to Thomas Lynacre, physician to
that prince, as mentioned before, who died possessed
of itin 1524, and by will devised it, with Frognall, in
this parish, an estate which he likewise purchased about
the same time, to trustees, towards the founding and
endowing of physical lectures in the two universities of

/q See more of the Savages and Cliffords under Bobbing.
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Oxford and Cambridge, as has already been more fully
mentioned before. Those in the former were after
some years limited to Merton college, and both these
estates of Tracys and Frognals, are now vested in the
wardens and fellows of Merton college, for the above
trust. Robert Spearman, esq. of this parish, is the pre=
sent lessee of these estates.

AYINGTON is a manor in Newington, which has
ever had the same owners as that of Bobbing, and as
such is now the property of William Tyndale, esq. of
North Cerney, in Gloucestershire.

THE MANOR OF WORNEDALE, alias Borden, lying
in the southern part of this parish, and in Stockbury
and Borden, had formerly possessors of the name of
Wornedale; Richard de Wornedale owned it in the
reign of Edward lll. and left one son Thomas, and a
daughter Maud, who on her brother’s death unmarried,
became his heir.

In later times it was owned by the family of Eve.
Henry Eve, of Edwards, in Linsted, settled it in 1675,
on his eldest son Henry, on his marriage with Doro=
thy, sister of James Ady, esq. of Barham, and their
son Henry Eve, clerk, with Elizabeth his wife, sold
it to Sir John Banks, bart. of Aylesford, one of whose
daughters and coheirs, Elizabeth, marrying Heneage
Finch, second son of Henry, earl of Nottingham, he
became in her right, on the partition of her father’s
estates, entitled to it, and he was afterwards created
earl of Aylesford. His son Heneage, second earl of
Aylesford, becoming possessed of this manor on his fa=
ther’s death, alienated it in 1721, an act having that
year passed for this purpose, to his next brother, the
hon. John Finch, who married Elizabeth, daughter and
heir of John Savile, esqg. of Methley-hall, in York=
shire, and having represented the town of Maidstone
in several successive parliaments, died in 1740, possessed
of this manor, in which he was succeeded by his only
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son Savile Finch, esqg. who died in 1788, and his heirs
are now entitled to it.

CRANBROOKE is a manor, situated at a small dis=
tance southward of Newington-street, adjoining to the
lane leading to Chesley-street and Stockbury.

It was formerly part of the possessions of Sir William
Brooke, knight of the bath, son of George Brooke,
third son of William, lord Cobham./r He died about
1668, leaving four daughters his coheirs, of whom,
Hill, the eldest, was married to Sir William Boothby,
bart. Pembroke to Mathew Tomlinson, esq. Margaret
to Sir John Denham, and Frances to Sir Thomas
Whitmore, K. B.

Soon after which, Sir John Denham, and Margaret
his wife, died s. p. and her share in this manor descended
to her three sisters and their husbands.

After which it was sold to Sir John Fagg, bart. of
Wiston, in Sussex, who died possessed of it in 1715, as
did his son, of the same name, in 1736, leaving issue
by Christian, daughter of Sir Cecil Bishop, bart. of
Sussex, one son Robert, and four daughters, one of
whom married Gawen Harris Nash, esq. of Petworth,
in Sussex, and Elizabeth, another daughters, was the
second wife of Sir Charles Mathews Goring, bart. of
that county.

Sir Robert Fagg, bart. the son, succeeded his father
in the possession of this manor, but dying in 1740 s. p.
it became the property of his sisters, of whom, Eliza=
beth entitled her husband, Sir Charles Mathews Gor=
ing, bart. above-mentioned, to the possession of it. He
left by her a son Charles Goring, esg. who sold it with
the rest of his estates in this parish and Stockbury, to
Edw. Austen, esq. of Rolling, the present owner of it.

KEYCOLE is an estate in this parish, lying on the
high road about a mile eastward of Newington-street,
which house stands at the foot of the hill, close to the

/r See Cowling, vol. iii. of this history, p. 520.
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edge of the woods, and is become a place, noted for
the Roman remains found on it. This estate formerly
belonged to Sir John Garrard, knight and baronet,
but it has been for many years past in the family of
Westbrooke, and is now the property of John West=
brooke, esq. of Forest-hall, in Essex.

A branch of the family of Diggs, of Barham, in this
county, was for several generations settled in this pa=
rish, to which Odomarus Diggs, younger son of John
Diggs, of Barham, by Juliana his wife, sister and heir
of James Horne, removed,/s being possessed of much
land here, and in the neighbouring parishes, and in
queen Elizabeth’s reign the estate was in the possession
of Christopher Diggs, gent. of Barham.

The family of Holbrooke was possessed of lands in
Newington, one of whom, George Holbrooke, resided
here in the reign of queen Elizabeth. His descen=
dant Francis Holbrooke, lies buried in the south
chancel of this church. The visitation of this county,
anno 1619, in their pedigree, has their arms, Azure,
a cross, or, fretty of the field, between four mullets,
pierced of the first. But Edmondson, in his Heraldry,



says, they bore a chevron, between ten cross-croslets,
which is corroborated by the grave-stone over Francis
Holbrooke before-mentioned, on which are the figures
in brass of him and his two wives, with ten children
behind the first wife, and three behind the second;
on one shield of arms, On a chevron, a lion’s head
erased, between ten cross-croslets; on another, quarterly,
first and fourth, the same arms as above-mentioned;
second and third, On a fess, three plates, between three
bears heads, erased, and muzzled.

John Cobham, alias Brooke, third son of George, lord
Cobham, and brother of Sir William Brooke, knight
of the garter, and lord Cobham, in the reign of queen
Elizabeth, was owner of much land in this parish, and

/s Pedigree of Diggs, Vistn. co. Kent, 1619.
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dying in 1594, was buried under a monument in the
high chancel of this church. He married Anne,
daughter and heir of Cobb, and widow of Sir John
Norton, who died in 1580, and lies buried here near
her second husband.

CHARITIES.

THREE QUARTERS of wheat are payable yearly out of the
parsonage to the poor of this parish, on Old Lady-day for ever.

MR. SIMON TOMLYN, by will in 1684, gave a barn and
three yards of land to the minister, churchwardens, and their
successors for ever, for the use of the poor, to buy twelve penny
loaves, to be distributed on each Sunday in the year, to such as
should be present at divine service, of the annual produce of
5. 4s.

A PIECE OF LAND, containing near two acres, lying in the
Playstool, alias Wellfield, in Halstow, called the clerk’s piece,
was given by a person unknown to the use of the parish clerk here
for ever, vested in the churchwardens, and of the annual pro=
duce of 2I. 1s.

The poor constantly relieved are about thirty; casually, in=
cluding vagrants and passes, near four hundred yearly.

NEWINGTON is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JU=
RISDICTION of the diocese of Canterbury, and deanry
of Sittingborne.

The church, which is dedicated to St. Mary, is a
handsome building, consisting of three isles and two
chancels, with a square beacon tower at the west end.
On the north side of the high chancel is the lower
part of a square tower, which reaches at present no
higher than the roof of the church, where it has a flat
covering. There was some good painted glass for=
merly in the windows of this church, and among
others, the arms of Leyborne, Azure, six lions rampant,
three, two, and one, argent; of Northwood; of Lucy,
as well with the croslets as without; of Burwash;

Diggs impaling Monins; Norton impaling Northwood;
Beresford; Diggs; Horne; of the cinque ports; of

the see of Canterbury; of archbishops Becket and
Warham; of Holbrooke, and of Brooke.
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The south chancel of this church belongs to the
parish, who keep it in repair. In it were, till within
these few years, among many others now defaced,



memorials of Brian Diggs and his wife, anno 1490;
of Thomas Holbrook, gent, anno 1587; of Francis
Holbrook, gent. of this parish, in 1581, and a tomb
for Sir John Norton. A stone, with the figure of a
woman, and an inscription in brass for Mary Brook,
alias Cobham, widow of Edward Brook, alias Cob=
ham, esq. obt. 1600.

Against the north wall of this chancel is a monu=
ment for Joseph Hasted, gent. of Chatham, obt. 1732,
possessed of a good estate in this parish. His remains,
with those of his wife Catherine, daughter of Richard
Yardley, gent. lie deposited in one coffin, in a vault
under this chancel, in which are likewise the remains
of their only son and heir Edward Hasted, esq. of
Hawley, near Dartford, obt. 1740; of Anne, his only
daughter, widow of captain James Archer, and of
George Hasted, gent. obt. 1787, adolescens optimae
spei, the third son of the editor of this history.

The church of Newington was given in the 25th
year of Henry Il. anno 1178, to the abbey of West=
wood, alias Lesnes, in Erith, then founded by Richard
de Lucy, which gift was confirmed, among other
possessions of that monastery, by king John, in his
7th year.

Notwithstanding which the abbot and convent of
St. Augustine’s, Canterbury, to whom part of the
manor of Newington had come in the above-men=
tioned reign, as has been already related, claimed this
church from time to time, as having been given to
their monastery by Richard de Lucy above-men=
tioned. After much dispute, during which Thorne,
their chronicler, says, the abbey of St. Augustine
kept possession of it, it was at last, by the interpo=
sition of their common friends, agreed between them,
that the abbot of St. Augustine’s should release to
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the abbot of Lesnes all right to the advowson of this
church, for which the latter agreed to make a recom=
pence in other matters, as mentioned in the agree=
ment./t The abbot and convent of Lesnes, having
thus gained the firm possession of this church, ob=
tained a confirmation of it from the several succeeding
kings, and it remained part of the revenues of their
monastery till the final dissolution of it, in the 17th
year of Henry VIII. when, being one of those smaller
monasteries which cardinal Wolsey obtained of the
king that year, for the endowment of his colleges, it
was surrendered into the cardinal’s hands, to whom
the king granted his licence next year, to appropriate
and annex this church of Newington, among others,
of the cardinal’s patronage, to the dean and canons of
the college founded by him in the university of Ox=
ford, &c. But this church remained with them only
four years, when the cardinal being cast in preemunire,
all the estates of the college, which had not as yet
been firmly settled on it, were forfeited to the crown.

How long this appropriated church, with the ad=
vowson of the vicarage, remained in the crown, | have
not found; but at the latter end of queen Elizabeth’s
reign, it was become part of the possessions of the
royal college of Eton, in Buckinghamshire, where it
continues at this time.



The parsonage is leased out from time to time on a
beneficial lease. The advowson of the vicarage, the
provost and fellows keep in their own hands.

The glebe land belonging to the parsonage contains
twenty-two acres, and upwards. The family of Short
were for many years tenants of it.

The vicarage is valued in the king’s books at
14l. per annum, and the yearly tenths at 11. 8s. ltis
now of the clear yearly certified value of seventy-two
pounds.

/t Decem. Script. 1930. Rym. Feced. vol. xiv. p. 178.
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In 1578 the dwelling-houses in this parish were
seventy-seven. Communicants two hundred and thir=
ty-six. In 1640 it was valued at seventy pounds.
Communicants two hundred and five.

The glebe land belonging to the vicarage, consists
of only one acre, besides the homestall. The annual
value of the vicarage is very precarious, owing to the
income of it arising much from fruit and hops, the
latter of which have of late years much increased the
value of it.

CHURCH OF NEWINGTON.

PATRONS,
Or by whom presented. VICARS.
Provost and fellows of Eton. Thomas Gathesende, March 14,

1583, obt. 1613.

Mathew Donatt, A. M. Jan. 5,
1613.

Henry Deering, November 24,
1626, obt. 1666./u

Adam Reve, A. B. Sept. 14,
1666, resigned 1684.

The Archbishop. James Stratton, A. M. Feb. 27,
1684, obt. 1693.

Provost and fellows of Eton. Thomas Milway, clerk, Feb. 26,
1693.

John Goodyer, A. M. Jan. 3,
1708, obt. 1715.

John Burman, A. M. May 5,
1715, obt. April 13, 1726./w

Robert Tyler, Sept. 19, 1726,
resigned 1740./x

The crown, by lapse Sir Hugh Burdett, bart. Feb. 18,
1742, obt. 1760./y

Provost and fellows of Eton John Saunders, A. M. Dec. 22,
1760, the present vicar./z

/u He was very studious in antiquity
and a great friend of the learned Me=
ric Casaubon.

/w Also vicar of Bobbing, and for=
merly fellow of University college,
Oxford.

/x And vicar of Sittingborne. See
St. Laurence in Thanet, of which he
was vicar.

/y Second son of Sir Francis Burdett,
bart. of Burthwaite, in Yorkshire.

/z In 1768 he was presented to the



vicarage of Farningham, which he
holds with this vicarage.
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BORDEN

IS the next parish eastward from Newington. The
name of which seems to be derived from the Saxon
words Burg and dena, signifying a mansion or town
among the woods.

THIS PARISH lies nearly midway between New=
ington and Sittingborne, and contains about 1550
acres of land, of which two hundred are wood. The
high London road runs along the north side of it,
whence the ground rises southward for about a mile,
(leaving the house of Cryals at about half that dis=
tance) to the village of Borden, through which there
is but little thoroughfare. It is plainly seen from the
high road, encircled by orchards of fruit trees, with
the church and Borden-hall standing within it, a little
to the eastward is the vicarage, a neat pretty dwelling.
The land about the village, and northward of it is
very fertile, being mostly a hazely mould, the planta=
tions of fruit here, though many are not so numerous
as formerly, for being worn out, no new ones have
been planted in their room, and several of them have
been converted into hop-grounds. This part of the
parish, though it may certainly be deemed pleasant,
yet from the water from the wells not being good, is
not accounted healthy; southward of the village the
ground still rising, it grows very hilly, and the land
poor and much covered with flint stones, and the soil
chalky, which renders the water wholesome, and this
part much more healthy; about half a mile south=
ward from the village is the house of Sutton Barne,
and a small distance eastward Wrens, now called Rains
farm, and a small hamlet called Heart’s Delight. On
the opposite side from Sutton Barne is the hamlet of
Wood, formerly called Hode-street, situated on high
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ground; at a small distance eastward from which is

a long tract of woodland, in which there is a great
plenty of chesnut stubs, whence they are usually
known by the name of chesnut woods. These woods
reach down the side of the hill to the Detling road,
and the western boundary of this parish.

In 1695, in the sinking of a cellar by Dr. Plot, at
Sutton Barne, several Roman bricks were found,
with their edges upward, much like those, he says,
which had been turned up at the antient Roman Sael=
lonicee, near Ellestre, in Middlesex;/a and near Hoad-
street was, about the same time, found an antient
British coin.

In the fields southward of the village, the stones af=
fect a globular form, where there are numbers of
them, of different magnitudes; but the biggest of
them was ploughed up at Sutton Barne, by Dr. Plot’s
tenant, exactly globular, and as big as the largest can=
non ball.

In 1676, Dr. Thomas Taylor found in Fridwood,
in this parish, belonging to his uncle Dr. Plot, an oak,



which bore leaves speckled with white; such a one,
Mr. Evelyn informs us, in his Discourse on Forest
Trees, from Dr. Childrey, was found in Lanhadron-
park, in Cornwall.

THE JURISDICTION of the paramount manor of
Milton claims over this parish, subordinate to which is

THE MANOR OF SUTTON, alias SUTTON BARNE,
as it is corruptly now called, its antient name being
Sutton Baron, which addition it took, undoubtedly,
from the court baron of the manor held for it. Itis
situated about a mile southward of the church and
village of Borden, and in the reign of Richard Il. was
in the possession of Angelus Christopher, who with
Margaret his wife, passed it away, in the 17th year of
that reign, by fine then levied, to Henry Vanner, ci=

/a Plot's MSS. See Camden’s Brit. p. 359.
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tizen of London, who paid them one hundred marcs
of silver for the purchase of it. He sold it that year

to John Wotton, clerk, master of the college of All
Saints, in Maidstone, who reserving an annual rent of
ten pounds from it, for the term of his life, conveyed
it, in the 10th year of king Henry IV. to William
Bereford, by whom it was alienated in the 19th year
of king Henry VI. to Mr. John Grangeman, of this
parish, whose son Nicholas Grangeman, in the 29th
year of that reign, passed it away to Stephen and John
Norton, one of whose descendants, Alexander Nor=
ton, esq. by his will, in the 4th and 5th year of king
Philip and queen Mary, devised his estates here,
among which this manor was included, to John Coty
and Alice his wife, Thomas Plot and Elizabeth his
wife, Thomas and Alexander Pettenden, Norton
Greene, Thomas and Edward Norton, and their heirs,
who being afterwards much at variance concerning
their respective portions in them, they were divided,
according to the judgment of Ambrose Gilberd, and
Roger Manwood, as appears by their award.

But the manor of Sutton Barne, not being so con=
veniently to be divided among so many, they finally
agreed that year, to pass it away to William Cromer,
esq. and John Dryland; the former of whom, in the
2d year of queen Elizabeth, sold it, together with a
wood, called Fridd-wood, in this parish, to Mr. Ro=
bert Plot, of Borden, one of the sons of Mr. Alexander
Plot, of Stockbury, in which parish his ancestors had
been settled in the reign of Edward IV. and bore for
their arms, Vert, three quaterfoils, argent, each charged
with a lion’s head, erased, sable. His great grandson,
of the same name, resided here, and made great addi=
tions to this seat./b

He was born here in 1641, and became a most
learned antiquarian, and excellent natural historian,

/b Taken from the MSS. account of Dr. Plot.
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of which his histories of Oxfordshire and Staffordshire
are sulfficient proofs. Being educated at Oxford, he
commenced LL. D. and became fellow, and after=
wards secretary of the Royal Society, historiographer
to king James Il. Mowbray herald extraordinary, and



lastly, register of the court of honor. He died in
1696, at Sutton Barne, and was buried in the church
of Borden, where there is a handsome monument
erected to his memory.

Dr. Plot left two sons, Robert and Ralph Sher=
wood, of Newington, the eldest of whom inherited
this manor, and at his death gave it by his will to Mr.
John Palmer, who had married his only daughter
Rebecca. He survived her, and at his death devised
it to his second wife, and Mr. John Lucas, of Mil=
ton, whose respective heirs, about the year 1767,
joined in the sale of it to Abraham Chambers, esq. of
London, who for some time resided at Sutton Barne,
till he removed to Tonstall. He died in 1782, leav=
ing by his wife, daughter of Mr. James, of London,
four sons, and one daughter Maria Emely, who after=
wards became jointly entitled to this manor, among
his other estates in this county, and they, after some
years possession of them, made a division of them,
when this manor became the property of the eldest
son, Samuel Chambers, esq. of Tonstall, who married
one of the daughters of the hon. Philip Roper, and
he is the present owner of this manor. A court
baron is held for it.

CRIOLS, alias KYRIELLS, with an appendage to it,
called Poyles, the very name of which has been long
since forgotten, is a manor here, which in early times
was in the possession of the eminent family of Criol,
who fixed their name on it, as they did on other estates
belonging to them in different parts of this county.

Bertram de Criol died possessed of it in the 23d year
of king Edward |. anno 1294, whose son John de
Criol dying in the 34th year of that reign, s. p. Joane
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his sister, married to Sir Richard de Rokesle, became
his heir, and entitled her husband to this manor.

He left by her two daughters his coheirs, of whom
Agnes, the eldest, married Thomas de Poynings,
who in her right became possessed of it, and in his
name and descendants it continued down to Sir Ed=
ward Poynings, governor of Dover-castle, and lord
warden, and he died possessed of it in the 14th year
of king Henry VIII. anno 1522, not only without
legitimate issue, though he had several natural chil=
dren, but without any collateral kindred, who could
lay claim to his estates, so that this manor, among
others, escheated to the crown./c

After which, king Henry VIII. granted this manor
to Sir Thomas Wyatt, who in pursuance of an act
passed for the purpose, in the 32d year of that reign,
conveyed it back among other premises in the year
following, in exchange to the king. After which it
seems to have remained in the hands of the crown,
till the year after the attainder and execution of his
son Sir Thomas Wyatt, when queen Mary, in her
second year, out of her royal bounty, granted it to his
widow, the lady Jane Wyatt, to hold of her, as of her
manor of Est Grenewich, by knight’s service, and not
in capite. This grant seems to have been only for the
term of her life, and of her son George Wyatt, who
was restored in blood in the 13th year of queen Eli=
zabeth, during which time the reversion of it was



granted by king James, in his 16th year, to Thomas
Hooker and John Spencer, gent. who joining in a fine
levied for that purpose, settled it on the heirs of Geo.
Wyatt, esqg. above-mentioned. He died in the pos=
session of it in 1624, when Francis Wyatt, esq. of
Boxley-abbey, was found to be his eldest son and heir,

/c See more of the families of Rokesle and Poynings, under
North Cray, vol. ii. of this history, p. 152.
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and accordingly succeeded to it. (fn. 4) He was afterwards
knighted, and some years afterwards joining with lady
Margaret his wife, conveyed it by sale to Mr. Isaac
Seward, gent. from which name it afterwards passed
into that of Baker, in which it remained till it was
carried in marriage by Jane Baker to James Brewer, of
West Farleigh, esqg. who died in 1724, leaving an only
daughter and heir Jane, who joined with her second
husband, John Shrimpton, esq. in the conveyance of
it, about the year 1750, to Mr. Robert Wollet, of
Sheerness, who died in 1760, and his infant daughter,
Sarah, afterwards marrying with Mr. Tho. March,
entitled him to it. He rebuilt this seat, and after=
wards resided in it. He died in 1797, leaving one son,
Mr. Thomas Marsh, who is the present owner of it.
POSIERS is a small manor in this parish, which was
antiently the inheritance of a family of that surname,
who continued owners of it till the reign of king
Henry VIII. about which time they became extinct
here. After which it became the property of the fa=
mily of Wolgate, whose seat was at Wolgate, now
called Wilgate-green, in Throwley, where they re=
sided for several generations. At length it became the
property of Mr. Ralph Wolgate, who died possessed
of itin 1642, leaving an only daughter and heir, who
marrying with Mr. William Gennery, entitled him to
the fee of this manor, with other estates in this parish.
After which it was sold to Grove, of Tunstall, one of
whom, John Grove, esq. of Tunstall, died possessed
of it in 1755, leaving by Catherine his wife, daughter
of Mr. Pearce, of Charing, two sons, Pearce and Ri=
chard, and a daughter Anne. He devised this manor
to his second son Richard Grove, esq. of the Temple,
London, and of St. John’s college, Cambridge, who
dying unmarried in 1792, devised it among the rest of

/d See more of the Wyatts under Boxley and Allington,
vol. iv. p. 337, 450.
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his estates to W. Jemmet, gent. of Ashford, and W.
Marshall, of London, and they joined in the sale of

it to W. Wise, gent. of this parish, who is the present
possessor of this manor, with that of Vigo, alias Gorts
adjoining to it.

THERE was antiently a family which took its name
from their possessions in this parish. Philip de Borden
is mentioned in the chartulary of the abbey of St.
Radigund, as having given half a seam of peas yearly
from his manor in Borden to that abbey, and Osbert
de Borden is recorded in a charter of king Henry lII.
and another of Henry IV. as having given pasture for
sixty sheep to the monastery of St. Sexburg, in the



Isle of Shepey.

There is A HAMLET in this parish, called Wood-
street, but formerly HOADE STREET, corruptly for
Oade-street, the yoke of which in 1653, was held by
William Genery, already mentioned before.

The family of Allen was formerly of good account
in Borden, and resided at Hoad, or Oade street. John
Allen resided here in the very beginning of queen Eli=
zabeth’s reign, and then held among other premises
in this parish, the yoke of Boxfield. His descendant
John Allen, gent. of Oade-street, died in 1679, and
was buried in this church, they bore for their arms,

Or, a chevron, between three blood-bounds, passant, sable,
collared of the first; which coat was granted to Chris=
topher Allen, by Sir William Segar, bart./e The Al=

lens of Rochester, descended of the same stock, bore
Parted per fess, a pale ingrailed, and three blood-bounds,
passant, collared and counterchanged.

A younger branch of the family of Forster, of Eve=
leigh, in Shropshire, was settled in Borden in the reign
of king James |. Thomas Forster then residing here;
but this family have been long ago extinct here. They
bore for their arms, Per fess, indented and pale, argent

/e See Guillim, p. 196. Vistn. co. Kent, 1619. Pedig. Allen.
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and sable, two bugle horns strung in the first and fourth
quarters, counterchanged.

Thomas Seager held in this parish in 1653, the yoke
of Corbett, containing a house, called Bansies, and
other lands in this parish, lately belonging to Thomas
Reader; which name of Seager remained here till of
late years, one of them having but lately owned a
house here, called Borden-hall, alias Borden-court be=
longing to the rectory, of which a further account
will be given hereafter.

The family of Napleton, which was possessed of
good estates in many parishes of this county, resided
here for some generations; but they have been for
some time extinct. Several of them lie buried in this
church. They bore for their arms, Or, a squirrel
sejant, gules.

There is an estate in this parish, formerly called
WRENS, but now usually Rains farm, which in 1664
was held of Tunstall manor, by Richard, son of Chris=
topher Allen, esqg. from which name it was passed
away to Mr. Butler Lacy, and his daughters now
possess it.

CHARITIES.

THOMAS EVERARD, formerly vicar of this parish, gave by
will in 1619, two pieces of land, containing about six acres, in
Borden and Stockbury, for the use of the poor, of the annual
value of 11. 10s. and a silver cup for the use of the communion
service.

MICHAEL GOODLARD, of Borden, gave a house, with an
orchard and garden, to the use of the poor, of the annual pro=
duce of 4l.

A PERSON UNKNOWN, gave five seams of barley, to be paid
yearly on a Good Friday out of the parsonage; and two bushels
of wheat yearly on Easter-day, for the use of the poor farmers
of this parish.



MR. JOHN KENWARD gave one seam of malt, to be paid
yearly on Ascension Thursday, out of some tithe-free land be=
longing to a farm at Oade-street, late Mrs. Hendresse’s.

A PERSON UNKNOWN, gave five groats-worth of bread, to
be paid yearly on Easter day, out of a house and orchard called
Iron-latche, late belonging to Mr. Stephen Chapman, of Sit=
tingborne.
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MR. RALPH SHERWOOD, citizen of London, in 1700 gave
a cushion and pulpit-cloth, and a cloth for the reading-desk.

MR. JOHN NAPLETON, and Elizabeth his wife, of this pa=
rish, gave a very handsome silver flaggon for the use of the
communion.

MR. JOHN BROMFIELD, of Borden, in 1776, gave to the
value of 10l. towards erecting the altar-piece.

MR. WILLIAM BARROW, of Borden, who died in 1707, de=
vised the greatest part of his estates in this and many other pa=
rishes in this county, to four trustees, to the use of the poor wi=
dows and poor men of this parish, not entitled to receive alms,
directing the rents of them to be distributed half yearly, the
annual amount of them now being 609I. 17s. 6d.

The distribution of this charity was settled and established
by a decree of the court of chancery, in the 8th year of queen
Anne; by which it was ordered, that the income of this estate
should be distributed half yearly to the poor men and poor wi=
dows of this parish, the poorest of it next above those who ought to
be entitled to relief by the poor’s rate; that the proportion of
the distribution ought to be equal to all, and not less than 5I.
in one year to each; that the trustees should account annually
to a vestry of this parish, who should pass and allow the same,
and should be allowed their costs and expences in the managing
of it. According to which decree this charity is now managed.

Two of the trustees act yearly, one of whom makes the Lady-
day distribution, and the other that at Michaelmas. The total
annual rents now amount to the sum of 584l. 16s. besides forty
acres of woodland, and the clear sum distributed, after all pay=
ments and deductions, amounts to about 200I. per annum.

The poor relieved annually, (exclusive of those by Mr. Bar=
row’s charity) are about 28, casually 30.

BORDEN is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JURIS=
DICTION of the diocese of Canterbury, and deanry of
Sittingborne.

The church, which is dedicated to St. Peter and
St. Paul, is a handsome building, consisting of three
isles and three chancels, with a square tower at the
west end of it, in which there is a clock, and six bells.
It is built mostly of flint, but as a mark of its anti=
quity, it has a Roman brick or two interspersed among
them, and the mortar is composed of cockle-shells.
What is very remarkable, in the steeple there are the
remains of a chimney, which seems coeval with it.
The door-case on the western side of the steeple is of
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Saxon architecture, with zigzag ornaments, as is that
on the opposite or inner side, but of a much larger
size. It is kept exceedingly clean and neat, and the
greatest part of it has been lately ceiled, that part of it
over the high chancel, at the expence of the lay im=
propriator. In the high chancel is a brass plate and
effigies for William Fordinall, vicar, obt. anno 1490.



Several of the family of Plot lie buried in the south
chancel, and there are monuments for Robert Plot,
anno 1669, and his son Dr. Robert Plot, anno 1696;
and there are among others in this church memorials
for the Seagars, Barrows, Napletons, and Allens, all
of whom have been mentioned before.

The church of Borden was part of the possessions
of the priory of Leeds, to which it was appropriated
before the 8th of king Richard Il./f In which situation
it continued at the dissolution of it in the 31st year
of Henry VIII. when it was, together with the other
possessions of the priory, surrendered up into the
king’s hands.

It appears by the bailiff’s accounts in the Aug=
mentation-office, of the revenues of the late priory of
Leeds, that this rectory with the lands in this parish
belonging to it, was then of the annual value of
411. 14s. 5d. Soon after which it was granted by the
king to Greene, but it seems to have been only for a
term, for king Edward VI. in his 6th year, granted it,
with all messuages and woods belonging to it, to Sir
John Norton, of Northwood, to hold in capite by
knight’s service. He alienated it to Margaret Roch,
who died in the 1st year of queen Elizabeth, and was
succeeded in it by Elizabeth her daughter and heir,
whose husband, Robert Colt, possessed it in her right.
She survived him and died possessed of it, in the 13th
year of that reign, at which time it appears to have
been accounted a manor, and to have consisted of a

/f Thorn’s Chron. Decem. Script. col. 2166.
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house called Borden-hall, with its appurtenances, and
three acres of land, with the rectory, tithes, and glebe
belonging to it, in Borden. Her son Roger Colt died
three years afterwards, leaving his widow Mary sur=
viving, who afterwards married John Norris, esq.

His grandson, Sir John Colt, bart. left three sons,
John, Rowland, and Henry, who became entitled to
this rectory and advowson, with the manor and lands
appertaining to it, as coheirs to their father, in gavel=
kind; the eldest son, John Colte, esq. was of Rick=
mansworth, in Hertfordshire, and left an only daugh=
ter and heir, Gentilles, who entitled her husband, Sir
Benjamin Titchborne, (a younger son of Sir Benja=
min Tichborne, bart. of Hampshire) to his undivided
third part of them, and his son Colte Tichborne, esq.
of Woodoaks, in Hertfordshire, (which had been the
antient seat of the Coltes) conveyed it jointly with his
sister Frances in 1743, to Joseph Musgrave, esq.
Rowland and Henry, the two younger sons of Sir John
Colte above-mentioned, in 1676 conveyed their re=
spective thirds to Mr. Charles Seager, gent. of Tun=
stall, whose son and heir of the same name was of
Borden-hall, gent. and dying in 1758, was buried,
with others of his family in this church. They bore

for their arms, Or, a chevron between three mullets,
azure. He devised them by will to his sister Mrs.
Mary Seager, who in 1765 conveyed her two undivided
thirds to Joseph Musgrave, esqg. son of Joseph Mus=
grave, esq. above-mentioned, who having inherited
the other third part from his father, became possessed



of the entire fee of this rectory and advowson, with

the manor of Borden-hall, and the lands and appur=
tenances belonging to it, of which he is the present
owner. Joseph Musgrave, is of Kypier, in the bi=
shopric of Durham, and is descended from Joseph
Musgrave, esq. of that place, the eldest son of George,
the youngest son of Sir Christopher Musgrave, by his
second wife Elizabeth, daughter of Sir John Frank=

79

lyn, which Sir Christopher, by his first wife, was an=
cestor of the present Sir Philip Musgrave, of Eden-
hall, in Cumberland, and of Kempton park, in Mid=
dlesex, bart. and was younger brother of Sir Richard
Musgrave, bart. grandson of Sir Richard, who was
created a baronet anno 9 James I. He bears for his
arms, Azure, six annulets, three, two, and one, or.

The vicarage of Borden is valued in the king’s
books at 8l. 10s. and the yearly tenths at seventeen
shillings. It is now of the yearly certified value of
67l. 14s. Sir John Norton, and Alice his wife, gave
an annuity of forty shillings, to be paid yearly out of
the parsonage, to the vicar of Borden and his succes=
sors. In 1578 there were fifty-three dwelling-houses
in this parish. Communicants one hundred and sixty.
In 1640 it was valued at eighty pounds. Communi=
cants two hundred and seven.

A part of the portion of tithes, already mentioned in
the description of the parish of Stockbury, called Am=
bry Tanton, extends into this parish.

There seems to have been continual disputes be=
tween the abbot and convent of St. Augustine’s, and
the prior and convent of Leeds, relative to the church
of Borden, which at last was finally settled between
them, about the year 1204; the prior agreeing to pay
one marc of silver to the church of St. Augustine.

CHURCH OF BORDEN.

PATRONS,
Or by whom presented. VICARS.

John Norris, esq. in right of Mary
his wife, widow of R. Colte, esq. Richard Parteriche, ind. Feb. 22,
1593, obt. 1611.
The King, hac vice. Thomas Evered, A. M. Feb. 13,
1611, obt. 1619.
Michael Beresford, A. M. June
12, 1619, obt. 1648.
John Colte, esqg. of Rickmansworth John Woodcock, obt. 1657.
Thomas Giriffin, obt. 1670.
Thomas Haines, A. M. Sept. 24,
1670.
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PATRONS, &c. VICARS.

Anne Colte. Thomas Milway, A. B. May 26,
1673, vacated 1690.

The crown, by lapse. William Edward, A. M. Feb. 3,
1690, obt. 1704.

Sir Benjamin Titchborne. John Bland, A. M. 1704, obt.
1710.

Ralph Milway, A. M. May 16,
1710, obt. 1759./g



Mary Seager, of Borden, spinster. John Smith, A. M. April 15,
1760, obt. Nov. 11, 1768.

Joseph Musgrave, esq. Thomas Frank, LL. B. Nov. 30.
1768, obt. 1794./h

William Filmer, A. M. 1794,
the present vicar.

/g He died in the Isle of Scilly, this
vicarage having been sequestered for
the space of twenty-seven years.

/h And vicar of Stockbury by dis=
pensation in 1768, for which he re=
signed the vicarage of Darent.

TUNSTALL

LIES the next parish eastward from Borden. It

is usually called by the common people Dunstall,

a name by which it is not unfrequently described in
antient deeds and writings, and which seems very ex=
pressive of its situation, dun, or dune, in the Saxon
language signifying a hill, and stealle, a place. Indeed
this seems to have been its original name, and the for=
mer, by which it is described in Domesday, a mistake
of the Norman scribes, who frequently, and perhaps
for the purpose, mistook the pronunciation of their
Saxon informers.

THE PARISH adjoins to Sittingborne northward,
whence towards the south it rises to high ground,
among the hills, and to a chalky barren country co=
vered with flints, the southern and eastern boundaries
extending among the woods, those in the latter being
still called from the former owners, Cromer woods.

It is in compass about five miles, and contains near
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nine hundred acres of land, of which about one hun=
dred and forty are wood. The village, with the

church and parsonage, a small modern house, stands
nearly in the centre of the parish, and near them Tun=
stall-house, which though not large, yet has the look
of some respectability. At no great distance from

the church stood the unfinished mansion of the Cro=
mer’s, erected in the beginning of king James the Ist.s
reign, as mentioned before, the materials of it were not
long afterwards purchased by Sir Robert Viner, and
used in the building of his house in Lombard-street,
now the General Post-office, and nothing was left re=
maining but the foundations and vaulted cellars,

which were afterwards known by the name of the
Ruins, and were for many years afterwards the rendez=
vous of thieves and beggars, who at last became so
great a nuisance to the neighbourhood, that these
vaults were blown up with gunpowder, and otherwise
destroyed, to prevent future resort to them. At the
east end of Tunstall-green stands the house built for
Sir John Hales’s son during his minority, in the latter
end of king Charles the Ist’s reign. He afterwards
resided in it, but after the family removed to St. Ste=
phen’s, it was left uninhabited for many years, and in
the late Sir John Hales’s time fell almost to ruins.

It has since been repaired, and being but a mean build=
ing, is let accordingly. About half a mile southward



from hence is Grove-end, the antient habitation of

the Cromer’s, now only a farm-house, but where the
manor-court of Tunstall is still kept; and near a mile
south-eastward Mr. Chambers’s seat at Pistock, a neat
modern built house, situated in a romantic country,
almost surrounded by the woods. In the lower part

of the parish near Sittingborne, is Gore-court, the
house of which has been rebuilt in a costly manner by
Mr. Harpur, and not far from it westward Upton
manor. Almost the whole of the parish, but espe=
cially the lower part of it, must be called unhealthy,
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both as to air and water, and yet the number of in=
habitants in the space of the last two hundred years
have been nearly doubled, for in 1557 the number of
households here were no more than sixteen, and the
parishioners sixty; since which it appears they have
so greatly increased, that in 1757 there were house=
holds twenty, and parishioners one hundred and
seventy.

In 1738 several hundred broad pieces of gold were
dug up in a small wood near the ruins mentioned be=
fore. They were casually discovered by a boy, but
the person who gained possession of them not being
able to keep the secret, he was afterwards obliged to
refund six hundred and twenty four of these pieces to
the crown, though Sir John Hales claimed the whole,
not only as lord of the manor, but from their having
been hid there by his ancestor during the civil wars, the
fact of which was remembered by a person then living,
together with a large quantity of jewels, which latter
has been sought for, but without any success.

In the time of king Edward the Confessor, Tun=
stall was in the possession of Osward, a Saxon, who
probably continued owner of it till the great change
of property made in this kingdom by the Conqueror,
who gave it, with other great estates in this county,
to his half-brother, the bishop of Baieux, under the
general title of whose lands it is thus entered in the
survey of Domesday, taken about the 15th year of
that reign:

In the half lath of Middeltone, in Mildetone hundred,
Hugo de Port holds of the bishop (of Baieux) Tunestelle.
It was taxed at three sulings and an half. The arable
land is four carucates. In demesne there are two, and
nine villeins, with one carucate, and nine servants. Wood
for the pannage of ten hogs, and a salt-pit of twelve-
pence. In the time of king Edward the Confessor, and
afterwards, it was worth seven pounds, now eight pounds.
Osuuard held it of king Edward.
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Four years after which, on the bishop’s disgrace,
the king seized on all his possessions; upon which
Hugo de Port, who before held the manor of Tun=
stall of the bishop, became immediate tenant to the
king for it, as his supreme lord.

Of this family, as lords paramount, it was held in
the reign of king Henry II. by Manasser Arsic, who,
in the 12th year of it, held one knight’s fee, of the old
feoffment, of John, grandson of Hugh de Port be=



fore-mentioned. His grandson John Arsic, married
Margaret, daughter of Richard de Vernun, and died
s. p. about the 7th year of king John'’s reign, leaving
Robert de Arsic, his brother, his heir, who alienated
this manor to Hubert de Burgh, earl of Kent, and
chief justice of England, a man as eminent as he was
unfortunate, who tasted the vicissitudes of fortune
oftener than any other person perhaps within the com=
pass of our English annals. During his continuance
in the king’s favor, in the 12th year of Henry lll’s
reign, he obtained that king’s confirmation of this
manor, among others which he had purchased, to
himself and Margaret his wife, the king of Scotland’s
sister. After which, having, for upwards of sixteen
years, gone through a variety of sufferings, and being
wholly worn out with troubles, he was permitted at
last to enjoy those possessions in peace, which the king
had left him. But he survived this calm only a few
years, and died at Bansted, in Surry, in the 27th year
of that reign, anno 1240; and was buried in the
church of the Friars Preachers, commonly called the
Black Friars, in Holborne, to which convent he had
been a munificent benefactor./i

He left two sons, John and Hubert, and two daugh=
ters, one of whom Margaret married Richard de Clare,
earl of Gloucester. After his death, Margaret his wi=
dow possessed this manor in dower. She died in the

/i See a full account of his life in vol. i. of this history, p. 136.
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44th year of king Henry lll. when, as appears by in=
quisition, her eldest son John de Burgo became entitled
to it, who afterwards obtained a charter of free-warren
for this manor, among others.

He did not enjoy the title of earl of Kent, which
seems to have disgusted him so much, that he attached
himself to the confederated barons; for which he was
pardoned by the general pacification at Kenelworth.
When he died, | find no mention made, but that he
left John his son and heir, who became possessed of
this manor, and died in the 8th year of king Ed=
ward I. anno 1279, leaving three daughters his co=
heirs, of whom Margerie married to Stephen de Pen=
chester, entitled her husband to it, whose second wife
she was./k

He was then warden of the cinque ports, and con=
stable of Dover castle, and the same year that he came
into the possession of the manor of Tunstall, he
claimed, and was allowed, all the usual privileges of a
manor for it. He resided both at Allington and Pens=
hurst, and dying soon after the 31st year of that reign,
left his wife Margerie surviving, who died in the 2d
year of king Edward Il. having been remarried to
Robert de Orreby, by whom she had a son, John de
Orreby, clerk. By the inquistion taken after her
death, at Dunstall that year, she was found to hold
this manor for her life of John de St. John, by knight's
service, and that Joane, the wife of Henry de Cobe=
ham, of Rundale, and Alice, of John de Columbers,
were her daughters and coheirs, by Sir Stephen de
Penchester, her husband.

Alice de Columbers died about the 7th year of



king Edward lll.'s reign, possessed of one moiety of
this manor, and leaving two sons, Sir Philip de Co=
lumbers, and Stephen de Columbers, clerk; but she
seems, sometime before her death, to have passed away

/k See Inquis post mortem ejusdem Margeriee, anno 2 Edward II.
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her moiety to Sir Henry de Cobeham, possessor of the
other moiety, who then became possessed of the entire
fee of it. He died in the beginning of the reign of

king Edward Il. leaving one son Stephen de Cobham,
of Rundale, who was knighted anno 34 Edward /I

In the 7th year of king Edward Ill. Stephen de Cobe=
ham, of Dunstalle, claimed in his manor of Tunstalle,
tumbrell, assize of bread and ale, and free-warren in

all his demesne lands within it, as appears by the pleas
of the crown of that year.

His son John seems to have alienated it to Sir
Walter Manny, who in the 20th year of Edward IIl.
paid aid for it, as one knight’s fee. Sir Walter Man=
ny was an alien born, and was lord of the town of that
name in the diocese of Cambray, and rose to great
honor and preferments by his military atchievements.
He bore for his arms, Or, three chevronels, sable, as
they were painted in one of the windows of this
church. He died in the 46th year of that reign, and
was buried in the monastery of the Carthusians, of
which he had laid the foundation that year. His
death was much lamented by the king and the nation
in general, so that his obsequies were performed with
great solemnity, king Edward and all his children,
with the great prelates and barons of the realm, being
present at them.

He left by Margaret Marshal, countess of Norfolk
and lady of Segrave, as she then stiled herself, who
survived him, an only daughter Anne, the wife of
John de Hastings, earl of Pembroke, son of Law=
rence, earl of Pembroke, who became possessed of
this manor in his wife’s right, and having before
gained great reputation for his valour in France, was
afterwards made lieutenant of Aquitaine; but being
unfortunately taken prisoner by the Spaniards, at the
siege of Rochel, he was kept a prisoner in Spain for

/I See Shorne, vol. iii. of this history, p. 448.
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some years, where he is supposed to have been poi=
soned, for on his release he fell sick in his way home,
before he could reach Calais, and dying anno 49 Ed=
ward lll. and being brought over was buried in the
choir of the Friars Preachers, at Hereford. He was
the first subject who bore for his arms two coats quar=
terly, viz. first, Hastings, and secondly, Valence. His
son bore four coats quarterly, viz. first, Brotherton; se=
cond, Hastings; third, Valence; fourth, as the first./m
He was succeeded in this manor by John his only
son, who was afterwards killed at a tournament at
Woodstock, anno 13 Richard Il. in the 17th year of
his age, being a youth of a noble and most liberal dis=
position, which made his death to be much lamented.
He had, some years before, though so very young,
married Philippa, daughter of Edmund Mortimer, earl



of March, by whom he left no issue, upon which Regi=
nald, lord Grey of Ruthin, was found by inquisition to
be his cousin and next heir of the whole blood, and as
such, at the coronation of king Henry IV. he carried
the great golden spurs; after which, being taken pri=
soner in Wales, by Owen Glendowrwy, he was forced
to obtain the king’s licence for the sale of several of his
manors and lands, to pay his ransom, which being set=
tled for that purpose in feoffees, they soon afterwards
conveyed this manor to John Drue, rector of Harpley,
and John Seymouir, citizen of London, and they seem
soon afterwards to have conveyed it by sale to Sir
William Cromer, or Crowmer, for his name was fre=
quently spelt both ways, citizen and draper of London,
and lord mayor in the years 1413 and 1423, who bore
for his arms, Argent, a chevron engrailed, between three
crows, sable.

He was son of John Cromer, of Aldenham, in Hert=
fordshire, in which county there was a manor of this

/m Dugd. Bar. vol. i. p. 578. Sandf. Gen. Hist. p. 209.
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name; but whether these Cromers had any connection
with it, | find no mention. He married Margaret, one of
the daughters and coheirs of Thomas Squerie, of Sque=
ries-court, in Westerham, and dying in 1433, was bu=
ried on the south side of the church of St. Martin, in
London, in a chapel he had built there./n His widow
afterwards married Robert, lord Poyning.

He was succeeded in this manor by his son and heir
William Cromer, esq. of Tunstall, sheriff in the 23d
year of that reign; but five years afterwards he was
put to death by the rebel Jack Cade, and his followers,
being beheaded as well for his opposition to them, as
on account of his marriage with Elizabeth, the daugh=
ter of the lord Say and Seal, whom they massacred like=
wise in Cheapside, and their heads were fixed by them on
London bridge. Elizabeth his wife surviving him, af=
terwards married Alexander Iden, esq. of Westwell,
sheriff in the 35th year of that reign, who slew the
rebel Cade, the murderer of her former husband. In
whose descendants, resident at Tunstall, this manor
continued down to William Cromer, esq. of Tunstall,
who being afterwards, in the 1st year of queen Mary,
concerned with Sir T. Wyatt's rebellion, he was that year
attainted, and this manor, among the rest of his estates,
became forfeited to the crown, where it remained till
he was restored in blood, as well as in his possessions,
by act of parliament anno 5 queen Elizabeth. After
which he served the office of sheriff in the 9th and 27th
years of that reign, and was a justice of the peace, and
knighted.

Sir William Cromer died in 1598, and was buried
among his ancestors in this church. By his second wife
Elizabeth, daughter of Sir John Guldeford, he left one
son, Sir James Cromer, of Tunstall, sheriff in the 2d
year of king James |. He neglected the antient seat
of the Cromers, at Grove-end, in this parish, and began

/n Strype’s Stow’s Survey, book ii. p. 187.
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building another, about a mile eastward from it; but



undertaking it but just before his death, it was never
finished, and even of what was, there has been nothing
remaining for many years. He died in 1613, and was
buried on the south side of the chancel of this church,
where there is a costly monument erected to his and
his second wife’s memory, with their figures, and those
of his four daughters. He was twice married,; first to
Frances, daughter and heir of John Somers, esq. by
whom he had one only daughter Frances, afterwards
married to Sir Mathew Carew, jun. secondly to the
daughter of Sir Mathew Carew, senior, by whom he
had three daughters.

Upon the partition of the estates of Sir James Cro=
mer among his two surviving daughters and coheirs,
(of whom Elizabeth the eldest, married Sir John Stede,
of Stede-hill) the manor of Tunstall was, among others,
allotted to Christian, the youngest daughter, who car=
ried it in marriage to John Hales, esq. the eldest son
of Sir Edward Hales, knight and baronet, of Ten=
terden. The family of Hales was originally seated at
Hales-place, in Halden, whence they were usually
called at-Hale. Nicholas at-Hale, or Hales, lived
there at the latter end of the reign of Edward Ill. and
left two sons, Sir Robert Hales, prior of the hospital
of St. John of Jerusalem, and lord treasurer; and Sir
Nicholas de Hales, who succeeded to his father’s estates
in this county. His son Thomas de Hales, of Hales-
place, left three sons, the eldest of whom, John, was
ancestor of the Hales’s, of this county, and from the
second son, descended those of Coventry, in Warwick=
shire, and those of Shitterfield, and Newland, likewise
in that county, which two latter are both extinct, and
from the third son those of Essex. John Hales above-
mentioned, the eldest son, was of Hales-place, whose
son Henry married Julian, daughter and heir of Ri=
chard Capel, of Tenterden, by whom he had two sons,
John and Thomas, the latter of whom was A. M. and
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father of Sir Christopher Hales, attorney-general, and
master of the rolls, in the reign of king Henry VIII.
who left three daughters and coheirs. John Hales, the
eldest son, was one of the barons of the exchequer,
and was seated at the manor of the Dungeon, in Can=
terbury, and married Isabella, daughter and coheir of
Stephen Harvy, by whom he had four sons, of whom
Sir James Hales, the eldest, succeeded him at the Dun=
geon; which branch ended in a female, who died s. p.
in the reign of king Charles Il. Thomas, the second
son, was of Thanington, whose descendant Robert was
created a baronet in 1660, and was ancestor of the pre=
sent Sir Philip Hales, bart. Edward, the third son,
was of Tenterden; and William, the fourth son, was
of Reculver and Nackington, and ended in a daughter
and heir Margaret, married to Roger Manwood.

Edward Hales, the third son, of Tenterden, left
two sons; John, the eldest, was of Tenterden, esq.
and married Mary, daughter and coheir of Robert
Horne, bishop of Winchester, but died s. p. Edward
was of Tenterden, and his brother’s heir; and Wil=
liam the third son, was of Chilham, which Edward
Hales, esq. of Tenterden, the second son, was the fa=
ther of Sir Edward Hales, created a baronet in 1611.



He was twice married; first to Deborah, only daugh=

ter and heir of Martin Herlackenden, esq. of Wood=
church, by whom he had four sons, of whom John the
eldest, married Christian, one of the daughters and co=
heirs of Sir James Cromer, as before-mentioned, and

in her right became possessed of the manor of Tunstall,
and other large estates, and Samuel the youngest, mar=
ried Martha, daughter of Stephen Heronden, remar=
ried to William Kenewick, and left an only son Ed=

ward Hales, esq. of Chilston.

Sir Edward Hales, bart. removed his seat from Ten=
terden to Woodchurch, in which parish he possessed
the antient seat of the Herlackendens, in right of his
wife, after whose death he married Martha, daughter of
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Sir Mathew Carew the elder, and relict of Sir James
Cromer, by whom he had no issue, and dying in 1654,
was buried in this church, where there is a handsome
monument erected to his memory, with his effigies in
white marble lying at length on it./o

John Hales, esq. the eldest son of Sir Edward as
before-mentioned, was afterwards knighted, but died
in his father’s life-time in 1639, and was buried in
Tunstall church, leaving a son Edward, then about
thirteen years of age, for whom, during his nonage,
there was afterwards built a house in this parish, at the
east end of Tunstall-green, in which he afterwards re=
sided. He succeeded his grandfather in title and estate
in 1654, but being most zealously attached to the royal
cause, he risqued his fortune as well as his person, in
the support of it; by which means he ruined the for=
mer, and was obliged on that account to abandon his
native country, to which he never afterwards returned,
but died in France soon after the restoration of king
Charles Il. He married Anne, the yougest of the four
daughters and coheirs of Thomas, lord Wotton, who
died in 1654, by whom he had four sons, the eldest,
Sir Edward Hales, bart. in the reign of Charles Il
purchased the mansion and estate of St. Stephens, near
Canterbury, where his descendants have ever since
resided.

He was a person much in favor afterwards with king
James Il. who made him of his privy council, and
lieutenant-governor of the Tower when king James
left Whitehall in 1688, in hopes of escaping into France,
he took with him only three persons, one of whom
was Sir Edward Hales; but the vessel, in which they
were, being discovered, the king was conducted on
shore, with his three attendants, and Sir Edward Hales
being well known, was made prisoner, and afterwards

/o MSS. pedigree of Hales. Kimber’s Bar. vol. i. p. 94, and
vol. ii. p. 60, 99.
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conveyed to the Tower. On his release from whence
he went immediately to France, and was received with
great marks of favor by king James, who created him
earl of Tenterden and viscount Tonstall. He died
there in 1695, and was buried in the church of St.
Sulpice, in Paris, having married Frances, daughter of
Sir Francis Windibank, of Oxfordshire, who died be=



fore him, by whom he had five sons and seven daugh=
ters. Of the sons, Edward, the eldest, was killed at

the battle of the Boyne, in Ireland, and was buried here,
and John became his heir, the others died s. p.

Sir John Hales, bart. his eldest surviving son, re=
sided at his seat at St. Stepens, near Canterbury, where
he died after several years recluse retirement in it, in
1743, having been twice married; first to Helen,
daughter of Sir Richard Bealing; secondly to another
Helen, daughter of Dudley Bagnall, esq. who died at
Luckly, in Berkshire, in 1737.

He left by his first wife, two sons and one daughter
Frances, married to George Henry, earl of Litchfield.

Of the sons, Edward, the eldest, died at Canterbury,
during his life-time, in 1729, and was buried at Tun=
stall, having married the relict of captain Bulstrode,
who survived him, by whom he left a son Edward, who
succeeded his grandfather in title and estate; and John,
who died s. p. By his second wife he left three sons,
James, Alexander, and Philip, who all died s. p,

Sir Edward Hales, bart. succeeded his grandfather
in title and estate, and is the present possessor of the
manor of Tunstall. He married first Mabella, daughter
and heir of Sir John Webb, bart. who died in 1770,
by whom he had one son Edward Hales, esqg. who
married a daughter of Henry Darell, esq. of Calehill,
and three daughters, Anne, Elizabeth, and Barbara;
and secondly, Mrs. Palmer, of Westminster, widow,
by whom he has no issue. He bears for his arms, Gules,
three arrows in pale, or, feathered and bearded, argent.
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A court baron is held for this manor, on the scite of
the antient manor-house at Grove-end. It extends
into the parishes of Bicknor, Bredgar, and Borden.

UFTON is a reputed manor, the house of which
stands at the northern extremity of this parish, next to
Sittingborne. It was antiently the property of the fa=
mily of Shurland. Sir Robert de Shurland, of Shur=
land, in Shepey, possessed it in the reign of Edward I.
having attended that prince into Scotland, to the siege
of Carlaverock, where he was knighted, and in the
29th year of it, he obtained a charter of free warren
for his manor of Ufton.

He left an only daughter and heir Margaret, who
carried it in marriage to William de Cheney, after=
wards of Shurland, who died possessed of it in the 8th
year of king Edward Ill. His descendant Richard
Cheney, of Shurland, left issue two sons, William, who
was of Shurland, and ancestor of the lords Cheney;/p
and Simon, who seems to have inherited the manor of
Ufton. He married Eleonora, daughter and heir of
John Nottingham, of Higham, in Milsted, at which
place his descendants resided. The Cheneys bore for
their arms, Ermine, on a bend, azure, three martlets,
or, and quartered the arms of Shurland, Cralle, and
Nottingham. They continued owners of this manor,
(during which time William Maries resided here in the
reign of king Henry VI. as their tenant; in the 21st
year of which reign he was sheriff, and kept his shriev=
alty here) till John Cheney, esq. of Sittingborne, in
the beginning of king Henry VIII’s reign, gave it in
marriage with his daughter Frances to John Astley,



esq. of Norfolk, the only son of Thomas Astley, esq.
of Hill Morton and Melton Constable, in Norfolk, by
his first wife Anne; by whose second wife was de=

/p See Shurland, in Shepey, and Vistn. co. Kent, anno 1574
and 1619.
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scended Sir John Astley, of Maidstone./q He left by

his first wife, Isaac his heir, and several other children,
but he gave this manor in marriage with his eldest
daughter Bridget, to Walter Herlackenden, descended
from those of Woodchurch, and bearing the same arms.
He afterwards resided here, and in his descendants re=
sident at Ufton, all of whom lie buried in this church,
this manor continued down to Silvester Herlackenden,
who, about the year 1700, conveyed it by sale to Ro=
bert West, gent. who left two daughters his coheirs;

of whom, Mary was married to John Hyde, esq. and
Elizabeth to Samuel Hyde, esq. and the latter and his
wife dying s. p. the whole of this manor became vested
in the former, John Hyde, esq. of Blackheath, who had
two sons, West and John; the eldest of whom, West
Hyde, esq. is now possessed of it.

GORE-COURT is an antient seat in this parish, about
half a mile distant eastward from Ufton, which gave
name to the family who possessed it, called in old wri=
tings at-Gore. Henry at-Gore held Gore-court at his
death in the 31st year of king Edward Ill. His de=
scendants continued possessed of it for several genera=
tions, till at last James Gore sold it to Thomas Roy=
don, of East Peckham, whose son sold it to Mr. Chris=
topher Wood, descended from those of Muston ma=
nor, in Hollingborne. His son Mathew Wood pos=
sessed it on his decease, as did his son Henry, whose
son Christopher Wood, of Gore-court, in 1674, alie=
nated it to Charles Seager, of Tunstall, who dying in
1679, left three sons, Charles, Henry, and William,
and a daughter Jane, who married Mr. John Nether=
sole, of Barham, and they shared this estate among
them. Of the sons, Henry died unmarried, and Wil=
liam parted with his interest in it to his elder brother
Charles Seager, of Borden, who-joining with his sister
Jane Nethersole, widow, conveyed the manor of Gore,

/q See an account of this family, vol. iv. p. 288, 452.
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in 1723, to Edward Mores, clerk, rector of this parish,
descended of a good family, of Great Coxwell, in Berk=
shire. He bore for his arms four coats, Quarterly, first
and fourth, Mores, argent, on a fess couped, gules, be=
tween three heathcocks, gules, a garb, or; second and
third, Rowe, gules, a quaterfoil, or./r He died possessed
of it in 1740, and was succeeded in it by his only son
Edward Rowe Mores, who was of Low Layton, in
Essex, M. A. and F. R. S. and published several tracts
of antiquity and other subjects, and left several in MSS.
unpublished, among which was, the history of this pa=
rish, since published by Mr. Nicholls. He died in 1778.
Before his death he alienated this estate to Mr. Charles
Stanley, who afterwards resided here. He died in

1791, and his heirs sold it to Gabriel Harper, esq. who
rebuilt this seat at a great expence, and served his



shrievalty here in 1795, he continues the proprietor of
it, and now resides at it.

PITSTOCK, usually called Pistock, is a small manor,
situated in the south east part of this parish, adjoining to
Rodmersham, which name has been for some years
changed to that of Woodstock, by the present owner of
it, as being of a more genteel sound.

In the reign of king Edward IV. this manor was in
the possession of William Robesart, of Minster, in She=
pey, who by his will, proved anno 15 Henry VII. de=
vised it to Cicelie his wife, for her life, and afterwards
to the Benedictine nunnery of Minster, in Shepey, for
the use of a solemn obit, and other like services, and it
continued part of the possessions of it till the general
dissolution of religious houses in the reign of king
Henry VIII. in the 27th year of which this nunnery
was suppressed, in consequence of an act passed that
year for the suppression of all such houses, whose clear
yearly revenue did not amount to two hundred pounds.

/r See his life prefixed to his account of Tunstall, published
by Mr. Nicholls.
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This manor becoming thus vested in the crown, the
king granted it two years afterwards to Sir Thomas
Cheney, treasurer of his houshold, to hold in capite by
knight’s service. His son and heir Henry Cheney, esq.
of Todington, in the 13th year of queen Elizabeth,
alienated the manor of Pistocke, and those woods, par=
cel of it, called Mynchyng-wood, to Richard Thorn=
hill, citizen and grocer of London, whose son and heir
Samuel Thornhill, upon his death gave it to his second
son Sir John Thornhill, of Bromley, and his son and
heir Charles Thornhill, esq. in the reign of Charles .
sold it to Mr. James Tong, whose ancestors had been
resident here, and were possessed of lands in this parish
for some generations before, for his ancestor William
Tonge, resided at Pistocke in the beginning of queen
Elizabeth’s reign, as tenant of it. In the visitation of
this county, anno 1619, is the pedigree of Tonge, of
Tunstall; their arms, Azure, a bend cotized, or, be=
tween six martlets of the second. In which name it con=
tinued till at length it was sold to Hayter, and Mr.
William Hayter, gent. resided here, who passed it
away by sale to Abraham Chambers, esq. of Bicknor,
who built a new seat on this manor, at a small distance
north-westward from the old house, in which he after=
wards resided, till he removed to Totteridge, in Hert=
fordshire. He died in 1782, leaving four sons, Samuel,
Abraham-Henry, James, and William, and one daugh=
ter, Anne-Maria-Emely, who married Mr. Foley;
since which, on the sale and division of his estates by
them, this manor is become the sole property of the
eldest son Samuel Chambers, esg. who now resides in it.
TUNSTALL-HOUSE is a seat in this parish, situated at
a small distance southward from the church, which was
for several generations the property and residence of
the family of Grove. It was most probably built by
Mr. John Grove, gent. steward to Sir Edward Hales,
bart. who resided in it, and died in 1678, as did
his grandson John Grove, in 1755, and were both buried
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in this church, bearing for their arms, Ermine, on a
chevron, gules, three escallops, argent. The latter left
by Catherine his wife, daughter of Mr. Pearce, of
Charing, two sons, Pearce and Richard, and a daugh=
ter Anne, married to John Putland, gent. of Stafford,
one of the cursitors in chancery. His two sons before-
mentioned, Pearce Grove and Richard Grove, esqrs.
became entitled to this seat, among the rest of their fa=
ther’s estates, as heirs in gavelkind, and some years ago
joined in the sale of it to the Rev. Thomas Bland, vi=
car of Sittingborne, who afterwards resided here, and
died possessed of it in 1776. He left by Mary his

wife, daughter of Richard Tylden, esq. of Milsted, three
sons, Richard, afterwards in holy orders, who married
Frances-Clara Kempe; Thomas, and Wm. who mar=
ried Elizabeth, since deceased, daughter of the Rev.
Brian Faussett, of Heppington, and two daughters, Har=
riet, married to the Rev. Henry Rowe, of Essex, and
Elizabeth. His widow survived him, and died pos=
sessed of it in 1780, on which it came to their eldest
son the Rev. Richard Bland, who died in 1794, but

it is now made use of for a ladies boarding-school.

There are no parochial charities. The poor con=
stantly relieved are about five, casually thirty.

TUNSTALL is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JURIS=
DICTION of the diocese of Canterbury, and deanry of
Sittingborne.

The church, which is dedicated to St. John Baptist,
consists of three isles and a chancel, to which has been
added a small chapel on the north side of it. It has a
tower steeple at the west end, in which there is a peal
of five bells. In the windows are several coats of arms
of Cromer quartering Squerie, and impaling several
matches, but most of them are much broken and de=
faced. In this church was the burial place of the Cro=
mer’s, as it still is of the family of Hales, and there is
in it a monument and effigies for Sir James Cromer,
and another costly one for Sir Edward Hales, the first
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baronet, anno 1654; an altar tomb of white alabaster,
but without inscription, most probably for one of the
Cromers; a monument with effigies for Robert Cheek,
D. D. 1647, and a cenotaph with a bust, for Edward
Mores, 1740, both rectors; and a monument for John
Grove, esq. 1755; and there are, among others, me=
morials for several of the Cromers, for Margaret Ry=
cil, 1496, and a brass plate for Sir John Guildford,
1595; and another, with his effigies in brass, for Ra=
dulf Wulf, rector, 1525.

The rectory of it was formerly an appendage to
the manor, and continued so till Hubert, earl of Kent,
gave i, in the reign of king Henry Ill. to Richard,
archbishop of Canterbury, which was confirmed by
king Henry lIl. in his 13th year. Since which it has re=
mained, as it does at this time, part of the possessions
of the archbishop of Canterbury.

In 1557 it was estimated at fourteen pounds. Pa=
rishioners sixty. Families sixteen.

It is valued in the king’s books at 14l. 8s. 4d. and
the yearly tenths at 11. 8s. 10d.

In 1640 it was valued at eighty pounds. Commu=
nicants forty-eight; and in 1740 at one hundred and



five pounds, then having about nine acres of glebe be=
longing to it.

CHURCH OF TUNSTALL.

PATRONS,
Or by whom presented. RECTORS.

Christopher Webbe, B. D. obt.
Jan. 7, 1610./s

Robert Cheke, S. T. P. January
18, 1610, obt. July 5, 1647./t

/s He became master of St. John’s
college, Cambridge, and was buried
in the chancel here.

/t A prebendary of Rochester, and
vicar of Hoo. He lies buried in the
chancel here, under an handsome mo=
nument.
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PATRONS, &c. RECTORS.

Robert Dixon, A. M. resigned
1676./u

Robert Dixon, A. M. Dec. 13,
1676, obt. March 1711./w

Edward Mores, collated May 7,
inducted 14, 1711, obt. April
8, 1740./x

Robert Tyler, A. M. collated
May 12, inducted 31, 1740,
obt. June 12, 1766./y

Thomas Pennington, S. T. P.
collated July 14, 1766, the
present rector./z

/u Of St. John’s college, Cambridge,
he was a great sufferer in the royal
cause. After the restoration he be=
came prebendary of Rochester, and re=
signing this rectory, became vicar of
St. Nicholas, Rochester, and D. D.

/w Son of the former.

/x He rebuilt the parsonage-house,
and gave some plate for the service of
the communion. He was buried at
Walthamstow, though there is a ce=
notaph for him on the north side of
the chancel here, with a bust of him.
See more of him before, as owner of
Gore-court, in this parish.

/y And vicar of St. Lawrence, in
Thanet, where he resided,

/z One of the six preachers in Can=
terbury cathedral, and rector of Kings=
downe, by dispensation, in 1766.

BREDGAR.

OR Bradgare, as it was sometimes spelt, is the next
parish southward from Tunstall.

ALTHOUGH the road from Sittingborne to Holling=
borne-hill, and thence to Maidstone, passes through it



and the village of Bredgar, it is rather an unfrequented
place, lying obscurely among the hills, and bounding
eastward to the woods. It contains near 1300 acres of
land, of which one hundred are wood-grounds. The
village, which stands on high ground, nearly in the cen=
tre of the parish, having the church and college, or
chantry in it, is a healthy and not unpleasant situation,
being surrounded mostly by pasture grounds, but the
remaining part of the parish is very hilly, the soil poor
and chalky, and much covered with flints, being rather
a dreary country. At the entrance of the village there
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is a good house, inhabited for many years by the Beales,
the last of whom, Mr. John Beale, of Bredgar, dying

s. p. in 1769, gave this among his other estates, among
his relations, and this house is now owned by his sister’s
son, Mr. Pattison; a little distance from hence is a
modern fronted house, belonging to the Rev. Mr.

Marsh, rector of Bicknor, who resides in it.

The plant Dentaria Major Metthiolo, or the greater
toothwort, is mentioned by Mr. Ray, as found by him
in this parish.

THE PARAMOUNT MANOR of Milton claims over
this parish, as do the subordinate manors of Tunstall and
Bobbing likewise over some part of it.

IT APPEARS by antient records, that there was a family re=
sident in this parish, who took their name from
it. Robert de Bredgar, resided here in the reign
of king Henry lll. whose name appears in an antient
roll of the benefactors to the monastery of Davington,
and bore for their arms, Argent, a bend, gules, fretty,
azure, between two lions rampant of the second; and in
the reign of king Richard Il. Robert de Bredgar,
clerk, parson of this parish, founded a chantry or col=
lege in the church here, as will be further mentioned
hereafter.

BEXON, or Baxton, is a manor, situated in the south=
ern part of this parish, which gives name both to a bo=
rough and street in it.

It was antiently in the possession of a family, which
assumed its surname from it; one of whom, John de
Bexon, was residen there in the reigns of Edward .
and Ill. whose effigies was formerly painted in the win=
dows of this church, with a scroll underneath. But in
the next reign of king Richard Il. this manor was be=
come the property of the family of Tong, who were of
some account in different parts of East-Kent, as well as
in this neighbourhood; for it appears by some antient
deeds, that Semanus de Tong, in the 16th year of that
reign, was tenant to the Maison Dieu, in Ospringe, for
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lands at Lorinden, in Challock, and sealed with a bend
cotized, argent, between six martlets, gules, in which
name this estate continued down to John Tonge, gent.
who about the latter end of the reign of king Charles I.
alienated it to Mr. Thomas Fearne, who bore for his

arms, Per bend, gules, and or, two leopards heads, coun=
terchanged. One of his descendants, Mr. John Fearne,
passed it away by sale to Mr. Thomas Best, of Chat=
ham, whose grandson, Thomas Best, esq. of Chilston,
dying in 1795, s. p. gave it by his will, among his other



estates, to his youngest nephew, George Best, esq. now
of Chilston, who is the present possessor of it./a
SWANTON-COURT, now vulgarly called Swan court,
is a manor likewise in the southern part of this parish,
adjoining to Bicknor, which was formerly part of the
possessions of the eminent family of Leyborne, of Ley=
borne, in this county, in which it continued till Juliana,
daughter of Thomas, and heir of her grandfather Wil=
liam de Leyborne, dying s. p. by any of her hus=
bands, all of whom she survived, this estate in the 41st
year of king Edward lll. escheated to the crown,
there being no one found, who could claim it, as heir
to her; and it remained there till the king, in his 50th
year granted it, among other premises, to the abbey of
St. Mary Graces, on Tower-hill, then founded by him,
part of the possessions of which it remained till the dis=
solution of that monastery, in the 30th year of king
Henry VIII. when it was surrendered up into the king’s
hands, together with all the lands and revenues belong=
ing to it.
Soon after which, the king granted this manor to
Ralph Fane, esq. who as quickly afterwards parted
with it to Sir Thomas Wyatt, who in the 33d year of
that reign passed it away to the king, in exchange for
other estates, pursuant to an act passed for that purpose
the year before.

/a See more of the Bests, vol. v. of this history, p. 410.
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This manor thus coming into the king’s hands, he
granted in his 38th year, to Christopher Sampson, esq.
to hold in capite by knight’s service, who in the 5th
year of king Edward VI. alienated it to Thomas Rea=
der, of Bredgar, yeoman, and he having levied a fine
of it in the 16th year of queen Elizabeth, afterwards
sold it to William Terrey, who in the reign of king
James |. partly by sale, and partly on account of al=
liance, settled it on Mr. William Aldersey, descended
from an antient family of that name settled at Aldersey,
in Cheshire, who bore for their arms, Gules, on a bend,
argent, three leopards heads, vert, between two cinque=
foils, or; in chief, a crescent, within a crescent, for dif=
ference./b He married Thomasine, daughter of Mr.
Roger Terrey, and their descendants continued to re=
side here, till at length Hugh Aldersey, esq. dying in
1762, s. p. his heirs-at-law alienated it about the year
1767, to John Toke, esq. late of Goddington, in
Great Chart, but now of Canterbury, who continues
at this time the owner of it.

MANNS is an estate in this parish, which was formerly
accounted a manor, and took its name from a family
who were possessors of it; one of whom, John Mann,
died possessed of it in the 50th year of Edward lII.
when it was found by inquisition, that he held it of the
king, in capite, by knight's service, and that Joane was
his daughter and next heir. How it passed afterwards
| have not found; but the next that | find it in the
possession of, is the family, of Isley, one of whom, Tho=
mas Isley, possessor of this manor, left five daughters
and coheirs, viz. Mary, married to Francis Spelman;
Frances, to William Boys, esq. Elizabeth, to Anthony
Mason, esq. Anne, to George Delves, esq. and Jane,



to Francis Haute, esq. After which, Francis Spelman,
and Mary his wife, in 1583, alienated their fifth part to
Robert and Thomas Whytfield, and their heirs male.

/b Vistn. co. Kent, 1619, pedigree of Aldersey.
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In the reign of king James |. William Hales, esq. of
Nackington, was possessed of the principal messuage
called Manns, with the lands belonging to it, and in
1640, together with his son William Hales the
younger, passed it away by sale to Tho. Godfrey the
younger, of Lid, esq. who seems to have parted with
it to Clarke, whose family was possessed of lands here
some time before this, for Humphry Clarke, alias
Woodchurch, of Bredgar, esqg. grandson of Humphry
Clarke, of Kingsnoth, resided here in the reign of king
James |. and dying in 1608, was buried in the north
isle of this church, bearing for his arms, Paly, wavy of
six pieces, ermine, and gules./c He alienated it to Rea=
der, who bore for his arms, Three crescents, on a canton,
a lion’s head erased, all within a bordure, ermine, in
whose descendants it continued down to Mr. John Rea=
der, who died possessed of it, and his heir-at-law alie=
nated it to Mr. James Chapman, gent. of Milton, the
youngest son of Edward Chapman, esq. of Molash, and
his grandson James Chapman, esq. is the present pos=
sessor of it.

In the 16th year of king Richard Il. Robert de
Bradgare, rector of this church, John Burbache, clerk,
and others, founded, with the king’s licence, A CHAN=
TRY or SMALL COLLEGE in this church of Bredgar, in
honor of the Holy Trinity, which consisted of a chap=
lain or secular priest, in holy orders, and two scholar
clerks or confreers, who were to govern it, and cele=
brate divine officers, continually there in future, ex=
cepting at those times when the scholars should be em=
ployed in their studies: and they endowed it with dif=
ferent houses, rents, and lands, in this and the adjoining
parishes, to hold to them and their successors for ever;
and in 1398 the above-mentioned Robert de Bradagare,
with the consent of archbishop Arundel, who then con=
firmed this foundation, gave them, under his seal, rules

/c See Vistn. co. of Kent, 1619, pedigree of Clarke.
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and statutes, for the better government of it. At which
time there appears to have been a building already
erected, called the college, for them to reside in, almost
adjoining to the church of Bredgar.

In which situation this chantry or hospital conti=
nued, till the reign of king Henry VIII. when it was
surrendered up with all its possessions, into the king’s
hands. Soon after which the scite of it, by the name
of the chantry house of Bredgar, with sundry premises
belonging to it, in Bredgar, Borden, and Bicknor, was
granted by the king to George Harpur, esq. who af=
terwards, in the 33d year of that reign, exchanged it
with the king for other estates in this and other coun=
ties. After which it seems to have remained in the
hands of the crown, till queen Elizabeth, in her third
year, having taken into her hands several manors,
lands, &c. parcel of the see of Canterbury, by her let=



ters patent that year, granted to archbishop Parker,

and his successors, several rectories, parsonages, and
other premises, in lieu of them, among which was this
dissolved college of Bredgar, then valued at 13I. 6s. 8d.
Since which it has continued parcel of the possessions
of the archbishopric, and remains so at this time. The
tenths payable to the crown receiver from this dissolved
chantry are 1I. 17s. 73d.

William Sherman, esq. was lessee in 1643, at the
yearly rent of 131. 6s. 8d. Edward Jeffrey is the pre=
sent lessee, he new fronted and much improved the
chantry-house, in which he resides.

CHARITIES.

THREE TENEMENTS and sixty-five perches of land, at the
Bush, in Silver-street, in Bredgar, let to the overseers at 20s.
per annum. was given for the repair of the church. One acre
and an half of land in Hinkins croft, let at 12s. was given for
the like purpose. A small piece of land, called the Playstool, let
at 2s. 6d. per annum, was given for the like purpose.

AN ANNUITY of 10s. per annum was given for the use of
the poor, to be paid out of a field called Whitebread, at Deans-
hill, which now belongs to Messrs, Thomas and William May.
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AN ANNUITY of 20s. was given by Mr. Humphry Clarke,
for the use of the poor, payable out of a house in Bredgar-
street, belonging now to the heirs of Edward Chapman, gent.

WILLIAM TERRY, gent. by deed anno 17 James I. granted
to Francis Clarke, and others, 31. per annum out of a house
called Black-end, and an orchard belonging to it, and a piece
of land called Mascalls, all in Bredgar-street, in trust, to be
distributed among the poor inhabitants.

MR. THATCHER, citizen of London, in 1718 gave by deed
100l. which with that of 30l. added to it by the parishioners,
was laid out in lands at Torry-hill, containing twenty-eight
acres, lying in Milsted and Lenham, which were purchased in
trust, for the minister and churchwardens to pay from thence
51. per annum, for a master or mistress to reach eight poor
children of this parish to read, and to instruct them in the
church catechism; the overplus to be distributed to the poor
of the parish. The children to be appointed by the minister;
now of the annual produce of 6l. 10s. 4d.

The poor relieved constantly are about twenty-five; casually
forty.

BREDGAR is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JU=
RISDICTION of the diocese of Canterbury, and deanry
of Sittingborne.

The church is dedicated to St. John Baptist. It
consists of three isles and one chancel, and has a square
beacon tower at the west end, in which hang five bells.
On the west side of the tower there is a fine Saxon
door-case, with zig-zag ornaments; on the capitals of
the pillars are carved two heads of a very ludicrous
form. By the injudicious digging of a vault for Mrs.
Murton of this parish, in 1791, two of the columns
gave way, and the main arch between the body and
chancel came down, but this damage has been since
repaired.

In this church there are several memorials for the
Tongs, and Fearnes of Bexon, particularly of John
Fearne, obt. 1713; of the Readers, as late as 1705.



In the north isle a monument for Humphry Clarke,
alias Woodchurch, esq. obt. 1608. Memorials of the
Alderseys, of Swanton, particularly of Hugh Aldersey,
obt. 1762, and Mary Thurston his wife. In the church-
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yard, at the east end of it, are several tomb-stones of
the Beales and Thurstons. There is a very antient
tomb-stone near the south porch, on which was once a
portrait in brass, on the east end of the stone there is
carved a cross in relief.

King Henry Ill. gave this church in pure and per=
petual alms, to the leprous women of the hospital of
St. James, alias St. Jacob, at the end of Wincheap,
near Canterbury, so that Mr. Firman, then master of
it, should enjoy it for his life, but there was no vicarage
endowed in it till archbishop Courtney, in the 15th
year of king Richard Il. endowed one in it.

After which this church appropriate, as well as the
advowson, continued part of the possessions of the hos=
pital, till the surrendry of it in 1551, anno 5 king Ed=
ward VI. at which time there appeared to be a manor
called

FILCHER, alias FILTER, belonging to the rectory
of Bredgar appropriate; all which, together with the
advowson, seem to have remained in the hands of the
hands of the crown, till queen Elizabeth granted them
to Thomas Reader, who possessed them in 1578. He
afterwards sold them to Mr. William Terrey, who in
the reign of king James |. passed them away to his
kinsman, William Aldersey, of Swanton-court, in
whose descendants they continued till Hugh Aldersey,
esq. of Bredgar, about the beginning of George Il.’'s
reign, alienated them to Mr. John Tappenden, whose
son, of the same name, sold them to Sir Edward Der=
ing, bart. of Surrenden, whose son Sir Edward Dering,
bart. is the present owner of this manor and rectory,
with the advowson of the vicarage of the church of
Bredgar.

In 1578, the communicants here were one hundred
and fifty-five. Houses in this parish fifty. In the reign
of queen Anne, the vicarage was worth thirty pounds
per annum.
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It is now a discharged living in the king’s books, of
the clear yearly certified valued of thirty-six pounds, the
yearly tenths of which are eighteen shillings.

John atte-Vyse, one of the founders of the college,
in 1398, ordained, that each year in future for ever,
after his death, on the feast of the Holy Cross, there
should be paid to the vicar of Bradgare, for the obla=
tions of that day, six-pence; to the keeper to the
goods of the church here, six-pence; to the parish-
clerk and sacrist, four-pence, and 5s. 4d. to the poor
parishioners of Bredgar.

CHURCH OF BREDGAR.

PATRONS, &c.
Or by whom presented. RECTORS.

Robert de Bredgate, in 1398./d
VICARS.



William Terrey, gent. of Bredgar Simon Seaman, A. M. July 15,
1595, obt. 1622.

John Lane, A. M. January 17,
1622.

Nathaniel Windsmore, obt. 1670.

Thomas Aldersey, gent. Edward Darbie, A. B. Feb. 20,
1670.

The crown, by lapse. Thomas Conway, A. M. Feb. 1,
1689.

Thomas Aldersey, gent. Edward Polhill, clerk, Sept. 24,
1690.

The crown, by lapse. Robert Elwicke, A. B. Sept. 16,
1699, obt. 1722.

William Aldersey, gent. Richard Tysoe, A. M. Sept. 20,
1722, resigned 1744.

John Tappenden. Richard Laurence, A. M. ind.
April 2, 1745, obt. August,
1772./e

Sir Edward Dering, bart. William Gurney, A. M. Nov.
21,1772, resigned 1780./f

Thomas Scott, B. A. March 15,
1780, obt. 1794./g

Charles Cage, 1794, the present
vicar.

/d Principal founder of the college
here.

/e In 1763, by dispensation, vicar
of Lenham likewise.

/f Rector of Badlesmere with Leve=
land, and afterwards rector of Lud=
denham.

/g A younger son of Edward Scott,
esq. of Scotts-hall.
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MILSTED

IS the next adjoining parish south-eastward from
Bredgar. It lies on high ground, obscurely among the
hills, and surrounded by woods, there being no tho=
roughfare of any account through it; the situation is
not much different from that of Bredgar adjoining to
it. The parish is but small, containing about eight
hundred acres of land, of which about fifty are wood.
The soil in the upper or southern part is poor, con=
sisting partly of chalk, and partly of a red cludgy earth,
the whole of which is much covered with flints; in the
centre and northern part it is something more fertile
and kindly for tillage. The church stands nearly in
the middle of the parish, having the mansion of Hog=
shaws almost adjoining the east end of the church-yard,
at the west part of which the parsonage stands. At no
great distance from hence northward, in the vale, is all
that there is of a village in the parish; near the south-
east boundary is Torry-hill, belonging to Mr. Osborne
Tylden, who resides in it; near the western boundary
is Broadoak forstall, and the hamlet called from it.
On this forstall there stands a remarkable large juniper
tree, being near fifteen feet high, and near eight feet
before it has any branches,

THE MANOR OF MILTON claims paramount over the



greatest part of this parish, subordinate to which is
THE MANOR OF MILSTED, which in the beginning of
the reign of Edward I. was in the possession of Tho=
mas Abelyn, who died possessed of it in the 4th year
of that reign, then holding it as one messuage, and one
carucate and an half of land, in Milsted, and pasture
for three hundred sheep in the marsh of Elmele, of

the king, in capite, by knight’s service. He was suc=
ceeded in it by Nicholas Abelyn, who died two years
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afterwards, holding it by the like service. Soon after
which it appears to have come into the possession of
the family of Savage; one of whom, John le Sauvage,
obtained a grant of free-warren in the 23d year of the
above reign, for his lands in Milsted and other places;
but before the 20th year of king Edward Ill. this

name seems to have been extinct here; for at the
making the black prince a knight, the heirs of John
Savage paid aid for this manor. Indeed, it seems from
the beginning of that reign, to have been in the name
of Mocking,/h from which it passed into that of Hog=
geshaw, and Elmeline, late the wife of Sir Thomas
Hoggeshaw, died in the 50th year of it, possessed of
the manor of Milsted, held of the king in capite, as one
knight’s fee.

Their son Edmund Hoggeshaw, succeeded to the
possession of it, which had now, from their continuing
owners of it, acquired the name of Milsted, alias Hog=
geshaws, by which it has been known ever since. He
died in the 12th year of king Richard Il. s. p. upon
which Joane, one of his sisters and coheirs, entitled
her husband, Thomas Lovel, esq. to it, whose son
Thomas, in the 12th year of king Henry IV. held a
court for this manor; one of his decendants sold it to
Robert Greaves, who died in the 9th year of king
Henry VII. holding it in manner as above mentioned,
Katherine, wife of George Sole, being his daughter
and next heir. Soon after which, it became the pro=
perty of Roger Wake, who died in the 19th year of
king Henry VII. when this manor, with the advowson
of the church of Milsted passed by his will to Margaret
his daughter, whose husband, John Barnard, esq. en=
tered into the possession of it. At length his grandson
of the same name, dying an infant in the 14th year of
king Henry VIII. it became vested, by the limitations
in the will of Roger Wake above-mentioned, in his

/h See Rot. Esch. anno 10 and 46 Edward .
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right heirs, who conveyed their interest in it to Sir
Thomas Nevyle, and he passed it away by sale to Sir
Robert Southwell, who in the 4th year of Edward VI.
passed away, by fine then levied, the manor of Hogge=
shaws, alias Milsted, and the advowson of the church
of Milsted, then held of the king in capite, to Thomas
Henman, senior, and his heirs. His son, Alan Hen=
man, of Lenham, in the 12th year of that reign, sold

it to Thomas Thomson, of Sandwich, jurat, for the

use of Agnes, his daughter, who entitled her husband,
John Toke, gent. of Goddington, to the possession of
it. She survived her husband, and by her will in 1629,



devised it to her eldest son Nicholas Toke, esq. of
Great Chart, who in 1631, anno 7 Charles |. passed
away both manor and advowson to Edward Chute, esq.
of Bethersden, whose son George had married Eleanor
Toke, his eldest daughter, and he anno 9 Charles .
conveyed it by fine then levied to Richard Tylden,

gent. of Great Chart, and William Tylden, then an
infant, his son. The family of Tylden had antiently
possessions in the parishes of Brenchley, Otterden, Ken=
nington, and Tilmanstone, in this county; one of them
William Tylden, paid aid for lands in this county, in

the 20th year of king Edward Ill. In the reign of

queen Elizabeth, a branch of them was settled in the
parish of Wormsell, one of whom, William Tylden,

died there in 1613. His direct descendant, Richard Tyl=
den, esq. of Great Chart, who bore for his arms,

Azure, a saltier, ermine, between four pheons, or, pur=
chased this manor and advowson as above-mentioned,
whose eldest son William Tylden, gent. was of Hog=
geshaws, as was his son Richard, who dying in 1763,
was buried with his ancestors in the Tylden chancel, in
this church. By Elizabeth his wife, daughter of Tho=
mas Osborne, esq. of Hartlip, he left one son Richard-
Osborne, and three daughters, Hannah married to Ed=
ward Belcher, of Ulcomb; Mary to Thomas Bland,

clerk, and Philippa, who died unmarried. Richard-
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Osborne Tylden, esq. succeeded his father in this
estate, and left his widow surviving (who re-married
the Rev. Edward Smith, rector of Milsted, and died

in 1776) and by her four sons, Richard, of whom
hereafter; Osborne, of Torry-hill, esq. in this parish,
who married the only daughter of John Withins, esq.
of Surry; the Rev. Richard Cooke, rector of Mil=

sted and Frinsted, and Manby May; and one daughter
Elizabeth married to Mr. Valyer Baker, surgeon, of
Sittingborne. Richard Tylden, esq. succeeded on his
mother’s death to the possession of this manor, and now
resides here; he married Miss Catherine Rolfe, of
Ashford, who died in 1783.

The last court held for this manor, being a court-
baron, was in the year 1632.

HIGHAM-COURT, now usually called Great Higham,
is @ manor in this parish, which was antiently the pro=
perty of a family of the name of Nottingham, whence
it acquired, as appears by antient writings, the name of
Nottingham-court.

They resided at Bayford, in Sittingborne, so early
as the reign of king Edward |. Robert de Notting=
ham, owner of this estate in the reign of Edward IlI.
was sheriff in the 48th year of it, and kept his shriev=
alty at Bayford, in which year he died, and was found
at his death to hold lands in Doddington, Tenham,
Milsted, Tong, Bredgar, and Sittingborne, all which
descended to his only son John Nottingham, who died
s. p. leaving his daughter his sole heir, who marrying
Simon Cheney, of Cralle, in Sussex, second son of Sir
Richard Cheney, of Shurland, he became entitled to
this manor. The Nottinghams bore for their arms,
as Philipott says, Gules, two pales wavy, argent; which
coat, impaled with Cheney, was in one of the windows
of Milsted church. On the roof of the cloysters of



Canterbury cathedral, are carved the arms of Notting=
ham, Gules, on a bend, argent, three escallops, azure;
but of what kindred to these of Milsted, | have not
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found. In his descendants this manor continued down
till Richard Cheney, esq. and his son John, in the year
1676, joined in the conveyance of it to Mr. Thomas
Lushington, of Sittingborne, whose great-grandson, the
Rev. Mr. James Stephen Lushington, is the present
owner of this manor./i

CHARITIES.

JOHN WIATT, of Milsted, by will in 1722, gave a moiety
of several pieces of land in Milsted, Frinsted, and Wormesell,
containing about twenty acres, towards the teaching of four
poor children of this parish to read and write, vested in the mi=
nister and churchwardens, and of the annual produce of 2I. 4s.

There are five alms-houses belonging to this parish, on the
eastern side of it, next to Kingsdown.

The poor constantly relieved are about nine; casually forty.

MILSTED is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JURIS=
DICTION of the diocese of Canterbury, and deanry of
Sittingborne.

The church, which is dedicated to St. Mary and the
Holy Cross is but small, and consists of one isle and one
chancel, with a low square tower at the west end of it,
in which hang three bells. On the north side is another
small chancel, belonging to the Tyldens, in which many
of them lie buried. On the south side there was ano=
ther chancel, belonging to Higham-court, which was
pulled down, by the mutual consent of the proprietor
and parishioners in 1672.

In the church-yard, near the south porch, there is a
very antient tomb-stone, having on it a cross botony,
fitchee, carved in relief.

The church of Milsted was given by king John to
Wydon the clerk, who held it, as appears by the Testa
de Nevill, in the next reign of king Henry lll. Whe=
ther he was lord likewise of Milsted manor | have not
found; but from the next reign of king Edward I. to
the present time, this church seems to have had the

/i See more of the Lushingtons under Rodmersham.
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same possessors, and as such, the advowson of it is now
the property of Richard Tylden, esq. of Hoggeshaws.
In 1578 there were fifty-five communicants. In
1640 eighty-seven, when it was valued at fifty pounds
per annum.
It is a discharged living in the king’s books, of the
clear yearly certified value of forty four pounds, the
yearly tenths being 17s. 6d. The glebe land consists
of only three acres.

CHURCH OF MILSTED.

PATRONS,
Or by whom presented. RECTORS

John Toke, of Great Chart. William Potter, A. M. Nov. 25,
1595, obt. 1619.
John Toke, gent. John Toke, A. M. February 2,



1619.
Richard Tylden, clerk, obt.
1688.
William Tylden, gent. of Milsted. William Batcheller, clerk, June
16, 1688.
William Batcheller, 1720, obt.
1748./k
Richard Tylden, esq. Richard Osborne Tylden, A. B.
April 1, 1748, obt. Dec.
1766.
Edward Smith, LL. B. March
10, 1767, obt. 1786./I
Rich. Cooke Tylden, A. M. Apr.
11, 1787, the present rector.

/k He was rector of Frinsted, like=
wise.

/I And rector of Frinsted, by dis=
pensation in 1779.

KINGSDOWN

LIES next eastward from Milsted, and is usually
called Kingsdown, next Sittingborne, to distinguish it
from a parish of the same name near Farningham.

It is situated obscurely among the hills, on high
ground. The parish is very small, containing only six
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hundred acres of land, of which one half are wood.
The lands in it are very poor, chalky, and much co=
vered with flints; the church stands nearly in the
centre of the parish, the woods are very thick through=
out it, especially on the east and west sides; near the
former is a hamlet called Dungate-green, and not far
from it a good modern house, built by Mr. Stephen
Allsworth, whose son John leaving an only daughter
Anne, she carried it in marriage to Mr. Thomas

Howe. Mr. Lushington Taylor now resides in i t.

THE MANOR OF KINGSDOWN, in the beginning
of the reign of king Henry Ill. was part of the pos=
sessions of Hubert de Burgo, earl of Kent, who, on
his foundation of the hospital of St. Mary, otherwise
called the Maison Dieu, in Dover, gave this manor
to it. After which, anno 14 Edward |. the master of
the Maison Dieu obtained a grant of free-warren for
his lands here, among others.

In which situation this manor remained till the dis=
solution of the hospital, in the reign of Henry VIII.
when it was surrendered up, with all its possessions,
into the king’s hands. After which, the manor of
Kingsdown seems to have remained in the hands of
the crown, till king Edward VI. in the last year of
his reign, granted it, among other premises, to Sir
Thomas Cheney, to hold in capite by knight’s service,
who in the 1st year of queen Mary, sold it to Tho=
mas Finch, gent. who seems to have resided at Kings=
down at that time, as tenant of the manor under the
master and brethren of the Maison Dieu. He was
descended from John Finch, the second son of Vin=
cent Herbert, alias Finch, of Netherfield, in Sussex,
whose eldest son William was ancestor of the several
branches of this family, of the name of Finch, eno=



bled by peerages at different times, whose arms he
likewise bore. John, the second son, above-men=
tioned, married Elizabeth, daughter and heir of Ri=
chard Seward, of Sewards, in Linsted, of which seat
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he became possessed in her right, and afterwards re=
sided there. He died in 1442, and was buried at Se=
vington. His grandson John Finch, of Linsted, left
two sons; Herbert, who was of Linsted, from whom
descended those of Linsted, Norton, Faversham,
Wye, and other places, and Thomas Finch, who pur=
chased this manor of Kingsdown as above-mentioned./m
He died anno 3 and 4 Philip and Mary, 1555. After
which it continued in his descendants who resided
here, down to Thomas Finch, esq. who dying s. p.

by his will bequeathed the manor itself, and part of
the demesnes belonging to it to his brother’s daughter
Judith Finch, who carried it in marriage to John
Umfrey, esq. of Darent, who bore for his arms, Gules,
across botony, argent, charged with five pellets; from
whom it descended down to Finch Umfrey, gent. of
Dartford, who married Elizabeth, daughter of Mr.
John Jarvis, of Dartford. He died without issue,

and at his death gave this manor, with the part of the
demesnes before mentioned, to his widow, who died
in 1781, and by her will, which had been made near
twenty years before her death, devised it to her next
heirs, which at the time of her death were two per=
sons named Brook, uncle and nephew, as coheirs in
gavelkind, and they joined in the sale of it in 1782,

to Mr. Thomas Smith, gent. of Dartford, upon whose
death in 1787, it came by his will to his nephews,
Thomas, William, and George Smith, since which it
is become vested in Mr. Thomas Williams, gent. of
South Darent, the present possessor of this manor
and estate. A court leet and court baron is held for
this manor.

BUT THE REST OF THE DEMESNES of this manor,
which comprehended by far the greatest part of them,
were sold by one of the Finch’s to the family of Bar=
tholomew, of Oxenhoath, in which name this estate

/m Vistn. co. Kent, 1619, pedigree of Finch.
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remained till one of them sold it to Cockin Sole, esq.
of Bobbing, who died in 1750, and was succeeded in
it by his son John Cockin Sole, esq. afterwards of
Norton-court, who some years afterwards passed it
away by sale to Mr. Evans, who is the present pos=
sessor of it.

There are no parochial charities.

The poor constantly relieved are about ten,
and casually twenty-five.

KINGSDOWN is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JURIS=
DICTION of the diocese of Canterbury, and deanry of
Sittingborne.

The church, which is dedicated to St. Catherine,
is a very small mean building, consisting of one isle
and one chancel; there is a tomb of Bethersden mar=
ble in the chancel, with a brass plate against the east
wall, erected to the memory of Thomas Finch, gent.



though buried at Chichester, anno 1555, and to that
of his son Ralph Finch, esqg. who lies buried near it,
a great benefactor to this church, obt. 1591. At the
west end there is a small turret, with one bell. This
church has always been an appendage to the manor,
and continued as such, till after the death of Mrs.
Elizabeth Umfrey, when her two heirs at law, and
devisees under her will, of the name of Brook, sold it
in 1782 to Thomas Pennington, D. D. late rector

of this church, who is the present possessor of it.

In 1640 this rectory was valued at fifty pounds per
annum. Communicants thirty six. It is now of the
clear yearly value of sixty pounds.

It is a discharged living in the king’s books, of the
clear yearly certified value of forty five pounds, the
yearly tenths of it being ten shillings and eleven-
pence.
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CHURCH OF KINGSDOWN.

PATRONS,
Or by whom presented. RECTORS.

Ralph Fynche, esq. Laurence Collinson, Sept. 20,
1581, obt. 1623.

The King. Christopher Batcheler, A. M. Oc=
tober 30, 1623./n

Nathaniel Godden, resigned ......

Thomas Finch, esq. Richard Tylden, clerk, March
10, 1661.

Thomas Allen, obt. 1668.

William Slaughter, A. M. Feb.
16, 1668, obt. 1699./0

Edmund Barrel, A. M. May 31,
1700, resigned 1712./p

Thomas Allen, A. M. 1717, ob.
Dec. 17,1732./q

Finch Umfrey, esq. Tobias Swinden, May 31, 1733,
obt. March 1754./r

Elizabeth Umfrey. William Gardiner, B. D. pre=
sented April 1754, obt. May
1754.

Thomas Pennington, D. D. July
27,1754, resigned 1786./s

Thomas Pennington, D. D. Thomas Pennington, A. M. 1786,
the present rector./t

/n In 1627, by dispensation, vicar
of Tong.

/o He lies buried in Frinsted church.

/p Afterwards vicar of Sutton at
Hone and of Boxley, and prebendary of
Rochester.

/q Also rector of Murston.

/r And vicar of Lamberhurst.

/s And rector of Tunstall by dispen=
sation.

/t Son of the patron.

RODMERSHAM.

NORTH-EASTWARD from Kingsdown lies
Rodmersham. It lies at a mile southward from Bap=



child-street and the high Dover road, on high ground,
the church being plainly seen from it. It contains
about 1050 acres of land, of which not more than
seventy-five are wood. The village, which is built
straggling along the road, having the church in it,
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has at the lower or northern part of it two or three
pretty modern houses; at the opposite end of it is

New house, which has been for some years tenanted by
the Taylors; at the south-east corner of the parish is
the hamlet of Upper Rodmersham, and on the western
side that of Rodmersham-green, which joins to a long
tract of woodland, called Minchin wood. The land

in the lower or northern part of this parish is rich and
fertile for corn, and is let at a high rent, but higher up
among the hills it becomes chalky and light, and

much of it very poor. It is not an unpleasant situa=
tion, and considering its nearness to a very unwhole=
some country, is not so unhealthy as might be ex=
pected.

THE PARAMOUNT MANOR of Milton claims over
it, subordinate to which is

THE MANOR OF RODMERSHAM, which was an=
tiently the inheritance of the family of De la Pine,
whose seat of residence was at Easthall, in the neigh=
bouring parish of Murston.

John de la Pine was possessed of it in the 20th year
of the reign of king Henry lll. as appears by private
evidences, whose grandson James de la Pine, about
the latter end of king Richard Ils reign, sold it to
John de Podach, descended originally from John de
Podach, who held lands of his own name in Devon=
shire in the reign of king Henry Ill. as appeared by
an antient pedigree of this family. His descendants,
possessors of this manor, from being usually called Por=
dage, at length wrote their names so. The antient
arms of which family were, Argent, a fess chequy, or,
and gules, in chief, three cross-croslets, sable; but this
John Pordage altered the fess to plain sable, in which
form his descendants have borne it ever since.

His descendant Sir William Pordage, as well as his
ancestors, resided at Rodmersham, where he rebuilt
the manor-house in the reign of king James |. naming
it New-house, at whose request in 1615, the pedigree
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of Pordage was drawn up from old evidences, by John
Philipott, Somerset herald, by which it appears that
he bore for his arms six coats, Pordage, Crowland,
Gourly, Belton, Gisors, and Barrow; all which, ex=
cept the first and last, were borne in right of the heir
of Crowland, and in one of the windows of Faversham
church were painted the arms of Pordage, impaling
Crowland./u He died s. p. and was succeeded by his
brother and heir Thomas Pordage, esq. who resided
here. His grandson William Pordage, or Porridge, as
the name was then usually called, about the begin=
ning of queen Anne’s reign alienated it, with the seat,
and all the rest of his estates in this parish and neigh=
bourhood, to Stephen Lushington, esq. of Sitting=
borne, whose father Mr. Thomas Lushington, had
been in the possession of them under a mortgage term



for some years before. He was the son of Mr. Augus=
tine Lushington, gent. of Sittingborne, who bore for
his arms, Argent, a fess engrailed, gules, between three
lions heads erased, or. Of whose family was Thomas
Lushington, a noted scholar of his time, born at
Sandwich in 1589, and afterwards educated at Ox=
ford, and preferred to a prebend of Salisbury, &c.
He wrote several books, a list of which the reader will
find in Wood’s Ath. Oxon. At length retiring in his
latter days to his relations at Sittingborne, he died
there in 1661, and was buried in the south chancel of
that church, having had a handsome monument, with
his bust on it, set up to his memory, by his kinsman,
Thomas Lushington, esq. of Sittingborne, whom he
by will made heir to all he had.

Mr. Stephen Lushington was twice married, and
left issue by both his wives, by his second he had se=
veral children, the eldest surviving son of whom was
Henry, vicar of East Bourne, in Sussex, and D. D.

/u Among the Harleian MSS. in the British museum, is a pe=
digree of the family of Pordage, No. 14384.
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who left several children, of whom Henry, was mas=
sacred in the East Indies, and Stephen was a proctor
of Doctors Commons.

Thomas Godfrey Lushington, esq. of Sittingborne,
the only son of Stephen, by his first wife, succeeded
him in this estate, and afterwards resided at Canter=
bury, where he died in 1757, and was buried at Sit=
tingborne, having had by his first wife Dorothy,
daughter of John Gisborne, esq. of Derbyshire, three
sons, Thomas, who died before him unmarried; Wil=
liam, a captain in the army, who died unmarried in
1763; and James-Stephen, now in holy-orders; and
likewise two daughters, Dorothy, who died unmar=
ried, and Catherine, married to John Cockin Sole,
esqg. At his death he gave this manor, with the seat
of New-house, and the rest of his possessions in this
parish, to his second surviving son, the Rev. James-
Stephen Lushington, of Bottisham, near Cambridge,
who is the present possessor of them.

The Rev. Mr. Lushington is a prebendary of Car=
lisle, and has been twice married; first to Mary, one
of the daughters of Edmund Law, lord bishop of
Carlisle, who died in 1768, having had by her two
sons and one daughter; and secondly to Mary, daugh=
ter of the Rev. Mr. Christian, of Norfolk; by whom
he has three sons and two daughters.

There are no parochial charities. The poor con=
stantly relieved are about twenty, casually fifteen.

RODMERSHAM is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JU=
RISDICTION of the diocese of Canterbury, and deanry
of Sittingborne.

The church, which is dedicated to St. Nicholas,
consists of three isles and two chancels; the southern
chancel belongs to the family of Lushington, as lords
of the manor, in it are several memorials for the fa=
mily of Pordage. In the high chancel are four seats,
with a kind of wooden canopy over them; perhaps
made use of for the knights of St. John, when they
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visited their estate here. At the west end is a hand=
some tower steeple, built of squared flint, very neat,
and of much superior masonry to the rest of the
church. There are four bells in it. In the east win=
dow of the high chancel are these arms remaining,

A cross, between four mullets; there was likewise, anno
1719, a scrole remaining in the windows of William
Somptere and John Cheynestere, who had been good
benefactors to this church. In the south chancel is a
brass plate for William Pery, 1482.

A person unknown gave one acre of woodland to
beautify the church, now of the annual produce of
twelve shillings.

King Henry Il. gave the church of Rodmersham
to the hospital of St. John of Jerusalem, which was
confirmed by king John in his 1st year.

About which time an agreement was entered into
between Alanus, prior of the hospital, and the chapter
of it, and the abbot and convent of St. Augustine’s,
near Canterbury, that when their chapel of Rodmer=
sham should be dedicated, and the cemetery conse=
crated, they granted to the abbot and the convent,
that they would diminish none of the rights of the
mother church of Milton, one of which was, the bu=
rial of housekeepers, male and female,/w of Rodmer=
sham, at Milton, which should never be withdrawn
by them, and that neither in that, nor in any thing
else, they should sustain any injury, &c./w

After which, this church was appropriated by the
prior and chapter of the hospital, to their preceptory
established in the parish of West Peckham; in which
state it continued till the general dissolution of the
hospital, in the 32d year of king Henry VIIl. when
this order of knights being suppressed, by an act spe=
cially passed for the purpose, their hospital, with all its

/u Husbondus et Huswifa in orig.
/w This instrument is in the archives of Christ-church, Can=
terbury. Regist. of St. Augustine, cart. 514.
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lands and revenues, was given by it to the king.
After which the fee of the rectory of Rodmersham,
with the advowson of the vicarage, seems to have re=
mained in the crown, till the king, in the 36th year
of his reign, granted it, with its appurtenances, to
John Pordage, esq. of this parish, to hold in capite
by knight's service. Since which they have continued
with the manor down to the Rev. James-Stephen
Lushington, the present owner of them.

In 1640 the vicarage was valued at thirty pounds
per annum. Communicants one hundred.

It is a discharged living in the king’s books, of the
clear yearly certified value of thirty pounds, the tenths
of it being 16s. 8d.

CHURCH OF RODMERSHAM.

PATRONS,
Or by whom presented. VICARS.

William Pordage. John Mills, Sept. 10, 1580, ob.
1610.

William Bramiche, A. M. July
31, 1610.



William Jewell, obt. 1640.
Sir Ralph Whitfield, king’s ser=
geant at law. James Wilkin, A. M. April 4,
1640.
The crown, by lapse. Thomas Conway, A. M. February
1693, obt. 1713.
Stephen Lushington, esq. Charles Holway, A. B. March
14, 1713, resigned 1714.
John Swanne, A. M. Dec. 11,
1714, obt. 1722.
The Archbishop. John Seale, A. M. January 4,
1722, resigned 1751.
Thomas Godfrey Lushington, esq. James Allet, A.M. Oct. 21,
1751, obt. 1776.
James-Stephen Lushington, clerk Thomas Edmundson, Oct. 25,
1776, obt. Oct. 23, 1797.
Wilfrid Clark, A. M. April 5,
1798.
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BAPCHILD

IS the next parish northward from Rodmersham.

It was antiently written Beccanceld, which name an=
swers well to its situation, signifying in the Saxon lan=
guage, one that is both moist and bleak.

IT IS a situation equally unpleasant as it is un=
healthy, lying most part of it low, the water bad, and
the air unwholesome from the noxious vapours arising
from the marshes at no great distance northward
from it. The village, called Bapchild-street, con=
taining about twenty houses, (one of which in the
middle of it is the vicarage, a small but neat modern
building, and at the east end of it, adjoining to the
same side of the road, in a kind of orchard, are the
remains of the old chapel, which will be further
mentioned hereafter, a small remnant of the walls of
which, composed rudely of flints, are all that are left
of it, being part of a barn, the remainder of the walls
of which are built up with brick) stands on the high
Dover road, about forty-one miles and an half from
London, having the church at a small distance south=
ward from it, whence the land rises gently to the
southern boundaries of it, next to Rodmersham, ad=
joining to which part of it, about a mile from the
London road, though partly in Tong, there is a house,
called Wood-street-house, built about the year 1776,
by Mr. John May, of Sittingborne, who resided in
it, and died in 1778, leaving a son John, and a daugh=
ter Anne, since married to Mr. Ambrose Russell.

It is now occupied by Mr. Edward Matson.

There is an antient and allowed fair held in the
village, on the feast of St. Laurence, now by altera=
tion of the style on August 21, for toys, pedlary, &c.
the profits of which belong to the lord of Milton
manor.
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The land in this parish, as well as the neighbouring
ones, near the high road from Sittingborne as far as
Boughton-street, is a fine loamy fertile soil, which,
though it extends but a small way southward of the



road, yet it continues equally fertile on the lower or
northern side of it, quite to the marshes.

The greatest part of this tract of land, is what in
these parts is usually called round tilt land; being land
that is continually tilled, without being made fallow,
with the same succession of grain, viz. barley, beans,
and wheat, year after year; of the latter of which in
particular, the burthen is usually four or five quarters
per acre, and the usual annual rent of the land 20s.

a very considerable rent, considering the great bur=
then of parochial taxes, and the high rate of servants
wages in this part of the county. These expences oblige
the landholder to make the most of his land, and not

to suffer it to be lessened by hedge-rows and small in=
closures, by which means most of the farms are thrown
into two or three, or perhaps only one field, several of
which contain sixty, seventy, one hundred acres, or
more, and this makes the country more open and
champion than the other parts of this county usu=

ally are.

In the year 694, Withred, king of Kent, con=
vened A GREAT COUNCIL of the nobility and clergy,
in which he presided, and in which archbishop Brit=
wald was present, at Becanceld, or Bapchild, as it is
supposed to mean, by several learned men, among
which are Camden, Dr. Plot, and Mr. Johnson, of
Cranbrooke. Some few indeed have supposed it, from
the similitude of the name, to have been held at Beck=
enham, at the western extremity of this county; but
Bapchild has full as much similitude of name, espe=
cially as one copy writes it Bachanchild; and its being
situated in the midst of the county, close to the high
road, and so near to Canterbury, makes it much more
probable to have been held here.
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The constitution of this council, by which several
privileges were granted to the church, was drawn up
in the form of a charter; and in so great esteem were
the abbesses, for their prudence and sanctity, that
there are the names of five subscribed to it, not only
before the priests, but before Botred, a bishop, con=
trary to all precedent; which makes the genuineness
of this charter much suspected.

Dr. Stillingfleet seems to think this was the first
charter among the Saxons that was ever made. |If so,
all shewn, as granted before that time, must be spu=
rious and counterfeit. However that be, he says, the
year of the christian aera was never applied before that
time to any public ones./y

There are yet part of the walls of an oratory remain=
ing, near the high road on the north side of it, almost
at the east end of Bapchild-street, which is by some
supposed to have been erected in memory of the cele=
bration of this council, and in later times was made use
of by the pilgrims, who, on their journey to Canter=
bury, to the shrine of St. Thomas Becket, here of=
fered up their prayers for the success of their pil=
grimage.

Another council was afterwards said to have been
held at Beccanceld in 798, by archbishop Athelard
in which, Kenulph, king of Mercia, presided; but
both these are supposed, by some, to have been spu=



rious, the latter especially, and the former was thought
to be so by the late archbishop Wake, as may be seen
in his treatise on the state of the church.

Under the descriptions of Lenham and Newington,
mention has already been made of the Roman station,
called Durolevum, lying on the road from London to
Dover; and the opinions of our learned antiquaries,
where that station was. Camden’s Continuator is the

ly See Spelman’s Councils, vol. i. p. 189. Wilkins’s Coun=
cils, vol. i. p. 56, 57, 158, 162.
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only one, that | have seen, who has even made a con=
jecture of its having been here at Bapchild, which he
founds on the distance of it, and the convenience of

its situation on the high road from Rochester to Can=
terbury, as well as from its having been a place of such
consequence in the Saxon times, as to have a British
council held at it.

THE PARAMOUNT MANOR of Milton claims over
this parish, as being within that hundred, subordinate
to which is

THE MANOR OF BAPCHILD-COURT, which was
antiently part of the possessions of the family of Sa=
vage, seated at Bobbing in this neighbourhood; one
of which, Arnold, son of Sir Thomas Savage, died
possessed of it in the 49th year of king Edward IlI.
and was succeeded in it by his son and heir Sir Ar=
nold Savage, of Bobbing, who died in the 12th year
of king Henry IV. leaving one son Arnold, and a
daughter Elizabeth, who on her brother’s death s. p.
became his heir, being the wife of William Clifford,
esq. who became entitled to this manor among the
rest of her inheritance, and in his descendants it con=
tinued till Henry Clifford, esq. of Bobbing, in the be=
ginning of queen Elizabeth’s reign, alienated this ma=
nor to William Coting, who not long afterwards passed
it away to Mr. John Bix, of Linsted, who afterwards
resided at Bapchild-court, bearing for his arms, Vairy,
argent, and azure. In whose descendants this manor
continued down to William Bix, who sold it to Lark=
ham, whose son the Rev. William Larkham, of Rich=
mond, about the year 1757, alienated it to Mr.
Thomas Matchin, of London, whose widow after=
wards possessed it, since which it has been the pro=
perty of John Fuller, esq. who has built a new house
on it, and continues the present owner of it.

There is no court held for this manor, nor has been
for many years.

MORRIS-COURT is a manor here, which lies at a
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small distance eastward from that last-described. It
was formerly the property of a family of the same
name, which seems to have been extinct here before
the end of king Henry IV.’s reign, when it was alie=
nated to Brown, and at the latter end of Henry Vl.s
reign, it was in the possession of Sir Thomas Brown,
treasurer of the king’s houshold, who married Elea=
nor, daughter and coheir of Sir Thomas Fitzalan,
alias Arundel, brother of John Fitzalan, earl of Arun=
del, by whom he had the castle of Beechworth, in



Surry. He had by her five sons, of whom Sir George
Brown, the eldest, was of Beechworth-castle, and in=
herited this manor.

In the 1st year of king Richard llIl. he fell under
the king’s displeasure, and a proclamation was issued
for apprehending him among others, for aiding and as=
sisting that great rebel the late duke of Buckingham,
as he was termed in it; and an act passed that year
for his attainder, in consequence of which, all his
estates were confiscated to the crown, and the king
granted a commission to one Roulande Machelle, to
take possession for him in the manor of Morise, in the
parish of Babechilde, late belonging to Sir George
Browne, attainted,/z who died before the end of that
reign; for in the 1st year of king Henry VII. another
act passed for the restoration of his heirs, as well in
blood as in estates.

How long this manor continued in his descendants,
| have not found; but most probably it was alienated,
in the reign of queen Elizabeth, by Sir Thomas
Brown, of Beechworth-castle, to Wolgate, of a family
which had been seated at Wolgate, now called Wil=
gate-green, in Throwley, for some generations. From
this name it passed into that of Kempe, and from thence
to Thomas Tilghman, descended of a younger branch
of those of Snodland, in this county, and he quickly af=

/z See the commission, Harl. MSS. No. 433 1685-1698.
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terwards sold it to John Caslock, of Faversham, who
as well as his father had been mayor of that town. In
the grant of arms made to him by William Segar, esq.
garter, dated in 1614, his name is written Castelock,
and it is recited in it, that his ancestors came into Kent
on account of their uncle, who was the lord abbot of
Faversham. From him this manor was sold to Mr.
Robert Master, gent. descended of ancestors who had
for several generations been inhabitants of the same
town, and bore for their arms, Argent, on a bend be=
tween two cotizes, sable, a lion passant-guardant of the
field, crowned, or; who passed it away to Mr. John
Knowler, of Faversham, in whose descendants it conti=
nued down to John Knowler, esq. recorder of Can=
terbury, steward of the town of Faversham, and bar=
rister at law. He died possessed of it in the year 1763,
leaving by his wife Mary, daughter and heir of Mr.
Russell, of Hawkhurst, who survived him, and died in
1782, two daughters his coheirs, of whom Anne, the
eldest, married Henry Penton, esq. of Winchester, and
Mary, the youngest, to Henry Digby, lord, afterwards
earl of Digby; and they joined afterwards in the con=
veyance of it to Mr. Thomas Gascoigne, the present
owner, who resides in it.

PETTS-COURT, antiently called Potts-court, is ano=
ther manor in this parish, the mansion of which has
been long since in ruins. It was part of the possessions
of the priory of Dartford, and is inserted in the list of
the revenues of it, in a writ ad quod damnum brought
against the prioress, in the 11th year of Edward IV.

In which situation this manor remained till the disso=
lution of the priory, in the reign of king Henry VIII.
when it was surrendered up into the king’s hands, with



all its lands and possessions; after which the manor of
Petts-court, alias Pettis-court, seems to have remained
in the crown till king Edward VI. in his last year,
granted it, among other premises, to Sir Thomas Che=
ney, treasurer of his houshold, to hold in capite, by
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knight’s service, whose only son and heir Henry Che=
ney, of Todington, together with Jane his wife, alie=
nated it, together with the wood, called the Lord’s
wood, in Milsted, anno 14 Elizabeth, to Richard Thorn=
hill, grocer and citizen of London.

After which, Sir Henry Cheney, then lord Cheney,
of Todington, granted and made over to him all li=
berties, franchises, royalties, and all other privileges
within this manor, among others which were claimed
by Mr. Thornhill, and judgment was given for him by
the barons of the exchequer, on a trial had in Mi=
chaelmas term, in the 17th year of that reign./a

In his descendants this manor continued down to
Richard Thornhill, esq. of Ollantigh, who in the 4th
year of queen Anne, anno 1704, having obtained an
act for that purpose, sold it to Jacob Sawbridge, of
London, late one of the directors of the South Sea
company, who died in 1748, and his great-grandson,
Samuel-Elias Sawbridge, esq. of Ollantigh, in this
county, is the present owner of it.

The house of this manor having been long since
ruinated, the barns and lands belonging to it have been
for some years let with Radfield, adjoining to it.

RADFIELD is a hamlet in this parish, lying on the
high Dover road, about half a mile distant eastward
from the village of Bapchild. The principal estate in
which, of that name, was in the reign of Henry 1.
part of the possessions of Adam de Tanges, who gave
the moiety of it to the brethren of the hospital of St.
John of Jerusalem.

After which, Gamerius de Neapoli, prior of that
hospital, with the common consent of his chapter, by
deed in 1190, under their common seal, granted to
Turstan de Bakechild, and his heirs, their land in Kent,
given to them as before mentioned, together with the

/a Rot. 81 in Scacc. ex parte Remem. Thesaurarii. See Coke’s
Entries, p. 109.
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whole service of their tenants residing there, and all
its appurtenances, which Roger de Wurmedal held,
to hold at the yearly rent of six marcs and an half of
silver, for all services belonging to it; and further,
that he and his heirs should maintain one chaplain
and a priest, who on each Sunday should celebrate
mass; and should preserve the edifices built at this
chapel in a proper state for the reception of him and
his brethren, when they made a progress into Kent;
with liberty of re-entry on non-payment, &c.

How this estate passed afterwards | do not find;
but it was in later times part of the possessions of the
Thornhills; from which family it passed, in like man=
ner as Petts-court before-described, in the 4th year of
queen Anne, from Richard Thornhill, esq. to Jacob
Sawbridge, of London, whose great-grandson Samuel



Elias Sawbridge, esq. of Ollantigh, is now entitled to it.
THE FREE CHAPEL before-mentioned, seems to
have continued as such, till the general suppression of
such religious endowments, by the act passed in the

37th year of Henry VIII. and the 1st of Edward VI.
In the latter of them, on a survey taken of it, the re=
turn was, that the chapel was fallen down, that the
founder was not known, and that the revenue of it
consisted of a tenement, and two pieces of land, in
Bapchild, then worth forty-two shillings per annum,
beyond reprises: all which were sold by the general
surveyors of the court of augmentations, in the 2d
year of that reign, to Thomas Grene, esq./b After
which it became the property of Bix, and afterwards
of Bateman. John Bateman owned it in the reign of
king James |. and was succeeded by his son of the
same name, who by his will devised it to Mr. John
Bateman, of Wormesell, and he possessed it at the

/b Survey of Chantries, Augtn. off In the year 1553, there
was remaining in charge the pension of 2I. 19s. 9d. to John
Mothram, the late incumbent of the free chapel of Radfeld.
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restoration of king Charles Il. Since which it has been
alienated to the family of May, in which it has conti=
nued to the present time.

CHARITIES.

MR. WILLIAM HOUSSON gave by will in 1783, for the in=
structing of the poor children of the parishes of Tonge, Murs=
ton, and Bapchild, to read and write the English language, in
money 200I. the interest of it to be equally divided between
those parishes, vested in the 4 percent. consolidated annuities,
which sum was transferred next year to the incumbents of the
three parishes, who are the present trustees; it is now of the
annual produce of 10l. 13s. 6d.

BAPCHILD is within the ECCLESIASTICAL JURIS=
DICTION of the diocese of Rochester, and deanry of
Sittingborne.

The church is dedicated to St. Laurence. ltis a
small building, and by the size and capitals of the pil=
lars and other parts of it, appears to be of some anti=
quity. It consists of two isles and two chancels. In
the south chancel is a brass plate for John Kendall
and Margaret his wife, anno 1529. The northern
chancel, formerly belonging to Bapchild-court, has
been deserted by the owners of it for many years, and
is now repaired by the parish. The steeple, which
stands on the south side of the church, has a tall spire
on it, covered with shingles. It has but one bell in it.

It appears by the Testa de Nevil, that in the time
of king Richard . this church was part of the posses=
sions of the crown, and was given by that king to one
master Oliver: what interest he had in it, or how long
he continued possessed of it, is not mentioned; but
king John, in his 5th year, at the instance of Simon
de Wells, granted to the church of Chichester, and
him and his successors, bishops of Chichester, this
church which was of his gift, with the lands and
woods, and all other its appurtenances, to hold in free,
pure and perpetual alms, to the endowment of that
church, as he had promised at the dedication of it.
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After which it seems to have been allotted to that
part of the revenue of this church, which was for the
maintenance of the dean and chapter of Chichester,
to whom the church of Bapchild was appropriated by
archbishop Weathershed, in 1229,/¢c and they now
continue owners of the parsonage, and the advowson
of the vicarage of it, the former of which is demised
by them on lease from time to time, but the latter
they reserve to themselves.

There is a pension of forty shillings yearly, payable
to the vicar from the dean and chapter of Chichester,
by the endowment above mentioned.

In 1640 this vicarage was valued at fifty pounds
per annum. Communicants sixty-five. In the reign
of queen Anne, the communicants were eighty-two.

It is now a discharged living in the king’s books,
of the clear yearly certified value of twenty-seven
pounds, the yearly tenths of it being sixteen shillings.

This vicarage has been augmented by queen Anne’s
bounty, with which some land in this parish has been
lately purchased.

CHURCH OF BAPCHILD.

PATRONS,
Or by whom presented. VICARS.

Dean and chapter of Chichester George Jetter, Feb. 26, 1593,
obt. 1600.
Richard Kitson, jun. A. B. va=

cated 1605.

John Marson, A. B. Sept. 9,
1605.

The King, by lapse William Branch, A. M. Nov.
24, 1606.

Dean and chapter of Chichester Francis Skinner, A. M. May 2,
1626.

The crown, by lapse William Sale, A. B. March 14,
1689.

John Goodyer, A. M. Sept. 1,
1697, resigned 1709.

/c Ducarel’s Repertory, p. 2, wherein these instruments are said to be among
the Lambeth MSS.
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PATRONS, &c. VICARS.

Dean and chapter of Chichester Thomas Morland, A. B. Sept. 19,
1709, resigned 1716.
The crown, by lapse George Thompson, Nov. 7, 1716,
obt. 1744.
William Marsh, July 17, 1751,
resigned 1759./d
Dean and chapter of Chichester Samuel Bickley, Oct. 23, 1759,
deprived 1764./e
Thomas Gurney, A. B. March 9,
1764, resigned 1765./f
Charles Allen, inducted May 10,
1765.
Edward Penry, Nov. 7, 1765,
obt. March 7, 1798.

/d He was also rector of Bicknor. /e Deprived by the archbishop in 1764.



He assumed the title of baronet whilst vicar here. /f See Seasalter.

TONG.

NORTHWARD from Bapchild lies Tong, called
in the Saxon language Thwang, which took its name,
by antient tradition, from the following circumstance:
After the arrival of the Saxons in this kingdom,
and their victory over the Scots and Picts, at Stam=
ford, in Lincolnshire, Vortigern, king of Britain,
highly satisfied with the conduct of the two Saxon
chiefs, Hengist and Horsa, expressed himself very de=
sirous of rewarding them for their services; when
Hengist requested, as a pledge of the king’s affection,
only as much land as an ox-hide could encompass;
which being readily granted, he cut the whole hide
into small thongs, and inclosed within them a space of
ground, large enough to contain a castle, which he
accordingly built on it, and named it from thence
Thwang-ceastre, i. e. Thong-castle; whence the parish
itself afterwards took its name.
Writers differ much in the situation of this land,
Camden, and some others, place it at Thong castle,
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near Grimsby, in Lincolnshire, others place it at Don=
caster; whilst Leland, Kilburne, Philipott, and others,
fix it here, with the same old trite story to each place,
which rather casts a shew of doubt on the whole of it.
Indeed it seems but an imitation of Virgil’s story of
Dido’s building of Byrsa, Aneid 1, |. 369, where,
speaking of that queen and her companions, he says,

Devenere locos, ubi nunc ingentia cernes
Mceenia, surgentemque novee Carthaginis arcem.
Mercatique solum, facti de nomine Byrsam,
Taurino quantum possent circumdare tergo.

They came where now you see new Carthage rise,
And yon proud citadel invade the skies.

The wand’ring exiles bought a space of ground
Which one bull-hide inclos’d and compass’d round,
Hence Byrsa nam'd.

This castle was most conveniently situated for Hen=
gist’s purposes, close to the great high road on the one
side, and not far distant from the water, called the
Swale, on the other, through which it is supposed,
the usual passage was for the shipping, between the
main land and the Isle of Shepey, in former times.

At this castle, Hengist, some years afterwards, led
on by his unbounded ambition, resolved to attain that
by fraud and treachery, which he could not accom=
plish openly by force of arms. Accordingly, there
being a good understanding between the Britons and
the Saxons, he invited Vortigern, the British king,
whose attachment to pleasure he was well acquainted
with, to a splendid entertainment at this castle, who,
unsuspecting the treachery, attended the summons,
being accompanied by three hundred of his chief no=
bility, unarmed, who were all of them, towards the
end of the feast, perfidiously massacred by the Saxons,
Vortigern only being spared, and detained as a pri=
soner, who was at last forced, as a ransom for his li=
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berty, to surrender up to the Saxons a large tract of
land, which Hengist added to his former territories.

This happened in the year 461, and Vortigern being
set at liberty, retired into Wales. It was at a feast
held at this castle in 450, that the story is told of
Vortigern’s being so enamoured with the beauty of
Rowena, Hengist’s daughter, that he repudiated his
wife, and married her, and in recompence to Hengist,
gave him up the sovereignty of Kent. That such a
marriage did take place, is very certain; but the story
of the king’s falling in love with her at such a feast
here, and the circumstances of it, are not much cre=
dited. Indeed Bede and Gildas mention nothing of
it, and Malmsbury tells it only as a report.

THE HIGH DOVER ROAD crosses the centre of this
parish, at the eastern boundary of Bapchild, just be=
yond Radfield. It extends on the southern side of it
as high up as Kingsdown, in which part of the parish
are the estates of Newbarrow and Scuddington, and
part of Wood-street; on the northern side of the road
it extends to the marshes, which are bounded by the
waters of the Swale, flowing between the main land
and the Isle of Elmley, in Shepey. It contains about
1300 acres of land, of which not more than ten acres
in the southern part of it are wood; that part of the
parish on the northern side of the road is a flat and
low country, almost on a level with the marshes, and
is equally unhealthy as Bapchild, perhaps more so, even
to a proverb, as lying lower, and rather more exposed
to the marsh vapours; however the lands are exceed=
ingly fertile for corn, being the same kind of round
tilt land which extends along this plain. There is no
village, the church stands about a mile northward
from the road; the scite of the old castle is three
fields only from the north side of the road, and is
plainly seen from it. It consists of a high mount,
containing about half an acre of ground, thrown up
out of a broad and deep moat, which surrounds it,
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the north-west part of which is nearly dry, but the
springs which rise on the south-west side of it, and for=
merly supplied the whole of it, now direct their course
into a very large pond on the eastern side of the moat,
and produce so plentiful a supply of water there, as to
afford sulfficient to turn a corn-mill, belonging to the
lord of the manor, and afterwards flow from hence
northward into the Swale; a large cutlas sword, with

a buckhorn handle, was dug up within the scite of

this castle about thirty years ago.

There was formerly an hospital situated in this pa=
rish. Leland in his Itinerary says, ‘There was a poor
hospital a mile beyond Sittingborne, called Pokeshaulle.
King Henry the Vllth gave it to Linche, his physi=
cian, and Linche gave it to a son of his, | suppose.

It is now (that is in king Henry the VIlIth.'s reign)

quite down.” This is, | should suppose, the same

house mentioned in the Harleian MSS. where there is a
commission signed by Richard Ill. in his 1st year for
suffering Arnold Childre, to occupy the almoux house
beside sittingborne, which the king had given to him



for life. Queen Mary, in her 4th year, granted this
hospital of St. James, of Puckleshall, late in the te=
nure of Richard Newton, to Sir John Parrot.

There was a family of good account formerly,
which took their name from this parish. Semanus at
Tong was so considerable a man, that is the 21st
year of king Richard II. he lent the king twenty
pounds, no small sum in those days. He possessed
lands at Bredgar, Tonstall, and other places in this
neighbourhood and elsewhere, and at Bredgar, his
descendants remained till within memory.

THE CASTLE OF TONG, most probably fell to ruin
during the time of the Saxon heptarchy, and, with
THE MANOR OF TONG, came in that situation into
the hands of William the Conqueror, on his obtain=
ing the crown, who gave both castle and manor to his
half-brother Odo, bishop of Baieux, among other
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great possessions; accordingly it is thus described in
the book of Domesday, under the general title of the
bishop’s lands:

The same Hugo (de Port) holds of the bishop (of
Baieux) Tangas. It was taxed at two sulings. The ara=
ble land is two carucates. In demesne there are two, and
five villeins with one carucate. There is a church, and
four servants, and one mill of eight shillings. Wood for
the pannage of four hogs.

In the time of king Edward the Confessor, and after=
wards, it was worth seven pounds, now ten pounds. Os=
ward held it.

Of these sulins, which Hugo de Port held, Osward
held five, at a yearly rent; and three sulins and one yoke
and an half, which he took from the king’s villeins.

On the bishop’s disgrace about four years after=
wards, the king confiscated all his possessions, and this
estate among them probably reverted to the crown,
and was afterwards held by the above-mentioned
Hugh de Port, who then became the king’s imme=
diate tenant for it, being held by him as two knight’s
fees, parcel of the fourteen knight’s fees and a quar=
ter, of which all, but two, which were in Hereford=
shire, lay in this county, making up together the ba=
rony of Port, being held by barony of the castle of
Dover, by the service of performing ward there for the
defence of it. Of his descendant John de St. John,
this manor was again held in the 22d year of king Ed=
ward |. by Ralph Fitzbernard, who died in the 34th
year of king Edward I. leaving a son Thomas, who
died s. p. and a daughter Margaret, married to Gun=
celin de Badlesmere, whose son Bartholomew de Ba=
dlesmere at length succeeded to this manor and castle,
as part of his mother’s inheritance.

He was a man much in favor with king Edward II.
who made him constable of the castle of Leeds, Tun=
bridge and Bristol, and granted to him the manors
and castles of Chilham and Leeds, with several other

137

estates in this county and elsewhere; besides which,
he obtained many liberties and franchises for his dif=
ferent manors and estates, among which was a grant



of a fair to be held yearly at this manor, on the eve,
day, and morrow, after the feast of St. Giles the ab=
bot, and also for free-warren in the demesne lands of
it. Being afterwards executed for rebellion in the 16th
year of that reign, this estate became forfeited to the
crown, but in the 2d year of king Edward Ill. the
process and judgment against him being reversed, the
manor of Tong, among others, were then restored to
his son Giles de Badlesmere, who died in the 12th
year of the same reign, s. p. so that his four sisters be=
came his coheirs,/g and upon a partition of their inhe=
ritance, this manor fell to the share of his third sister
Elizabeth, then the wife of William Bohun, earl of
Northampton, who in her right became entitled to it,
holding it by the like service as before-mentioned.

Though he left issue by her, yet this manor did
not descend to them, but to the issue of her first hus=
band Edmund Mortimer, by whom she had one son
Roger, who, in the 28th year of that reign, had ob=
tained a reversal in parliament of the judgment given
against his grandfather Roger, late earl of March, as
erroneous and utterly void; upon which he thence=
forth bore the title of earl of March.

His son and heir, Edmund Mortimer, earl of March,
died possessed of it in the 5th year of Richard Il. be=
ing then possessed of the toft of the castle of Tong,
together with the castle annexed to the said toft, with
the manor appurtenant to it, held of the king in ca=
pite, as of his castle of Dover, by the service as before-
mentioned. At length his descendant, Roger, earl
of March, dying anno 3 Henry VI. Richard, duke of
York, son of Anne his sister, was found to be his next
heir, and accordingly became possessed of this estate.

/g See more of the Badlesmeres, vol. v. of this history, p. 482.
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After which, endeavouring to assert the title of the
house of York to the crown, he was slain in the battle
of Wakefield, anno 39 Henry VI. being then pos=
sessed of the manor of Tong, as was found by the in=
quisition, which, by reason of the confusion of those
times, was not taken till the 3d year of Edward IV.
when the king was found to be his eldest son and
next heir.

Notwithstanding the duke of York is said by the
above-mentioned inquisition to have died possessed of
this manor, yet the year before his death, a long at=
tainder had passed against him and others, with the
forfeiture of all their hereditaments in fee or fee tail;
upon which this manor was granted by Henry VI. to
Thomas Browne, esq. of Beechworth-castle, after=
wards knighted, and made comptroller and treasurer
of his houshold, who soon afterwards obtained a grant
of a fair at this manor, on St. James’s day yearly,
and another for libe